Investigating the Role of Transient Adenosine to Modulate Neurotransmitters through Electrochemical and Fluorescence Imaging Techniques

Kailash Shrestha

Baklauri, Nepal

Master's in Chemistry Southern Illinois University of Edwardsville, 2020

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Department of Chemistry University of Virginia, May 2025

Investigating the role of transient adenosine on different neurotransmitters through electrochemical and fluorescence imaging techniques

Abstract:

Adenosine is a ubiquitously present local neuromodulator in the brain, generated through the enzymatic hydrolysis of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and it plays a dual role as a neuroprotector. It is crucial for maintaining neuronal homeostasis and rapidly responding to cellular stress. Adenosine's regulatory actions are mediated via GPCR receptors, primarily A1 and A2A receptors, which exert opposing effects on neurotransmitter release.

Fast scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) allows for sub-second monitoring of adenosine and its neuromodulatory effects on neurotransmitter release. However, while FSCV offers exceptional temporal resolution, it is limited by its lack of spatial resolution, selectivity, and inability to detect non-electroactive neurotransmitters. This dissertation investigates the integration of FSCV with fluorescence imaging (iGluSnFR3) to enable real-time analysis of adenosine's modulation of neurotransmitters.

Chapter 1 introduces adenosine, fast scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV), and various methods for measuring adenosine levels. It highlights techniques such as micro-dialysis, biosensors, and FSCV, focusing on their ability to capture adenosine dynamics on a rapid time scale. The strengths and limitations of these approaches are analyzed, particularly in the context of fast-acting adenosine. Studies involving electrically stimulated, spontaneously released, and mechanically stimulated adenosine are reviewed.

Chapter 2 focuses on transient adenosine neuromodulation of serotonergic neurons in the dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN), using FSCV. Exogenous adenosine was found to inhibit serotonin release by more than 50% within the first 20 seconds, with recovery occurring alongside adenosine clearance in wild-type (WT) slices. In contrast, this inhibitory effect was limited to the first 10 seconds in A1KO slices. Importantly, A1, A2A, and A3 receptors did not directly contribute to adenosine's inhibitory effect. Instead, adenosine inhibited serotonergic neurons via densely expressed 5HT1A autoreceptors.

Chapter 3 discusses the integration of multiplexing fast scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) and fluorescence imaging (iGluSnFR3) to enable simultaneous monitoring of multiple analytes and their interactions in real time. While FSCV is specifically designed to measure electroactive molecules, the addition of genetically encoded fluorescence sensors enhances the ability to monitor multiple electroactive and non-electroactive molecules simultaneously with improved specificity and spatial resolution. The study revealed an inverse correlation between electrically stimulated dopamine release and glutamate levels in the caudate putamen. Furthermore, adenosine was found to inhibit the release of both dopamine and glutamate, with this inhibition restricted to a 250 µm radius. Pharmacological studies using A1 receptor antagonists confirmed that this inhibitory effect of adenosine is mediated through A1 receptor activation.

Chapter 4 focuses on the application of multiplexing techniques to simultaneously study the effects of transient ischemia on neurotransmitters such as dopamine and glutamate. Deprivation of glucose and oxygen during oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) depletes cytosolic ATP, leading to a rapid rise in extracellular adenosine, which in turn modulates the release of other neurotransmitters. During OGD, both electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate release were significantly reduced, and this suppression persisted for the first 30 minutes of reperfusion. While dopamine levels gradually recovered to baseline over the course of 120 minutes of reperfusion, glutamate levels remained at OGD-induced levels. Using transgenic mice (A2AKO) and pharmacological interventions (NMDA receptor antagonist and DPCPX), the study highlighted the critical neuroprotective roles of A1 and A2A receptors during OGD. Specifically, A1 receptor activation prevents excessive glutamate accumulation in extracellular spaces, thereby reducing excitotoxicity and minimizing neuronal damage. Overall, this dissertation explored adenosine neuromodulation on other neurotransmitters by integrating fast scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) and fluorescence sensors. This integration allowed for simultaneous monitoring of both electroactive and non-electroactive molecules, along with their interactions, in real time with enhanced spatial resolution. Adenosine was shown to modulate dopamine and glutamate via A1 receptors in the striatum, with this effect being localized within a 250 µm range. Similarly, adenosine demonstrated neuromodulation of serotonergic neurons in the midbrain through densely expressed 5HT1A autoreceptors.

The combination of FSCV and fluorescence highlights the potential of multiplexing techniques to study complex neuromodulatory interactions, providing a powerful tool for understanding the dynamics of neurotransmitter systems in both normal and pathological conditions.

Table of Contents

Abstrac	t:		i
Table of	Coi	ntents	iv
Acknow	led	gements	vii
Chapter	1:/	Adenosine modulation	1
1.1	С	Overview of Adenosine	2
1.1	.1	Adenosine regulation in central nervous system	3
1.1	.2	Intra and extracellular Adenosine formation	4
1.1	.3	Adenosine receptors:	5
1.1	.4	Adenosine transporter:	7
1.1	.5	Rapid Adenosine Signaling:	8
1.2	F	unctions of adenosine in the central nervous system	12
1.3	A	denosine detection techniques	14
1.3	.1	Microdialysis	14
1.3	.2	Amperometry	15
1.3	.3	Fast Scan Cyclic Voltammetry (FSCV)	16
1.3	.4	Genetically encoded fluorescence sensor	18
1.4	G	Blutamate	19
1.5	D	opamine	21
1.6	С	Dxygen/Glucose deprivation (OGD)	23
1.7	С	Overview of the dissertation	24
1.8	R	eferences:	26
Chapter	2:1	Transient adenosine modulates serotonin release indirectly in the DRN	33
2.1	Ir	ntroduction	35
2.2	Μ	1ethods	37
2.2	.1	Chemicals	37
2.2	.2	Electrochemistry	38
2.2	.3	Brain slice experiments	38
2.2	.4	Pharmacology experiments	39
2.2	.5	Statistics	40
2.3	R	esults and Discussion	40

2.3.1	Rapid changes in local adenosine modulate DRN serotonergic neurons in WT mice41
2.3.2	2 Transient adenosine suppression of serotonin release is not regulated by A1 receptors 46
2.3.3	The inhibitory effect of adenosine on serotonin release is not mediated by A_3 or A_{2A}
rece	ptors48
2.3.4	A selective 5HT _{1A} antagonist blocks the effects of adenosine on serotonin release50
2.4	Conclusions
2.5	References
Chapter 3 stimulate	3: Multiplexing FSCV and iGluSnFR3 sensors reveals adenosine transiently inhibits ed dopamine and glutamate release59
3.1	Introduction61
3.2	Methods:63
3.2.1	Experimental design:63
3.2.2	2 Sindbis injection and Brain slice preparation:63
3.2.3	8 Electrochemistry and <i>iGluSnFR3.v857</i> sensor imaging:65
3.2.4	Pharmacology:
3.2.5	5 Statistics
3.3	Results
3.4	Discussion73
3.4.1	Multiplexing FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 measurements73
3.4.2	Rapid adenosine inhibits both adenosine and glutamate
3.5	Conclusions77
3.6	References:
Chapter 4 transient	4: Neuroprotective role of adenosine receptors on dopamine and glutamate release during oxygen glucose deprivation (OGD)83
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Methods:
4.2.1	Chemicals:
4.2.2	2 AAV injection and Brain slice preparation:
4.2.3	8 Electrochemistry and <i>iGluSnFR3</i> sensor imaging:
4.2.4	OGD/Reperfusion model
4.2.5	90 Pharmacology:
4.2.6	S Statistics
4.3	Results:

4.3.1	1 OGD effects stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in WT	91		
4.3.2	2 NMDA receptor antagonist on dopamine and glutamate during OGD and reperfus	sion96		
4.3.3	3 Deletion of A _{2A} receptor allows more recovery of glutamate during reperfusion	98		
4.3.4	A A1 antagonist is neuroprotective for both dopamine and glutamate after OGD inst	ult 101		
4.4	Discussion:	106		
4.5	References	111		
Chapter 5:				
Conclusions and Future Direction114				
5.1	Contribution to the field	115		
5.2	Neuromodulatory action of adenosine in real-time using brain slice model	115		
5.3	Future Directions:	118		
5.4	Final Conclusions	121		
5.5	References	123		

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor and mentor, Dr. B. Jill Venton, for your patience, unwavering support, and invaluable guidance throughout the course of my degree. Your insights and encouragement have been instrumental in shaping this work, and I am grateful for the opportunity to learn under your mentorship. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Donald Hunt, Dr. Nathan Swami, and Dr. Andreas Gahlmann, for their support and thoughtful guidance throughout my academic journey. Additionally, I am thankful to my master's advisor in chemistry, Dr. Michael J. Shaw, at Southern Illinois University of Edwardsville (SIUe), who encouraged and supported me understanding the electrochemistry field.

My heartfelt thanks go to Dr. Mallikarjunarao Ganesana, who guided me in mastering flow cell techniques and FSCV. I am deeply appreciative of Dr. Mimi Shin and Dr. Yuanyu Chang, whose efforts in training and guiding me through ex-vivo experiments, as well as their valuable advice on various projects, were crucial to my progress. I also extend my thanks to Dr. Kelly Dunham for her support and assistance during my candidacy preparations.

A special thanks to Dr. Dayana Surendran, Dr. Aaditya Deshpande, Dr. Priyansha Dubey, Eric Donarski, and all of my lab colleagues for their encouragement and motivation, especially during the challenging phases of unsuccessful experiments. Your camaraderie made a significant difference.

To my wife, thank you for your constant patience, understanding, and unwavering encouragement during the most challenging times. Finally, I am deeply indebted to my parents, whose encouragement and pride in my achievements have been a source of strength and inspiration throughout this journey. Your support has truly been my strength.

Chapter 1: Adenosine modulation

The human brain possesses billions of neurons that form intricate connections and facilitate communication through the delicate interplay of regulated neurochemical release. Maintaining physiological levels of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators at the synapse is crucial for relaying and processing information necessary for healthy brain function. Adenosine, one of the most abundantly found non-classical neurotransmitters, modulates the release of other neurotransmitters through its G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs).¹ As a constituent of adenosine triphosphate (ATP)—the "energy currency of life"—adenosine is implicated in various neurological conditions, including Parkinson's disease, depression, and insomnia.¹ Despite extensive research on purinergic signaling, critical questions remain regarding the spatial and temporal dynamics of adenosine release under both physiological and pathological conditions. For instance, multiple neurotransmitters such as serotonin, glutamate, and GABA are associated with Parkinson's disease, highlighting the need to monitor their levels in real time with high spatial resolution.^{2.3} A comprehensive understanding of adenosine's role in the brain requires tools that can simultaneously detect multiple neurotransmitters with high spatial and temporal resolution and molecular precision.

As adenosine is a crucial neuromodulator in the central nervous system, there is significant interest in understanding its dynamics in relation to other neurotransmitter releases. Although considerable progress has been made in developing sensitive techniques for measuring individual neurotransmitters, a notable gap remains in the ability to simultaneously monitor multiple neurotransmitters and their interactions in real time. Current methods for neurotransmitter detection include electrochemistry, enzyme-based biosensors, fluorescence imaging, and microdialysis coupled with high-performance liquid chromatography and mass

Shrestha|2

spectrometry.^{4–7} However, each of these methods has limitations, such as selectivity to electroactive chemicals, larger probe sizes, longer detection times, and low spatial resolution.

This work aims to address these limitations by integrating electrochemical and fluorescent imaging techniques to develop a tool capable of monitoring multiple neurotransmitters and their dynamics with high spatial and temporal resolution.

1.1 Overview of Adenosine

Adenosine is an essential purine nucleotide involved in neurotransmission and neuromodulation. It is one of the most ubiquitous metabolic intermediates, primarily formed through the enzymatic metabolism of adenosine triphosphate (ATP).^{8,9} Adenosine uniquely integrates both excitatory and inhibitory signaling pathways and regulates cellular functions by activating four different adenosine G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs): A1, A2A, A2B, and A3 receptors. Among these, A1 and A2A receptors are most abundantly expressed and have higher affinity, whereas A2B and A3 receptors are less expressed and have lower affinity. This unequal receptor distribution enables adenosine to modulate the release of other neurotransmitters effectively.^{10,11}

Adenosine's neurophysiological actions are largely inhibitory, primarily suppressing the release of excitatory transmitter releases such as dopamine, glutamate, and serotonin.^{6,11,12} Previous methods for adenosine monitoring relied on techniques with slower time resolution, such as microdialysis and biosensors, restricting their ability to capture rapid adenosine signaling in real-time.¹³ Fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) at carbon-fiber microelectrodes overcomes these limitations by leveraging the redox properties of electroactive neurotransmitters, allowing for the detection of rapid extracellular concentration changes with sub-second resolution.¹⁴ Adenosine signaling occurs through spontaneous release, lasting 2-3 seconds, and mechanically stimulated release, persisting for 25-30 seconds.^{6,15}

Adenosine is an endogenous neuromodulator and a sensitive indicator of ischemic insults, exhibiting neuroprotective effects through the activation of its GPCR receptors..^{16,17} During ischemic events, extracellular adenosine levels increase dramatically—by up to 100-fold—via the enzymatic hydrolysis of ATP, reflecting a corresponding depletion of ATP levels.^{18,19} Hippocampal neurons and medium spiny neurons within the striatum are particularly vulnerable to ischemic damage. Adenosine acts as a retaliatory metabolite, modulating neuronal activity through GPCR receptors, with A1 receptors being the most abundantly expressed. Activation of A1 receptors inhibits calcium-dependent neurotransmitter release, including glutamate, dopamine, and serotonin.^{17,20} A1 receptor activation counteracts excessive glutamate release in the extracellular space and limit tissue damage due to excitotoxicity. Adenosine antagonists, such as theophylline, have been shown to exacerbate hippocampal CA1 damage following ischemia..²¹

In contrast to A1 receptors, activation of A2A receptors promotes excitatory functions, stimulating neurotransmitter release. Pharmacological studies have demonstrated that A2A receptor antagonists, such as 9-chloro-2-(2-furanyl)-[1,2,4]triazolo[1,5-c]quinazolin-5-amine (CGS15943) and 8-(3-chlorostyryl)caffeine (CSC), provide neuroprotective effects against forebrain ischemia, emphasizing their therapeutic potential.^{22,23}

1.1.1 Adenosine regulation in central nervous system

Adenosine is a non-classical neurotransmitter formed through the enzymatic hydrolysis of ATP and released into the extracellular space via vesicular exocytosis and cell membrane fusion.²⁴ Its physiological effects are largely determined by its extracellular concentration. Additionally, ATP can be metabolized by ecto-nucleotidase enzymes at the outer cell membrane, leading to adenosine formation in the extracellular environment.²⁵ Adenosine plays a multifaceted role in the brain, acting as a neurotransmitter, neuromodulator, neuroprotector, and regulator of cerebral blood flow. It exerts its effects through four G-protein-coupled receptors (A1, A2A, A2B, and A3), which modulate secondary messenger levels, as well as calcium and potassium ion channel activity. The spatial distribution and binding affinities of these receptors enable complex adenosine signaling in the brain, with A1 and A2A receptors predominantly expressed at pre- and postsynaptic synapses.^{1,11}

Extensive research has focused on adenosine receptors, metabolic pathways, and membrane transporters to better understand adenosine signaling. Adenosine-targeted treatments for Parkinson's disease, chronic pain, cerebral ischemia, and neuroprotection involve adenosine receptor agonists and antagonists. Notably, the A1 receptor-mediated inhibitory role of endogenous adenosine has demonstrated neuroprotective effects in in-vivo and brain slice studies, particularly in hypoxia/ischemia models.^{22,26,27}

1.1.2 Intra and extracellular Adenosine formation

Adenosine is generated through multiple pathways, both intracellularly and extracellularly. Intracellularly, it arises primarily from the enzymatic hydrolysis of ATP and, to a lesser extent, via the S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) pathway. Once synthesized, adenosine is transported across the cell membrane through bidirectional equilibrative nucleotide transporters (ENTs), facilitating its movement between intracellular and extracellular spaces.^{8,9}

In the extracellular space, adenosine is primarily derived from ATP metabolism, catalyzed by ectoenzymes on the cell membrane. Cytosolic ATP can be packaged into vesicles by the vesicular nucleotide transporter (VNUT) and released via exocytosis in response to action potentials. Additionally, membrane channels such as pannexin and connexin contribute to ATP release.^{28–30}

Once in the extracellular space, ATP undergoes rapid enzymatic hydrolysis by ectonucleotidases, particularly CD39 and CD73, converting it into adenosine. The basal extracellular adenosine concentration typically ranges from 100 to 200 nM, while its intracellular concentration is approximately 50 nM.^{31,32}

Extracellular adenosine binds to adenosine receptors located on pre- and post-synaptic neurons, modulating neuronal activity under both physiological and pathological conditions. When extracellular adenosine levels rise, it can diffuse out of the synaptic cleft. Adenosine inactivation occurs through cellular uptake via equilibrative nucleotide transporters (ENTs), followed by its conversion to AMP by adenosine kinase or deamination to inosine by adenosine deaminase.^{33,34}



Figure 1: Adenosine Formation Scheme: Intracellular adenosine is produced through enzymatic metabolism of AMP and SAH present in the cytoplasm. ATP released at the extracellular spaces undergoes hydrolysis in the presence of ectonucleotidase enzymes (CD39 and CD73) forming adenosine at the extracellular space.

1.1.3 Adenosine receptors:

Extracellular adenosine mediates intercellular signaling via G-protein-coupled adenosine

receptors (P1 purinoreceptors), subclassified as A1, A2A, A2B, and A3.^{10,32,35} These receptors,

located pre- and post-synaptically, regulate neuronal activity through pathways involving

adenylate cyclase (AC), phospholipase C (PLC), and G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels (GIRK). While adenosine receptors are widely expressed in the brain, their distribution and binding affinities vary, influencing both physiological and pathological processes.³⁶

Adenosine primarily modulates neurotransmission by engaging the high-affinity A1 (70 nM) and A2A (150 nM) receptors, which are abundant and crucial for neuromodulation. In contrast, A2B (5100 nM) and A3 (6500 nM) receptors require higher adenosine concentrations for activation. Functionally, A1 and A3 receptors are inhibitory, while A2A and A2B receptors are excitatory, modulating adenylate cyclase activity via Gi or Gs proteins.^{36,37}

Additionally, GPCR dimerization allows adenosine receptors to interact with other GPCRs, forming heterodimers like A1/A2A, A2A/D2, and A2A/mGlu5, which contribute to receptor crosstalk in normal and pathological conditions.^{38–42}

1.1.3.1 A1 receptors:

Adenosine A1 receptors are highly expressed in the hippocampus, cerebellum, and cerebral cortex, making them the most abundant adenosine receptors in the brain.^{27,36} These transmembrane GPCRs are located pre-synaptically, post-synaptically, and non-synaptically, where they modulate neuronal activity.

Upon activation, A1 receptors couple with Gi/o proteins, leading to adenylate cyclase inhibition, reduced cyclic AMP (cAMP) levels, and neuronal hyperpolarization.⁴³ This suppresses excitatory signaling, reducing glutamate release and excitotoxicity. A1 receptors also regulate the release of dopamine, serotonin, GABA, glutamate, and acetylcholine, playing a crucial role in neuroprotection and synaptic modulation.^{44,45}

1.1.3.2 A2A receptors:

Adenosine A2A receptors are densely expressed in the olfactory bulb and striatum, regions critical for motor control. These G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are located at the

synaptic membrane and, when activated, stimulate adenylate cyclase, increasing cAMP levels and activating protein kinase A (PKA). This cascade facilitates synaptic neurotransmitter release, particularly influencing dopaminergic signaling involved in motor function and reward pathways.^{37,38,46}

Dysregulation of A2A receptors disrupts neuro-glial crosstalk and is implicated in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and Parkinson's disease.^{46,47}



Figure 2: Scheme of adenosine formation and adenosine receptors role during pain⁴⁸

1.1.3.3 A2B and A3 receptors:

These receptors are low-affinity GPCRs expressed in the brain and are activated by micromolar concentrations of adenosine.⁴⁹ Although fewer studies have focused on these receptors, they are known to be involved in anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective responses.

1.1.4 Adenosine transporter:

Maintaining balanced extracellular adenosine levels is essential for normal physiological function. These concentrations are primarily regulated by nucleoside transporters located on the cell membrane, which allow adenosine to move in and out of the cell. There are two main types of nucleoside transporters:

- Concentrative Nucleoside Transporters (CNTs): These are active transporters that rely on the transmembrane sodium gradient to facilitate the influx of nucleosides into cells.⁵⁰
- 2. Equilibrative Nucleoside Transporters (ENTs): These operate by passive diffusion, allowing the movement of nucleosides in both directions according to the concentration gradient. ENTs play a dominant role in managing extracellular adenosine concentrations. Inhibition of ENTs has been shown to decrease stimulated adenosine levels in the extracellular space by about 40%, underscoring their crucial role in extracellular adenosine regulation.⁵⁰

1.1.5 Rapid Adenosine Signaling:

Adenosine consistently present both intracellularly and extracellularly, playing a crucial role as a neuromodulator and neuroprotector in the central nervous system (CNS).³³ Under normal physiological conditions, adenosine levels are maintained at a few hundred nanomolar. However, during cellular distress events such as hypoxia or cell damage, adenosine concentrations can rise significantly, acting to suppress excitatory neurotransmitter release and prevent excessive neuronal activity.^{20,27}

Unlike classical neurotransmitters, which are released in direct response to action potentials, adenosine functions primarily as a neuromodulator. Once neurotransmitters are released into the synaptic cleft, they bind to G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) on pre- or post-synaptic neurons, triggering a cascade of intracellular reactions that propagate signals, encode memories, or initiate movement. In contrast, adenosine modulates neurotransmission by either enhancing or dampening the signal, thus fine-tuning neuronal communication. Adenosine signaling can be categorized into three different types of rapid adenosine release, as described below.

1.1.5.1 Electrical Stimulation of Adenosine:

Our lab was the first to develop a method for directly detecting electrically stimulated adenosine release in vivo using carbon-fiber microelectrodes combined with fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV).¹⁴ We characterized electrically evoked adenosine release across different brain regions, including the dorsal caudate-putamen, nucleus accumbens, and hippocampus (CA1 region), through both in-vivo and brain slice experiments.^{6,14}

A short train of electrical stimulation (60 pulses at 60 Hz) applied to the substantia nigra induced a 1 µM adenosine release in the caudate-putamen within 2–3 seconds, with the effect persisting for approximately 15 seconds.⁵¹ Pharmacological studies using N6-cyclopentyladenosine (CPA, an A1 receptor agonist) and 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (DPCPX, an A1 receptor antagonist) confirmed that A1 receptors regulate electrically stimulated adenosine release.^{51–53} Specifically, CPA inhibited evoked adenosine release, while DPCPX reversed this effect, highlighting the key role of A1 receptors in adenosine modulation within the caudate putamen.

Mechanistically, electrically stimulated adenosine release is activity-dependent, originating from the intracellular breakdown of ATP, with its release mediated by bi-directional nucleoside transporters.⁵⁴ The regional expression of A1 receptors influences the magnitude of evoked adenosine release, contributing to variations in adenosine levels across different brain regions.

1.1.5.2 Spontaneous Transient Adenosine:

The Zylka group was the first to discover spontaneous adenosine release in spinal cord slices using the FSCV technique.⁵⁵ Our lab further extensively characterized spontaneous transient adenosine signaling in the brain.^{6,14,56,57} The transient adenosine concentration was 0.1 μ M and lasted only 2-3 seconds, suggesting rapid enzymatic formation and clearance of adenosine in the extracellular space.^{6,56,58} These findings indicate that adenosine may play a local and rapid neuromodulatory role.

Calcium ions (Ca²⁺) also play a significant role in the release of spontaneous adenosine.⁵⁹ In our lab, pharmacological studies demonstrated that these pulsatile adenosine releases are modulated by A1 receptors and depend on ecto-nucleotidase membrane enzymes (CD39 and CD73), which metabolize ATP to adenosine.⁶⁰ Furthermore, studies have shown that other neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, and its receptors are crucial in regulating spontaneous adenosine release.⁶¹ For instance, NMDA receptor antagonists increased the frequency and concentration of spontaneous adenosine release, while GABAB receptor activation reversed these effects.⁵⁷



Figure 3: Rapid adenosine signaling examples in WT brain slice. Example FSCV pseudo-color plot of (A) spontaneous adenosine release and (B) mechanically stimulated adenosine in hippocampus CA1 region. Each spike in the concentration vs time trace (above color plot) corresponds to spontaneous adenosine release, green/purple spots in color plot.¹⁵

Shrestha | 11

1.1.5.3 Mechanically stimulated adenosine

Mechanically stimulated adenosine is produced through the shear stress applied by lowering a capillary pipette or working electrode into the tissue. The shear stress generated by the movement of the electrode induces minor tissue damage, resulting in the release of adenosine.^{15,62} In the rat prefrontal cortex, mechanically stimulated adenosine generates a relatively larger concentration (3.4 μ M in vivo, 0.8 μ M in brain slices) compared to spontaneous adenosine (0.19 μ M) and persists for about 30-40 seconds before being cleared from the system (Figure 3).¹⁵

Studies using tetrodotoxin (TTX) and calcium chelation with EDTA, which reduced adenosine levels, indicate that mechanically stimulated adenosine release is activity-dependent and primarily formed through ATP metabolism.^{24,63} However, the precise mechanism behind mechanically stimulated adenosine release, as well as its effects on receptors and transporters, remains unclear. This type of adenosine release can be mimicked by puffing adenosine next to the working electrode, where it lasts around 40 seconds after puffing (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Adenosine puffing in dorsal raphe. Adenosine was puffed 20 seconds before electrically stimulating serotonin in WT and monitored with CFMEs using FSCV technique. Background subtracted adenosine CV inset in color plot with both primary and secondary adenosine oxidation peaks.

Our lab has demonstrated the inhibitory effects of mechanically stimulated adenosine on dopamine, serotonin, and glutamate in the caudate putamen.^{24,56,57} However, the concentration of mechanically stimulated adenosine does not appear to be influenced by ATP degradation enzymes such as CD39 and CD73.⁶⁰

1.2 Functions of adenosine in the central nervous system

Adenosine primarily acts as inhibitory neuromodulator regulating the sleep-wake cycle, cerebral blood flow, and inhibiting the release of excitatory neurotransmitters such as dopamine and glutamate to prevent excitotoxicity.^{25,45} Extracellular adenosine binds to A2A receptors on blood vessels, causing vasodilation and increasing the flow of oxygenated blood to the brain. Studies have also shown that adenosine receptors can form dimers with other receptors, such as dopamine receptors.^{38,42} Therefore, to understand the role of adenosine in neuromodulation, it is essential to analyze the interactions between multiple neurotransmitters.

Adenosine provides neuroprotective effects by activating A1 receptors, which are expressed presynaptically or by hyperpolarizing postsynaptic neurons. This leads to the inhibition of adenylate cyclase and a reduction in cAMP formation, ultimately decreasing neurotransmitter release at the synapse. Adenosine significantly influences the release of other neurotransmitters, particularly through its A1 and A2A receptors.^{34,64} Some of the neuromodulatory and neuroprotective effects of adenosine are as follows:

• **Glutamate Release**: Adenosine A1 receptors inhibit excitatory glutamate release in regions such as the hippocampus and nucleus accumbens. During ethanol exposure, increased extracellular adenosine inhibits glutamate release via A1 receptors. Adenosine also exerts a neuroprotective response to transient ischemia by inhibiting glutamate release in the hippocampus via A1 receptors.^{39,59}

- Dopamine Release: In the striatum, A1 receptors inhibit the release of dopamine as well as glutamate. Our lab demonstrated that transient adenosine decreased dopamine levels by more than 50% in the caudate-putamen. Conversely, A2A receptors stimulate dopamine release, which plays a key role in regulating motor control and reward pathways.^{24,42,54}
- Adenylate Cyclase Pathway: This pathway is a significant signaling mechanism for GPCR-mediated transduction, leading to diverse downstream effects within the cell. Depending on the receptor it binds to, adenosine can exert both inhibitory and excitatory effects by modulating adenylate cyclase. Binding to A1 receptors slows adenylate cyclase activity, reducing cAMP formation and decreasing PKA activity.^{65,66} In contrast, binding to A2A receptors activates adenylate cyclase, increases cAMP production, and enhances PKA activity, resulting in more robust signal propagation.^{22,46}
- Ion Channel Modulation: When adenosine binds to A1 receptors, it activates potassium channels, which hyperpolarize neurons and prevent them from firing. On the other hand, activation of A2A receptors increases calcium influx through voltage-gated calcium channels, leading to neuronal firing.⁶⁷
- Ischemia and Hypoxia: Adenosine exhibits neuroprotective functions by inhibiting or slowing the release of other excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate. Under pathological conditions such as hypoxia or ischemia, adenosine levels rise to protect the brain from further tissue damage by inhibiting glutamate release via A1 receptors.^{18,20}
- Inflammation: Adenosine modulates immune cell activity, reducing inflammation and protecting against inflammatory damage in the brain.^{68,69}

- Parkinson's Disease: In the striatum, A2A receptors interact with dopamine receptors.
 Their activation can counteract the dopamine deficit seen in Parkinson's disease,
 offering potential therapeutic benefits.^{38,46}
- Crosstalk with Other Systems: Adenosine receptors are G-protein-coupled receptors that can form both homomers and heteromers with other GPCRs through receptorreceptor interactions. Known heteromeric complexes include A2A/D2 and A1/mGlu5 receptors, which involve dopamine and glutamate signaling, respectively.^{38,42}

1.3 Adenosine detection techniques

1.3.1 Microdialysis

Detecting tissue adenosine concentrations accurately is crucial for understanding its role in both normal and pathological conditions. Over the years, extracellular adenosine has been studied using biochemical and physiological methods, with precautions taken to minimize postmortem ATP breakdown and to rapidly inactivate enzymes responsible for adenosine production and degradation. In early studies, radiolabeled adenine was used to trace cytosolic ATP.⁵³ Released radiolabeled adenosine, along with other ATP-derived metabolites, was then monitored using HPLC techniques. The current HPLC method is coupled with a microdialysis probe (~300 µm in diameter) that collects samples every 5-10 minutes.^{70,71} The microdialysis probe contains a semi-permeable membrane that allows the exchange of cerebrospinal fluid with buffer, and the collected fluid samples are analyzed using HPLC coupled with detection techniques like mass spectrometry and capillary electrophoresis (Figure 5). While this method can analyze and quantify multiple analytes with great precision, it lacks sufficient spatiotemporal resolution to monitor the fast dynamics of adenosine in extracellular space. Additionally, the large size of the probe increases the likelihood of tissue damage, leading to inflammation around the probe, which can induce further neurotransmitter release.⁷² For this reason, microdialysis sample collection is typically performed 24 hours after probe implantation.



Figure 5: Microdialysis coupled with HPLC/MS to collect and measure neurotransmitter and other metabolites. Probe collect sample through semi-permeable membrane and transfer it to external detector to identify and measure absolute concentration however with poor spatial and slow temporal resolution. (From Sombers lab website)

1.3.2 Amperometry

Electrochemical techniques, which take advantage of the redox properties of analytes like adenosine, provide better spatiotemporal resolution and allow real-time measurement of current proportional to analyte concentration at the electrode surface. In an amperometry biosensor, enzymes such as adenosine deaminase, nucleotide phosphorylase, and xanthine oxidase are immobilized at the electrode surface, where they break down adenosine to release hydrogen peroxide, an electroactive analyte (Figure 6).^{13,20,73} The resulting hydrogen peroxide is detected at the electrode surface using amperometry. The enzyme coating improves selectivity for the target analytes, enabling the detection of non-electroactive analytes like glutamate. However, the electrode size and slow electron transfer limit the temporal resolution of this biosensor.¹³



Figure 6: First enzymatic biosensor to record adenosine in real time using modified microdialysis probe with cascade of enzymes that metabolizes adenosine to produce H2O2 and detected by platinum electrodes. (a) enzyme cascade coated on the surface of (b) microdialysis probe with Pt electrode inside it. (c) Schematic diagram of modified electrode placement with respect to Pt electrode to detect adenosine (d) real-time i v t trace of adenosine detection¹³

1.3.3 Fast Scan Cyclic Voltammetry (FSCV)

Fast Scan Cyclic Voltammetry (FSCV) is another electrochemical technique used to monitor rapidly release and uptake of electroactive neurotransmitter such as dopamine, serotonin and adenosine.⁷⁴ It offers a better spatiotemporal resolution than microdialysis in the range of milliseconds.⁷⁵ This background subtraction technique employs a small carbon fiber (7 µm diameter) probe to detect rapid and spontaneous adenosine release, both in vivo and in vitro, as demonstrated by our lab.⁷⁴ The smaller diameter of the fiber reduces tissue damage and inflammation, making it less toxic to tissue. Carbon fibers surface contains oxide groups that enable adsorption for cationic neurotransmitters.⁷⁶

The rapid change in potential at the carbon fiber and records resulting oxidation and reduction current from neurotransmitters. A triangular waveform (-0.4 V; +1.45 V; 400 V/s; 10 Hz) versus a Ag/AgCl reference electrode is applied at the carbon fiber to monitor adenosine,

and the fast scan rate allows sub-second temporal resolution (Figure 7A).²⁴ However, rapid potential changes at the carbon fiber can generate significant background charging currents due to double layer charging at the electrodes that overwhelm the small faradic signal from adenosine (Figure 7B and 7C).^{77,78} Therefore, background subtraction is required to obtain a signature cyclic voltammogram specific to the analyte Figure 7D.⁷⁴



Figure 7: Example of adenosine detection via FSCV. (A) Adenosine waveform: A triangular waveform is applied to a carbon fiber microelectrode (CFME), starting at a holding potential of -0.4 V, increasing to a switching potential of +1.45 V, and returning to -0.4 V. This scan is performed at a rate of 400 V/s with a frequency of 10 Hz. (B) False color plot: A conventional false color plot for 1 μ M adenosine in PBS (pH 7.4) with oxidation peaks. Green represents the primary oxidation peak, purple indicates the secondary oxidation peak, and brown indicates the background charging current. The color intensity index is displayed in the upper-right corner of the plot. (C) Cyclic voltammogram; The black trace represents the background charging current in the PBS buffer, while the red trace shows 1 μ M adenosine in the PBS buffer. The top inset highlights a small difference between the adenosine and buffer traces. (D) Background-Subtracted Cyclic Voltammogram: The signature cyclic voltammogram of adenosine shows a primary oxidation peak at +1.45 V and a secondary oxidation peak at +1.10 V after subtracting the background current.

Adenosine is an electroactive molecule that undergoes a series of three oxidation steps, each involving two electron transfers, as outlined in Scheme 1. The primary oxidation of adenosine involves two irreversible electron transfers, forming product II, which is observed at +1.45 V in the false color plot. The secondary oxidation, transitioning product II to product III, similarly involves two irreversible electron transfers, detected at +1.1 V in the false color plot.⁷⁹ Finally, the tertiary oxidation of product III to product IV involves two reversible electron transfers. However, FSCV using carbon fiber microelectrodes (CFMEs) can only detect the first two irreversible oxidation products and are unable to measure the tertiary oxidation product due to potential limit using carbon fiber. As a result, the background-subtracted cyclic voltammogram for adenosine contains two distinct oxidation peaks, as shown in Figure 7D.



Scheme 1: Adenosine oxidation mechanism. Adenosine undergoes a series of three oxidation steps, with each step involving a two-electron transfer. The first two oxidation steps are irreversible and the final oxidation step, however, is reversible.

One drawback of FSCV is analyte selectivity compounds with similar structures or that oxidize/reduce at the same potential can produce similar cyclic voltammograms, making them difficult to distinguish. Additionally, FSCV can only measure rapid changes in analyte concentration. not basal levels.^{74,76}

1.3.4 Genetically encoded fluorescence sensor

Genetically encoded sensors have become popular due to their better selectivity and high spatial and temporal resolution. Recently, the Yulong Li lab developed a G-protein-coupled receptor-based adenosine (GRAB) fluorescence sensor to monitor rapid changes in

Shrestha | 19

extracellular adenosine concentration.⁸⁰ Once it binds endogenous adenosine, it undergoes conformational changes emitting fluorescent change. They were able to detect electrically stimulated adenosine release in prefrontal cortex as well as hippocampal CA1 region with varying affinities ranging from nanomolar to micromolar range. Although, these genetically encoded sensors can specifically monitor neurotransmitter dynamic changes at the synapse, it cannot quantify concentration at the synapse and prone to photobleaching if exposed for long time recordings.

1.4 Glutamate

Glutamate is the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, playing a crucial role in cognition, memory, learning, synaptic transmission, plasticity, and neurodegenerative disorders.^{2,7,81,82} Glutamate receptors are widely distributed in both neurons and glial cells. Although glutamate concentrations are high in plasma blood, the blood-brain barrier (BBB) prevents its direct entry into the brain.⁸¹ Instead, astrocytes play a key role in glutamate synthesis, storing it in synaptic vesicles within presynaptic glutamatergic neurons. Each vesicle contains over a thousand glutamate molecules, which are released into the synapse through a Ca²⁺-dependent mechanism upon neuronal activation. Once in the synaptic cleft, glutamate binds to distinct receptor families on postsynaptic membranes, mediating excitatory signaling.³⁹

Glutamate pathways are interconnected with other neurotransmitter systems, including dopaminergic and GABAergic pathways, playing a key role in modulating neurotransmission.^{5,40,83} Glutamate levels are 1,000 times higher than those of other neurotransmitters and are tightly regulated through an efficient reuptake system. Maintaining glutamatergic neurotransmission is an energy-intensive process, requiring multiple regulatory mechanisms and high glucose and oxygen consumption.⁸¹ Once released into the extracellular space, glutamate acts on ionotropic and metabotropic receptors to mediate excitatory signaling. After signal transmission, glutamate transporters on postsynaptic neurons and glial cells clear

glutamate from the synaptic cleft, resetting the system for subsequent action potential generation. Disruptions in this regulatory system can lead to excess glutamate release by 55-fold, causing hyperexcitability in postsynaptic neurons and, in severe cases, excitotoxicity and cell death (cytotoxicity).⁸⁴ To prevent excessive tonic receptor activation, extracellular concentrations of glutamate and other excitatory amino acids must be tightly controlled. Dysfunction in glutamatergic neurons has been implicated in neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease and epilepsy.^{2,85} A deeper understanding of glutamate's role in the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric disorders could lead to more rational approaches to drug development.

Electrophysiological recording, fluorescent glutamate nanosensors, microdialysis and amperometric methods are some of the analytical techniques to monitor dopamine release in brain slice.



Figure 8: Glutamate synthesis and its movement in the brain. Glial cells release glutamine in extracellular spaces. Presynaptic neurons uptake glutamine to convert it into glutamate and package into synaptic vesicles. Excess glutamate molecules are recycled into neurons through astrocytes.⁸¹

Shrestha | 21

1.5 Dopamine

Dopamine constitutes approximately 80% of catecholamine in the mammalian brain and serves as a key neurotransmitter involved in neuromodulations such as motor control, locomotion, cognition, emotion and positive reinforcement.⁸⁶ Dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and substantia nigra (SN), located in the ventral midbrain regions, are primary source of dopamine in the brain. Major dopaminergic pathways include the nigrostriatal, mesolimbic and mesocortical pathways each projected project to dorsal striatum, nucleus accumbens and cortex respectively.^{86–88}

Dopamine is synthesized, packaged into vesicles by vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2), and released into the synaptic cleft upon presynaptic neuron activation.⁸⁶ It then interacts with five dopamine receptors (D1-D5), classified into two families: D1 like receptors (D1R and D5R) and D2 like receptors (D2R, D3R and D4R).⁸⁶ These G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) regulate adenylyl cyclase and cAMP levels, either excitatory or inhibitory, depending on the receptor type.⁸⁹ As key pharmacological targets, they play a crucial role in treating several neurological and psychiatric disorders. Excess dopamine in the synapse is primarily cleared via high-affinity dopamine transporters (DAT) through reuptake, aided by monoamine transporters with lower efficacy.⁸⁶



Figure 9: Dopamine synthesis and signaling (a) Synthesis route of dopamine from tyrosine, packaged and transportation to synaptic vesicle via VMAT2 transporter (b) Action potential triggers dopamine release during phasic transmission resulting huge surge of dopamine in extracellular spaces. Whereas tonic neurotransmission is independent of action potential and regulates the basal level of dopamine in extracellular spaces⁸⁸

Phasic and tonic signaling regulates extracellular dopamine concentrations. Phasic signaling occurs when presynaptic neurons release dopamine in response to action potentials, leading to rapid fluctuations in extracellular dopamine levels, typically in the micromolar range. This transient dopamine surge activates D1 receptors (D1Rs), promoting synaptic plasticity and facilitating reward-based learning by altering neuronal excitability. ^{86,88} Tonic signaling, in contrast, is regulated by ongoing neuronal activity along with dopamine reuptake and clearance mechanisms. It maintains basal dopamine levels in the nanomolar range, selectively activating D2 receptors (D2Rs) without reaching concentrations high enough to stimulate D1Rs.

Dopaminergic neurons project widely throughout the brain, supporting functions such as motor control, learning, rewards, memory formations. Studies have shown interactions between dopaminergic system and other neurotransmitter systems, including glutamatergic, GABAergic and serotonergic pathways, through receptor-receptor interactions.^{38,39,41} Examples of receptor

heteromerization include NMDA-D1R in rat hippocampus, A1-D1R in fibroblast cells, A2A-D2 in the basal ganglia, which enables cross-talk between signaling pathways via G-protein interactions, contributing to complex neuromodulation.^{38–40,42}

The widespread distribution of dopaminergic neurons also contributes to a broad spectrum of neurological and psychiatric disorders associated with dopamine dysfunction or degeneration. Parkinson's disease (PD), schizophrenia, and addiction are among the key conditions linked to dysregulated dopaminergic neurotransmission. Due to its critical role in brain function, the dopaminergic system has been a major focus of research. Pharmacological interventions targeting dopamine receptors, synthesis, and reuptake are widely used in the clinical treatment of these disorders, aiming to restore dopamine balance and mitigate symptoms.

1.6 Oxygen/Glucose deprivation (OGD)

The central nervous system (CNS) heavily relies on continuous supply of oxygen and glucose from the blood to function properly and needed for neuronal activity. During transient ischemia, blood flow is temporarily occluded and resolved before causing any permanent damage to the brain.^{84,90} Compared to other cell types present in CNS, neurons are particularly prone towards ischemia and rapidly compromise nerve cell functions.⁸² Ischemic insult drastically reduces ATP formation within a minute of oxygen and glucose deprivation, and leads to an imbalance of neuronal transmembrane gradient, thus impairing neuronal signaling.⁹¹

Additionally, anoxic depolarization at presynaptic terminals leads to neurotransmitter release such as glutamate. Excitatory neurotransmitter clearance from the synaptic cleft is an active process.⁹¹ Due to inadequate ATP supply, clearing process is hindered, thus neurotransmitter concentration is elevated during ischemic condition and results excitotoxicity. Removal of extracellular magnesium from the NMDA receptors substantially increase conductance, consequently, increases intracellular calcium concentration. This leads to

activation of several calcium-dependent processes such as excess neurotransmitter release, free radical formation, and the initiation of cell death process including apoptosis and autophagy.^{82,92}

The main pathogenesis of ischemic insult induces significant oxidative injury to surrounding neurons, which can be mimicked in by an oxygen and glucose deprivation (OGD) procedure applied to brain slices. The cellular consequences of altered oxygen and glucose supply in rodent are widely studied and simulated using OGD model.⁹³ Studies show that hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells and Purkinje cells followed by striatal medium-sized neurons are most highly susceptible to brief ischemic injury.^{92,93} During transient ischemic injury, glutamate is significantly affected and excessively released from presynaptic neurons. Similarly, extracellular adenosine level rises due to net breakdown of intracellular ATP and depresses excitatory synaptic transmission.⁹² Although OGD studies focuses on glutamatergic signaling, monoamine neurotransmitters such as dopamine and serotonin are also released immediately after the onset of ischemic conditions.¹⁹

1.7 Overview of the dissertation

FSCV is a powerful method where potential is applied at CFMEs to investigate electroactive neurotransmitters like adenosine, dopamine, and serotonin in real-time. Although FSCV has high temporal resolution, its limitations include poor spatial resolution and selectivity, restricting its scope to electroactive molecules. This dissertation bridges this gap by combining FSCV with fluorescence techniques, enabling simultaneous monitoring of electroactive and nonelectroactive neurotransmitters. This approach provides insights into adenosine's neuromodulatory role, neurotransmitter interactions, and regional effects.

In Chapter 2, we investigated the neuromodulatory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin release in the dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN), rapid adenosine (50 pmol) significantly inhibited serotonin release within 20 seconds, with recovery once adenosine cleared from the

slice. By utilizing transgenic mice (A1KO, A2AKO) and pharmacological treatments (DPCPX, MRS 1220), it was determined that adenosine receptors A1 and A3 were not directly involved. Instead, 5-HT1A autoreceptors play a critical role regulating serotonergic neurons, as revealed using the antagonist (S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride. This highlights an indirect pathway for adenosine's regulation of serotonin.

In Chapter 3, we multiplexed FSCV and genetically encoded fluorescence sensors (e.g., iGluSnFR3.v857) to simultaneously measure adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate in real-time. Adenosine showed inhibitory actions on both dopamine and glutamate in the caudate putamen, with an inhibitory range of 250 μ m. This effect was confirmed as A1 receptor-mediated, as shown by the reversal with the antagonist DPCPX. These findings emphasize adenosine's spatial and temporal neuromodulatory profiles.

In Chapter 4, transient oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) insult and subsequent reperfusion caused significant reductions in dopamine and glutamate release over time. Mixed recovery responses were observed during extended reperfusion periods (up to 120 minutes). Through transgenic models (A2AKO) and pharmacological studies (NMDA receptor antagonist, DPCPX), adenosine receptors A1 and A2A were shown to play neuroprotective roles during OGD and reperfusion, demonstrating their therapeutic potential in ischemic pathology.

Overall, this dissertation integrated FSCV and fluorescence techniques to uncover adenosine's neuromodulatory interactions with neurotransmitters under both normal and pathological conditions, such as ischemia. These innovative methodologies open new scope for understanding neurotransmitter interactions in real-time during diseases like Parkinson's, paving the way for translational neuroprotective strategies.

1.8 References:

- (1) Andrea, P.; Katia, B.; Gessi, S.; Merighi, S. *The Adenosine Receptors*; 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90808-3.
- (2) Blandini, F.; Porter, R. H.; Greenamyre, J. T. Glutamate and Parkinson's Disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **1996**, *12* (1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02740748.
- (3) Cheng, H.-C.; Ulane, C. M.; Burke, R. E. Clinical Progression in Parkinson Disease and the Neurobiology of Axons. *Ann. Neurol.* **2010**, *67* (6), 715–725. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21995.
- (4) Bergman, J.; Mellander, L.; Wang, Y.; Cans, A.-S. Co-Detection of Dopamine and Glucose with High Temporal Resolution. *Catalysts* **2018**, *8* (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8010034.
- (5) Remblier, C.; Pontcharraud, R.; Tallineau, C.; Piriou, A.; Huguet, F. Lactic Acid-Induced Increase of Extracellular Dopamine Measured by Microdialysis in Rat Striatum: Evidence for Glutamatergic and Oxidative Mechanisms. *Brain Res.* **1999**, *837* (1), 22–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01699-6.
- (6) Nguyen, M. D.; Lee, S. T.; Ross, A. E.; Ryals, M.; Choudhry, V. I.; Venton, B. J. Characterization of Spontaneous, Transient Adenosine Release in the Caudate-Putamen and Prefrontal Cortex. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, 9 (1), e87165. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087165.
- (7) Aggarwal, A.; Liu, R.; Chen, Y.; Ralowicz, A. J.; Bergerson, S. J.; Tomaska, F.; Mohar, B.; Hanson, T. L.; Hasseman, J. P.; Reep, D.; Tsegaye, G.; Yao, P.; Ji, X.; Kloos, M.; Walpita, D.; Patel, R.; Mohr, M. A.; Tillberg, P. W.; Looger, L. L.; Marvin, J. S.; Hoppa, M. B.; Konnerth, A.; Kleinfeld, D.; Schreiter, E. R.; Podgorski, K. Glutamate Indicators with Improved Activation Kinetics and Localization for Imaging Synaptic Transmission. *Nat. Methods* **2023**, *20* (6), 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-023-01863-6.
- (8) Augusto, E.; Matos, M.; Sévigny, J.; El-Tayeb, A.; Bynoe, M. S.; Müller, C. E.; Cunha, R. a; Chen, J.-F. Ecto-5'-Nucleotidase (CD73)-Mediated Formation of Adenosine Is Critical for the Striatal Adenosine A2A Receptor Functions. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 2013, 33 (28), 11390–11399. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5817-12.2013.
- (9) Lloyd, H. G. E.; Lindström, K.; Fredholm, B. B. Intracellular Formation and Release of Adenosine from Rat Hippocampal Slices Evoked by Electrical Stimulation or Energy Depletion. *Neurochem. Int.* **1993**, *23* (2), 173–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-0186(93)90095-M.
- (10) Cunha, R. A.; Vizi, E. S.; Ribeiro, J. A.; Sebastião, A. M. Preferential Release of ATP and Its Extracellular Catabolism as a Source of Adenosine upon High- but Not Low-Frequency Stimulation of Rat Hippocampal Slices. *J. Neurochem.* **1996**, *67* (5), 2180–2187. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67052180.x.
- (11) Burnstock, G.; Fredholm, B. B.; Verkhratsky, A. Adenosine and ATP Receptors in the Brain.; 2011; Vol. 11. https://doi.org/10.2174/156802611795347627.
- (12) Adamah-Biassi, E. B.; Almonte, A. G.; Blagovechtchenski, E.; Grinevich, V. P.; Weiner, J. L.; Bonin, K. D.; Budygin, E. A. Real Time Adenosine Fluctuations Detected with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry in the Rat Striatum and Motor Cortex. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2015**, *256*, 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.08.017.
- (13) Dale, N. Real-Time Measurement of Adenosine and ATP Release in the Central Nervous System. *Purinergic Signal.* **2021**, *17* (1), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-020-09733-y.
- (14) Cechova, S.; Venton, B. J. Transient Adenosine Efflux in the Rat Caudate-Putamen. *J. Neurochem.* **2008**, *105* (4), 1253–1263. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05223.x.

- (15) Chang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Venton, B. J. A1 and A2A Receptors Modulate Spontaneous Adenosine but Not Mechanically Stimulated Adenosine in the Caudate. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2020, 11 (20), 3377–3385. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00510.
- (16) Weigand, M. A.; Michel, A.; Eckstein, H.-H.; Martin, E.; Bardenheuer, H. J. Adenosine : A Sensitive Indicator of Cerebral Ischemia during Carotid Endarterectomy. *Anesthesiology* **1999**, *91* (2), 414. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-199908000-00015.
- (17) Von Lubitz, D. K. J. E. Adenosine and Cerebral Ischemia: Therapeutic Future or Death of a Brave Concept? *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1999**, 365 (1), 9–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(98)00788-2.
- (18) Chu, S.; Xiong, W.; Zhang, D. L.; Soylu, H.; Sun, C.; Albensi, B. C.; Parkinson, F. E. Regulation of Adenosine Levels during Cerebral Ischemia. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 2013, 34 (1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2012.127.
- (19) Oliva, I.; Fernández, M.; Martín, E. D. Dopamine Release Regulation by Astrocytes during Cerebral Ischemia. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2013**, *58*, 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2013.06.007.
- (20) Dale, N.; Frenguelli, B. G. Release of Adenosine and ATP during Ischemia and Epilepsy. *Curr.Neuropharmacol.* **2009**, 7 (3), 160–179. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015909789152146 [doi].
- (21) Dragunow, M.; Faull, R. L. M. Neuroprotective Effects of Adenosine. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **1988**, *9* (6), 193–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-6147(88)90079-X.
- (22) Bové, J.; Serrats, J.; Mengod, G.; Cortés, R.; Tolosa, E.; Marin, C. Neuroprotection Induced by the Adenosine A2A Antagonist CSC in the 6-OHDA Rat Model of Parkinsonism: Effect on the Activity of Striatal Output Pathways. *Exp. Brain Res.* 2005, 165 (3), 362–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2302-1.
- (23) Coppi, E.; Cherchi, F.; Gibb, A. J. Adenosine A2A Receptor Blockade Attenuates Excitotoxicity in Rat Striatal Medium Spiny Neurons during an Ischemic-like Insult. *Neural Regen. Res.* 2024, *19* (2), 255. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.375309.
- (24) Ross, A. E.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Transiently Modulates Stimulated Dopamine Release in the Caudate-Putamen via A1 Receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **2015**, *132* (1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12946.
- (25) Basheer, R.; Strecker, R. E.; Thakkar, M. M.; McCarley, R. W. Adenosine and Sleep-Wake Regulation. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 2004, 73 (6), 379–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.06.004.
- (26) Bonnet, A.-M. Involvement of Non-Dopaminergic Pathways in Parkinson's Disease. *CNS Drugs* **2000**, *13* (5), 351–364. https://doi.org/10.2165/00023210-200013050-00005.
- (27) Arrigoni, E.; Crocker, A. J.; Saper, C. B.; Greene, R. W.; Scammell, T. E. Deletion of Presynaptic Adenosine A1 Receptors Impairs the Recovery of Synaptic Transmission after Hypoxia. *Neuroscience* **2005**, *132* (3), 575–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.12.009.
- (28) Bao, L.; Locovei, S.; Dahl, G. Pannexin Membrane Channels Are Mechanosensitive Conduits for ATP. *FEBS Lett.* **2004**, *572* (1–3), 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2004.07.009.
- (29) Dahl, G.; Qiu, F.; Wang, J. The Bizarre Pharmacology of the ATP Release Channel Pannexin1. *Neuropharmacology* **2013**, *75*, 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.02.019.
- (30) Giaume, C.; Leybaert, L.; C. Naus, C.; C. Sáez, J. Connexin and Pannexin Hemichannels in Brain Glial Cells: Properties, Pharmacology, and Roles. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2013**, *4*, 88. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2013.00088.
- (31) Lanser, A. J.; Rezende, R. M.; Rubino, S.; Lorello, P. J.; Donnelly, D. J.; Xu, H.; Lau, L. A.; Dulla, C. G.; Caldarone, B. J.; Robson, S. C.; Weiner, H. L. Disruption of the
ATP/Adenosine Balance in CD39 ^{-/-} Mice Is Associated with Handling-Induced Seizures. *Immunology* **2017**, *152* (4), 589–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12798.

- (32) Fernández, P.; Perez-Aso, M.; Smith, G.; Wilder, T.; Trzaska, S.; Chiriboga, L.; Franks, A.; Robson, S. C.; Cronstein, B. N.; Chan, E. S. L. Extracellular Generation of Adenosine by the Ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 Promotes Dermal Fibrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 2013, *183* (6), 1740–1746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.08.024.
- (33) Cristalli, G.; Costanzi, S.; Lambertucci, C.; Lupidi, G.; Vittori, S.; Volpini, R.; Camaioni, E. Adenosine Deaminase: Functional Implications and Different Classes of Inhibitors. *Med. Res. Rev.* 2001, *21* (2), 105–128. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-1128(200103)21:2<105::AID-MED1002>3.0.CO;2-U.
- (34) Boison, D. Adenosine as a Neuromodulator in Neurological Diseases. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* **2008**, 8 (1), 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2007.09.002.
- (35) Krügel, U.; Kittner, H.; Franke, H.; Illes, P. Purinergic Modulation of Neuronal Activity in the Mesolimbic Dopaminergic System in Vivo. Synapse 2003, 47 (2), 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.10162.
- (36) Matias, A.; Zimmer, F. J.; Lorenzen, A.; Keil, R.; Schwabe, U. Affinity of Central Adenosine A1 Receptors Is Decreased in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol. Mol. Pharmacol.* **1993**, *244* (3), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/0922-4106(93)90147-2.
- (37) Donoso, M. V.; Aedo, F.; Huidobro-Toro, J. P. The Role of Adenosine A2A and A3 Receptors on the Differential Modulation of Norepinephrine and Neuropeptide Y Release from Peripheral Sympathetic Nerve Terminals. *J. Neurochem.* **2006**, *96* (6), 1680–1695. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03671.x.
- (38) Ferré, S.; Navarro, G.; Bonaventura, J.; Moreno, E.; Volkow, N. D.; Lluís, C.; Casadó, V. Allosteric Mechanisms in the Adenosine A2A-Dopamine D2 Receptor Heteromer. In *The Adenosinergic System: A Non-Dopaminergic Target in Parkinson's Disease*; 2015; pp 27– 38. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20273-0_2.
- (39) Ciruela, F.; Casadó, V.; Rodrigues, R. J.; Luján, R.; Burgueño, J.; Canals, M.; Borycz, J.; Rebola, N.; Goldberg, S. R.; Mallol, J.; Cortés, A.; Canela, E. I.; López-Giménez, J. F.; Milligan, G.; Lluis, C.; Cunha, R. A.; Ferré, S.; Franco, R. Presynaptic Control of Striatal Glutamatergic Neurotransmission by Adenosine A1–A2A Receptor Heteromers. *J. Neurosci.* **2006**, *26* (7), 2080–2087. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3574-05.2006.
- (40) Perreault, M. L.; Hasbi, A.; O'Dowd, B. F.; George, S. R. Heteromeric Dopamine Receptor Signaling Complexes: Emerging Neurobiology and Disease Relevance. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **2014**, *39* (1), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.148.
- (41) Pinna, A.; Bonaventura, J.; Farré, D.; Sánchez, M.; Simola, N.; Mallol, J.; Lluís, C.; Costa, G.; Baqi, Y.; Müller, C. E.; Cortés, A.; McCormick, P.; Canela, E. I.; Martínez-Pinilla, E.; Lanciego, J. L.; Casadó, V.; Armentero, M. T.; Franco, R. L-DOPA Disrupts Adenosine A2A-Cannabinoid CB1-Dopamine D2 Receptor Heteromer Cross-Talk in the Striatum of Hemiparkinsonian Rats: Biochemical and Behavioral Studies. *Exp. Neurol.* **2014**, *253*, 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.12.021.
- (42) Ginés, S.; Hillion, J.; Torvinen, M.; Le Crom, S.; Casadó, V.; Canela, E. I.; Rondin, S.; Lew, J. Y.; Watson, S.; Zoli, M.; Agnati, L. F.; Vernier, P.; Lluis, C.; Ferré, S.; Fuxe, K.; Franco, R. Dopamine D1 and Adenosine A1 Receptors Form Functionally Interacting Heteromeric Complexes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2000, 97 (15), 8606–8611. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.150241097.
- (43) Dunwiddie, T. V.; Diao, L. Extracellular Adenosine Concentrations in Hippocampal Brain Slices and the Tonic Inhibitory Modulation of Evoked Excitatory Responses. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1994**, *268* (2), 537–545.
- (44) Lusardi, T. A. Adenosine Neuromodulation and Traumatic Brain Injury. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* **2009**, 7 (3), 228–237. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015909789152137.

- (45) Sebastião, A. M.; Ribeiro, J. A. Neuromodulation and Metamodulation by Adenosine: Impact and Subtleties upon Synaptic Plasticity Regulation. *Brain Res.* 2015, 1621, 102– 113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.11.008.
- (46) Casetta, I.; Vincenzi, F.; Bencivelli, D.; Corciulo, C.; Gentile, M.; Granieri, E.; Borea, P. A.; Varani, K. A2A Adenosine Receptors and Parkinson's Disease Severity. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* **2014**, *129* (4), 276–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12181.
- (47) Mievis, S.; Blum, D.; Ledent, C. A2A Receptor Knockout Worsens Survival and Motor Behaviour in a Transgenic Mouse Model of Huntington's Disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 2011, 41 (2), 570–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2010.09.021.
- (48) Zhou, M.; Wu, J.; Chang, H.; Fang, Y.; Zhang, D.; Guo, Y. Adenosine Signaling Mediate Pain Transmission in the Central Nervous System. *Purinergic Signal.* **2023**, *19* (1), 245– 254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-021-09826-2.
- (49) Kutryb-Zając, B.; Kawecka, A.; Nasadiuk, K.; Braczko, A.; Stawarska, K.; Caiazzo, E.; Koszałka, P.; Cicala, C. Drugs Targeting Adenosine Signaling Pathways: A Current View. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2023**, *165*, 115184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2023.115184.
- (50) Molina-Arcas, M.; Casado, F. J.; Pastor-Anglada, M. Nucleoside Transporter Proteins. *http://www.eurekaselect.com*.
- (51) Pajski, M. L.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Release Evoked by Short Electrical Stimulations in Striatal Brain Slices Is Primarily Activity Dependent. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2010, 1 (12), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1021/cn100037d.
- (52) Pajski, M. L. M. L.; Venton, B. J. J. The Mechanism of Electrically Stimulated Adenosine Release Varies by Brain Region. *Purinergic Signal.* **2013**, *9* (2), 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-012-9343-2.
- (53) Pedata, F.; Pazzagli, M.; Tilli, S.; Pepeu, G. Regional Differences in the Electrically Stimulated Release of Endogenous and Radioactive Adenosine and Purine Derivatives from Rat Brain Slices. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **1990**, *342* (4), 447–453. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00169463.
- (54) Jin, S.; Johansson, B.; Fredholm, B. B. Effects of Adenosine A1 and A2 Receptor Activation on Electrically Evoked Dopamine and Acetylcholine Release from Rat Striatal Slices. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1993**, 267 (2), 801–808.
- (55) Zylka, M. J. Pain-Relieving Prospects for Adenosine Receptors and Ectonucleotidases. *Trends Mol. Med.* **2011**, *17* (4), 188–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2010.12.006.
- (56) Lee, S. T.; Venton, B. J. Regional Variations of Spontaneous, Transient Adenosine Release in Brain Slices. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2018, 9 (3), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00280.
- (57) Nguyen, M. D.; Wang, Y.; Ganesana, M.; Venton, B. J. Transient Adenosine Release Is Modulated by NMDA and GABAB Receptors. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2017, 8 (2), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.6b00318.
- (58) Borgus, J. R.; Wang, Y.; DiScenza, D. J.; Venton, B. J. Spontaneous Adenosine and Dopamine Cotransmission in the Caudate-Putamen Is Regulated by Adenosine Receptors. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 2021, *12* (23), 4371–4379. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.1c00175.
- (59) Obrietan, K.; Belousov, A. B.; Heller, H. C.; van den Pol, A. N. Adenosine Pre- and Postsynaptic Modulation of Glutamate-Dependent Calcium Activity in Hypothalamic Neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* **1995**, *74* (5), 2150–2162. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1995.74.5.2150.
- (60) Wang, Y.; Copeland, J.; Shin, M.; Chang, Y.; Venton, B. J. CD73 or CD39 Deletion Reveals Different Mechanisms of Formation for Spontaneous and Mechanically Stimulated Adenosine and Sex Specific Compensations in ATP Degradation. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2020, 11 (6), 919–928. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.9b00620.

- (61) Pires, V. A.; Pamplona, F. A.; Pandolfo, P.; Fernandes, D.; Prediger, R. D. S.; Takahashi, R. N. Adenosine Receptor Antagonists Improve Short-Term Object-Recognition Ability of Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats: A Rodent Model of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Behav. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *20* (2), 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e32832a80bf.
- (62) Lee, S. T.; Chang, Y.; Venton, B. J. Pannexin1 Channels Regulate Mechanically Stimulated but Not Spontaneous Adenosine Release. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2022, 414 (13), 3781– 3789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-022-04047-x.
- (63) Ross, A. E.; Nguyen, M. D.; Privman, E.; Venton, B. J. Mechanical Stimulation Evokes Rapid Increases in Extracellular Adenosine Concentration in the Prefrontal Cortex. *J. Neurochem.* **2014**, *130* (1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12711.
- (64) Brundege, J. M.; Dunwiddie, T. V. Role of Adenosine as a Modulator of Synaptic Activity in the Central Nervous System. In *Advances in Pharmacology*; August, J. T., Anders, M. W., Murad, F., Coyle, J., Eds.; Academic Press, 1997; Vol. 39, pp 353–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3589(08)60076-9.
- (65) Aronica, S. M.; Kraus, W. L.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S. Estrogen Action via the cAMP Signaling Pathway: Stimulation of Adenylate Cyclase and cAMP-Regulated Gene Transcription (Estrogens/Antlesrgens/Breast Cancer/Uterus). *Proc Nati Acad Sci USA* **1994**, *91* (August), 8517–8521.
- (66) Okada, M.; Nutt, D. J.; Murakami, T.; Zhu, G.; Kamata, A.; Kawata, Y.; Kaneko, S. Adenosine Receptor Subtypes Modulate Two Major Functional Pathways for Hippocampal Serotonin Release. *J. Neurosci.* **2001**, *21* (2), 628–640.
- (67) Milton, S. L.; Lutz, P. L. Adenosine and ATP-Sensitive Potassium Channels Modulate Dopamine Release in the Anoxic Turtle (Trachemys Scripta) Striatum. *Am. J. Physiol.-Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* **2005**, 289 (1), R77–R83. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00647.2004.
- (68) Colgan, S. P.; Fennimore, B.; Ehrentraut, S. F. Adenosine and Gastrointestinal Inflammation. *J. Mol. Med.* **2013**, *91* (2), 157–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-012-0990-0.
- (69) Haskó, G.; Cronstein, B. Regulation of Inflammation by Adenosine. *Front. Immunol.* **2013**, *4*, 85. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00085.
- (70) Nagel, J.; Hauber, W. Effects of Salient Environmental Stimuli on Extracellular Adenosine Levels in the Rat Nucleus Accumbens Measured by in Vivo Microdialysis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 2002, 134 (1–2), 485–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(02)00062-1.
- (71) Porkka-Heiskanen, T.; Strecker, R. E.; McCarley, R. W. Brain Site-Specificity of Extracellular Adenosine Concentration Changes during Sleep Deprivation and Spontaneous Sleep: An in Vivo Microdialysis Study. *Neuroscience* **2000**, *99* (3), 507–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00220-7.
- (72) Hascup, E. R.; af Bjerkén, S.; Hascup, K. N.; Pomerleau, F.; Huettl, P.; Strömberg, I.; Gerhardt, G. A. Histological Studies of the Effects of Chronic Implantation of Ceramic-Based Microelectrode Arrays and Microdialysis Probes in Rat Prefrontal Cortex. *Brain Res.* 2009, 1291, 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.06.084.
- (73) Frenguelli, B. G.; Llaudet, E.; Dale, N. High-Resolution Real-Time Recording with Microelectrode Biosensors Reveals Novel Aspects of Adenosine Release during Hypoxia in Rat Hippocampal Slices. *J. Neurochem.* **2003**, *86* (6), 1506–1515. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01957.x.
- (74) Shin, M.; Venton, B. J. Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry (FSCV) Reveals Behaviorally-Evoked Dopamine Release by Sugar Feeding in Adult Drosophila Mushroom Body. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2022**, *n/a* (n/a). https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202207399.

- (75) Venton, B. J.; Wightman, R. M. Pharmacologically Induced, Subsecond Dopamine Transients in the Caudate-Putamen of the Anesthetized Rat. *Synapse* **2007**, *61* (1), 37–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20343.
- (76) Venton, B. J.; Cao, Q. Fundamentals of Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for Dopamine Detection. *Analyst* **2020**, *145*, 1158–1168. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN01586H.
- (77) Wightman, R. M. Microvoltammetric Electrodes. *Anal. Chem.* **1981**, *53* (9), 1125A-1134A. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac00232a004.
- (78) Wightman, R. M.; Wipf, D. O. High-Speed Cyclic Voltammetry. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23
 (3), 64–70. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar00171a002.
- (79) Nguyen, M. D.; Venton, B. J. Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for the Characterization of Rapid Adenosine Release. *Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J.* **2015**, *13*, 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2014.12.006.
- (80) Feng, J.; Zhang, C.; Lischinsky, J. E.; Jing, M.; Zhou, J.; Wang, H.; Zhang, Y.; Dong, A.; Wu, Z.; Wu, H.; Chen, W.; Zhang, P.; Zou, J.; Hires, S. A.; Zhu, J. J.; Cui, G.; Lin, D.; Du, J.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensor for Rapid and Specific In Vivo Detection of Norepinephrine. *Neuron* **2019**, *102* (4), 745–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.037.
- (81) Nedergaard, M.; Takano, T.; Hansen, A. J. Beyond the Role of Glutamate as a Neurotransmitter. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2002**, *3*, 748.
- (82) Fujimoto, S.; Katsuki, H.; Kume, T.; Kaneko, S.; Akaike, A. Mechanisms of Oxygen Glucose Deprivation-Induced Glutamate Release from Cerebrocortical Slice Cultures. *Neurosci. Res.* **2004**, *50* (2), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2004.06.013.
- (83) Ferré, S.; O'Connor, W. T.; Svenningsson, P.; Björklund, L.; Lindberg, J.; Tinner, B.; Strömberg, I.; Goldstein, M.; Ögren, S. O.; Ungerstedt, U.; Fredholm, B. B.; Fuxe, K. Dopamine D1 Receptor-Mediated Facilitation of GABAergic Neurotransmission in the Rat Strioentppeduncular Pathway and Its Modulation by Adenosine A1 Receptor-Mediated Mechanisms. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **1996**, *8* (7), 1545–1553. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.1996.tb01617.x.
- (84) Bogaert, L.; Scheller, D.; Moonen, J.; Sarre, S.; Smolders, I.; Ebinger, G.; Michotte, Y. Neurochemical Changes and Laser Doppler Flowmetry in the Endothelin-1 Rat Model for Focal Cerebral Ischemia. *Brain Res.* **2000**, *887* (2), 266–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02959-0.
- (85) Babb, T. L.; Ying, Z.; Hadam, J.; Penrod, C. Glutamate Receptor Mechanisms in Human Epileptic Dysplastic Cortex. *Epilepsy Res.* **1998**, *32* (1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-1211(98)00037-0.
- (86) Costa, K. M.; Schoenbaum, G. Dopamine. *Curr. Biol.* **2022**, *32* (15), R817–R824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.06.060.
- (87) Adamantidis, A. R.; Tsai, H.-C.; Boutrel, B.; Zhang, F.; Stuber, G. D.; Budygin, E. A.; Tourino, C.; Bonci, A.; Deisseroth, K.; de Lecea, L. Optogenetic Interrogation of Dopaminergic Modulation of the Multiple Phases of Reward-Seeking Behavior. *J. Neurosci.* 2011, *31* (30), 10829–10835. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2246-11.2011.
- (88) Klein, M. O.; Battagello, D. S.; Cardoso, A. R.; Hauser, D. N.; Bittencourt, J. C.; Correa, R. G. Dopamine: Functions, Signaling, and Association with Neurological Diseases. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 2019, 39 (1), 31–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-018-0632-3.
- (89) Juárez Olguín, H.; Calderón Guzmán, D.; Hernández García, E.; Barragán Mejía, G. The Role of Dopamine and Its Dysfunction as a Consequence of Oxidative Stress. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016, 2016 (1), 9730467. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9730467.
- (90) Ådén, U.; Lindström, K.; Bona, E.; Hagberg, H.; Fredholm, B. B. Changes in Adenosine Receptors in the Neonatal Rat Brain Following Hypoxic Ischemia. *Mol. Brain Res.* 1994, 23 (4), 354–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-328X(94)90247-X.

- (91) Campbell, B. C. V.; De Silva, D. A.; Macleod, M. R.; Coutts, S. B.; Schwamm, L. H.; Davis, S. M.; Donnan, G. A. Ischaemic Stroke. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primer* **2019**, *5* (1), 70. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0118-8.
- (92) Martin, R. L.; Lloyd, H. G. E.; Cowan, A. I. The Early Events of Oxygen and Glucose Deprivation: Setting the Scene for Neuronal Death? *Trends Neurosci.* **1994**, *17* (6), 251– 257. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(94)90008-6.
- (93) Taylor, C. P.; Weber, M. L.; Gaughan, C. L.; Lehning, E. J.; LoPachin, R. M. Oxygen/Glucose Deprivation in Hippocampal Slices: Altered Intraneuronal Elemental Composition Predicts Structural and Functional Damage. *J. Neurosci.* **1999**, *19* (2), 619– 629. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-02-00619.1999.

Chapter 2: Transient adenosine modulates serotonin release indirectly in the DRN

Kailash Shrestha, B. Jill Venton*

Abstract

Rapid adenosine transiently regulates dopamine and glutamate via A₁ receptors, but other neurotransmitters such as serotonin have not been studied. In this study, we examined the rapid modulatory effect of adenosine on serotonin release in the dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN) of mouse brain slices by using fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV). To mimic adenosine release during damage, a rapid microinjection of adenosine 50 pmol was applied before electrical stimulation of serotonin release. Transient adenosine significantly reduced electrically-evoked serotonin release in the first 20 seconds after application, but serotonin release recovered to baseline as adenosine was cleared from the slice. The continuous perfusion of adenosine did not change evoked serotonin release. Surprisingly, the modulatory effects of adenosine were not regulated by A_1 receptors, as adenosine still inhibited serotonin release in A_1 KO mice and also after perfusion of an A1 antagonist (8-Cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropyl xanthine, DPCPX). The inhibition was also not regulated by A_3 receptors, as perfusion of the A_3 antagonist (MRS 1220) in A_1 KO brain slices did not eliminate the inhibitory effects of transient adenosine. In addition, adenosine also inhibited serotonin release in A_{2A}KO mice, showing A_{2A} did not modulate serotonin. However, perfusion of a selective 5HT_{1A} autoreceptor antagonist drug ((S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride) abolished the inhibitory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin release. Thus, the transient neuromodulatory effect of adenosine on DRN serotonin release is regulated by serotonin autoreceptors and not adenosine receptors. Rapid, transient adenosine modulation of neurotransmitters such as serotonin may have important implications for diseases such as depression and brain injury.

Keywords: Neuromodulation, Adenosine, Serotonin, Transient, FSCV, dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN), 5HT_{1A} antagonist

2.1 Introduction

Adenosine is a widely distributed neuromodulator in the central nervous system that modulates neurotransmission and plays a neuroprotective role via adenosinergic, G proteincoupled receptors.^{1,2} Four sub-types of membrane-bound adenosine receptors exhibit inhibitory (A₁ and A₃) and excitatory effects (A_{2A} and A_{2B}) by altering adenylyl cyclase activity at the synaptic terminal.^{1,3–6} During pathological conditions, extracellular adenosine accumulates at different rates. Slower accumulation during damage or stroke can last for hours, and prevents further tissue damage by reducing excitatory neuronal firing at the synapse.^{6–9} However, there are rapid modes of adenosine release which last for just a few seconds.^{10,11} Dunwiddie et. al. discovered transient adenosine signaling that ranged from milliseconds to seconds, with rapid neuromodulatory effects in the hippocampus.¹² Similarly, using fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV), our lab characterized spontaneous transient adenosine, lasting 2-3 seconds, that modulates neurotransmitter release and is released in response to ischemia.^{9,11,13,14} Mechanical perturbation of tissue also generates transient adenosine, but mechanically-stimulated adenosine is higher in concentration and lasts around 20-30 seconds with a broader effective area.^{4,9} This mode of rapid adenosine release may serve a neuroprotective role during physical injuries and trauma. Adenosine, a well-known retaliatory metabolite, modulates the synaptic release of other neurotransmitters such as dopamine (DA), glutamate, and GABA through its presynaptic and postsynaptic receptors.^{1,11,15} Basal changes in adenosine have been reported to modulate serotonin release in the hippocampus, but there have been no investigations of the effect of rapid changes in adenosine to modulate serotonin release in the DRN, which is responsible for cognition, sleep, and locomotion.^{16–18}

The dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN) and medial raphe nuclei are the largest serotonergic cluster in the brain.^{19,20} A wide distribution of serotonin neurons and abundance of serotonin receptors contribute to serotonin's broad modulatory roles and diverse physiological functions, such as regulating cognition, sleep-wake cycle, aggression, locomotion, and mood.²¹ These excitatory serotonin neurons are closely regulated by the abundant somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor, a G-protein coupled receptor.^{18,20,21} In addition, inhibitory GABAergic neurons, glutamatergic and cholinergic neurons alter neuronal firing through change in K⁺ and Ca²⁺ channel permeability.^{16,18,22} However, the direct modulatory role of adenosine on the serotonin release has not been well understood particularly in the DRN.

Adenosine has a modulatory effect on neurotransmitters and direct measurements of these neurotransmitters help elucidate these effects. For example, Ross et al. demonstrated inhibitory action of transient adenosine on dopamine by 50% via A₁ receptors in the caudate putamen.¹¹ Similarly using super-fusion techniques, Feuerstein et al. found that both theophylline and 8-phenyl theophylline, A₁ receptor antagonists, abolished the inhibitory effect of endogenous adenosine via A₁ receptors on stimulated serotonin release in the rabbit hippocampus slice.^{23,24} Thus, A₁ receptors may regulate serotonin release.^{25,26} Furthermore, adenosine deaminase, an enzyme responsible for adenosine metabolism, is present in the DRN and thus adenosine may regulate serotonin in the DRN.²⁷ In the previous study by Feuerstein et al., the modulatory effect of adenosine was studied in slower time scale using superfusion technique in which isotopic serotonin samples were collected every 60 minutes and analyzed.²⁸ Although 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors and GABAergic receptors tightly regulate serotonin concentrations, there are no studies that address the modulation of transient adenosine on serotonin release in the DRN.^{29,30}

The goal of this study was to test the modulatory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin release in the DRN in real-time. Rapid adenosine and serotonin release were measured using FSCV, a highly sensitive real-time detection technique with sub-second temporal resolution^{31,32} after puffing adenosine, which lasted 25 seconds, mimicking mechanosensitive release. Transient adenosine inhibited serotonin by 40% in WT in the first 20 seconds of adenosine application, but this same effect was not observed during adenosine perfusion. A₁KO mice and an A₁ antagonist were used to investigate the role of inhibitory A₁ adenosine receptors, but there was no change in adenosine modulation of serotonin in either model. Similarly, inhibition of serotonin was not abolished in A_{2A}KO mice or using a selective A₃ antagonist in A₁KO mice. However, adenosine modulation of serotonin was eliminated during the perfusion of a selective 5HT_{1A} antagonist. Thus, adenosine modulates serotonin dynamics in the DRN, not through adenosine receptors, but indirectly through 5HT_{1A} autoreceptors.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Chemicals

All chemical reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF) buffer was composed of 126 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 1.2 mM NaH₂PO₄, 2.4 mM CaCl₂·2H₂O, 1.2 mM MgCl₂·6H₂O, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 11 mM glucose, and 15 mM tris(hydroxymethyl) aminomethane dissolved in deionized water (Milli-Q Biocel; Millipore, USA). The aCSF was freshly prepared before experiments and adjusted to pH 7.4 for brain slice experiments. Adenosine was purchased from Acros Organics (Morris Plains, NJ, USA).

Adenosine stock solution (10 mM) was prepared in 0.1 M perchloric acid and diluted to 1 mM concentration with aCSF.

8-Cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropyl xanthine (DPCPX, A₁ adenosine receptor antagonist) and MRS 1220 (A₃ adenosine receptor antagonist) were purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Minneapolis, USA). 10 μ M of DPCPX and 5 μ M of MRS 1220 were freshly prepared by dissolving in 1 ml of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) through sonication and diluted with aCSF buffer.

2.2.2 Electrochemistry

Cylinder carbon-fiber microelectrodes (CFMEs) were fabricated by aspirating a T-650 carbon fiber (7 μ m diameter, Cytec Engineering Materials, West Patterson, NJ) into a glass capillary (1.2 mm OD × 0.68 mm ID, 4", A-M systems) using a vacuum pump. The glass capillary was pulled via a horizontal electrode puller (model PE-21, Narishige, Tokyo). The exposed carbon fiber was cut approximately 70–100 μ m long using a scalpel under a microscope.

A CFME was dipped into isopropanol alcohol (IPA) for 10 minutes to remove any impurities from its surface and backfilled with 1 mM KCl solution before its use. Adenosine waveform (-0.4 to +1.45 and back, scan rate: 400 V/s and 10 Hz vs Ag/AgCl reference electrode) was applied at the CFME and electrochemical data collected using a Chem-Clamp (Dagan, Minneapolis, MN, U.S.A.). A dopamine waveform with a switching potential has previously been used for serotonin detection,³⁴ and here extending the potential to 1.45 V allowed both adenosine and serotonin to be detected simultaneously with minimal fouling. All data were analyzed using HDCV analysis software (UNC Chemistry, Chapel Hill, NC, U.S.A.).

2.2.3 Brain slice experiments

The Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) of the University of Virginia approved all animal work. 6-8 weeks old wild-type C57BL/6 mice (Jackson Lab), A₁KO mice, and A_{2A}KO mice

were anesthetized with Isoflurane. Following quick decapitation, the brain was removed from the skull and transferred into 0-5 °C oxygenated aCSF (95% O₂, 5% CO₂) for recovery. The brain was quickly mounted on the cold slicing stage and coronal section slices (400 µm) prepared via a vibratome (Leica VT1000S, Bannockburn, IL, USA). Slices were transferred into a chamber containing oxygenated aCSF (32°C) and kept for 30-45 minutes to recover. Once the slice was moved to the recording chamber, an electrical stim electrode was placed in the DRN. The carbon-fiber electrode was inserted approximately 75 µm deep in the dorsal raphe and equilibrated for 10-15 minutes with waveform applied. Electrically stimulated serotonin release was measured with or without puffed adenosine (50 pmol) while applying the adenosine waveform at the CFME. After each stimulation, 10 minutes was used as a recovery time before another stimulation. Throughout the experiment, aCSF was continuously perfused over the brain slice by a perfusion pump (Watson-Marlow 205U, Wilmington, MA, USA) at 2 mL/min.

2.2.4 Pharmacology experiments

Pharmacological experiments were performed in a 10 s time frame as we saw significant effect of transient adenosine over serotonin release in both WT and genetically A₁, A₂ and A₃ knocked out mice. An A₁ antagonist (DPCPX, 10 μ M, K₁ = 3.9 nM) or A₃ antagonist (MRS 1220, 5 μ M, K₁ > 1 μ M) was perfused continuously for 30 minutes to study the role of A₁ and A₃ receptors respectively.^{51,52} Both antagonists were dissolved in 1 ml of dimethysulfoxide (DMSO) and diluted with aCSF. Electrically stimulated serotonin and pre-drug scans with adenosine (10 seconds after exogenously puffed adenosine) were collected perfusing aCSF. Next, the drug was perfused for 30 minutes. During drug perfusion, serotonin was stimulated after adenosine application and recorded every 10 minutes. And finally, post-drug stimulated serotonin (with adenosine) was recorded for recovery. A₁ antagonist was used in WT and A_{2A}KO mice whereas A₃ antagonist was in A₁KO mice. Genetically altered A₁ receptor knock-out and A_{2A} receptor

knock-out mice were made by the Mustafa lab (Dr. S. Jamal Mustafa, West Virginia University).^{53,54}

Selective 5HT_{1A} antagonist ((S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride, 5µM) was perfused to examine the role of 5HT_{1A} autoreceptor on DRN serotonergic neurons by adenosine. Initially evoked serotonin was recorded and the 5HT_{1A} perfused for 30 minutes. During this perfusion, serotonin was stimulated at 20th minute without adenosine and at the 30th minute with adenosine 10 s before. Finally, the perfusion buffer was switched back to aCSF and a stimulation applied for the recovery measurement. All serotonin release was normalized and compared with initial electrically stimulated serotonin release without adenosine injection.

2.2.5 Statistics

All the statistics were performed by GraphPad 9.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA), and all data are reported as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) for "n" number of mice. One-way ANOVA test with Dunnett's post-test was performed to analyze initial serotonin to the serotonin with puffed adenosine with or without perfused drugs on the brain slice.

2.3 Results and Discussion

This study tests the hypothesis that rapid adenosine transiently downregulates DRN serotonergic release. To assess how adenosine modulates serotonin release, we measured stimulated serotonin in a DRN brain slice by implanting a CFME and using FSCV. Twenty-five pmol of adenosine was locally microinjected via pico-spritzer at different time intervals (10, 20, 40 and 80 seconds) before serotonin stimulation. Exogenously puffed adenosine lasts ~25 seconds, which is similar to mechanically-stimulated adenosine release.¹¹

2.3.1 Rapid changes in local adenosine modulate DRN serotonergic neurons in WT mice

First, we measured the effect of transient adenosine on stimulated serotonin in WT mice. Figure 1A shows the experimental set up for this study. The working electrode (CFME) and the capillary with adenosine were inserted into the tissue about 50 µm apart. Although many other waveforms such as the Jackson waveform and extended serotonin waveform have been developed to more selectively monitor serotonin, we used the adenosine waveform (-0.4 V, 1.45 V; Scan rate: 400 V/s) to monitor both adenosine and serotonin in the same scan.^{33–35} The main interferent for serotonin with that waveform would be dopamine, but there are not dopaminergic neurons in the DRN, so dopamine is not an interferent for serotonin detection. Figure 1B summarizes the experimental design, where serotonin was electrically stimulated at different time intervals (10, 20, 40 and 80 s) after adenosine injection. Stimulations were repeated every 10 minutes to allow recovery of release, and this time interval produces the same release for all stimulations.³⁶ Figure 1C shows stimulated serotonin 80 seconds after adenosine application. Adenosine is cleared from DRN around 20 s after injection, as seen in *i-t* curve (top inset, red trace). This *i-t* curve mimics mechanically stimulated adenosine, which is guickly released and elevated for about 20-30 s before it is fully cleared from the extracellular space.⁹ FSCV is a background subtracted method that monitors rapid change in electroactive analyte concentration. The background subtracted CV, inset, is a signature CV for serotonin that confirms the identity of the release of serotonin release. Supplementary Figure 1 shows an example color plot of electrically evoked serotonin 20 seconds after adenosine injection, at two different color contrasts to show the adenosine (which is higher concentration and produces larger oxidation currents) and serotonin. We measured serotonin levels from the ivst curve at the oxidation potential for serotonin.



Figure 10. Experimental Design. (A) Experimental setup showing CFME, stimulating electrode, and glass capillary for adenosine injection using pico-spritzer in the DRN. (B) An experimental timeline shows adenosine injection at 5 seconds (red arrow) followed by stimulation (green arrow) after 10 seconds. The interval between adenosine application and stimulation is increased i.e., 10, 20, 40, and 80 seconds with the following scans, and finally recovery scan was performed without adenosine (not shown in the timeline). There was 10 minutes between experiments. (C) Representative example, 1 mM adenosine (50 pmol) is administered via pico-spritzer (10 psi, 10 ms, 100 nL) 80 seconds prior to serotonin stimulation as shown with the i vs t curve for adenosine (red trace) and serotonin (green trace). The inset contains an adenosine CV (red) with two oxidation peaks at +1.4 V (primary) and +1.0 V (secondary), and a serotonin CV with an oxidization potential at 0.7 V (green), indicating that both analytes can be detected using adenosine waveform.

Figure 2A shows overlapped serotonin release traces before and after adenosine puffed

at different time intervals. Adenosine suppresses electrically evoked serotonin release in the DRN, particularly when the time interval between the adenosine application and stimulation is small. As the time interval of adenosine injection and serotonin stimulation increases, serotonin release gradually increases back to baseline. The recovery curve (grey trace) shows that serotonin release returns to normal when no adenosine is applied to the slice at the end of the experiment, showing the tissue is viable. Thus, when adenosine is present, stimulated serotonin is inhibited.



Figure 11. Serotonin (5-HT) release i-t curve with adenosine at different time intervals (10s, 20s, 40s, and 80s) and without adenosine ES (pre-AD) and Rec is after the AD trials. The y-axis is serotonin current (nA) detected after electrically evoked serotonergic release in the DRN. The x-axis is time (s).

Figure 3A compares averaged data for serotonin stimulations at various time intervals after adenosine application. The y-axis is current normalized to the initial, pre-adenosine stimulated serotonin and the x-axis is the time interval between the adenosine administration and electrical stimulation. The grey bar is a final recovery stimulation without any adenosine, showing the tissue is still viable and stimulated serotonin release has not changed over time. Adenosine decreased for the 10 and 20 s intervals, and then gradually returns to its initial serotonin level with 40 s and 80 s. and recovery (Figure 3A). There is a significant main effect of the time interval of adenosine on serotonin release (One-way ANOVA; n=7; p=0.0291) and posttests show that transient adenosine significantly reduced stimulated serotonin for the 10 and 20 s adenosine groups (Dunnett's post-test: 10s: Red, p= 0.0195; 20s: Green: p=0.0231). The 40 s, 80 s, and recovery groups are not significantly different than the initial stimulation. (One-way ANOVA; n=7; 40s: Orange, p=0.1605; 80s: Blue, p=0.4138; Recovery: Grey, p=0.8638). Serotonin was suppressed by 40% for the 10 and 20 s group, showing that transient adenosine decreased release by almost half. The adenosine i vs t trace (Fig. 1C) reveals that adenosine is elevated in the tissue for about 20 s, so these data show that adenosine modulates serotonin only when it is transiently elevated. Thus, adenosine transiently modulates DRN serotonergic release when adenosine is elevated.

As a control, we replaced the adenosine injection with aCSF buffer injection and recorded stimulated serotonin (Figure 3B). aCSF was injected at the same time intervals as in

the adenosine experiment and there was no significant effect of aCSF injection on the serotonin release (One-way ANOVA, n= 4; p=0.8221). Finally, to make sure that the effect was due to adenosine and not its common downstream metabolite, we injected inosine, the major metabolite of adenosine which is formed from adenosine deaminase breakdown. There is no significant effect of puffing on inosine at the various time intervals before stimulating serotonin (Fig. 3C, One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.8888). This further confirms that adenosine is causing the neuromodulatory effects on serotonin release, and the decrease is not just an effect of puffing on a reagent or a metabolite.

After testing the effects of rapid adenosine neuromodulation, we tested the effects of bath application of adenosine, simulating increase of basal adenosine levels. Figure 3D shows perfusion of 10 μ M adenosine for 30 minutes, while stimulating serotonin every 10 minutes, and a recovery stimulation after perfusion was switched to normal aCSF. The bath perfusion did not suppress stimulated serotonin at 10, 20, or 30 minutes. Stimulated serotonin levels were not significantly different between pre- and post-adenosine perfusion in the DRN region (One-way ANOVA; n= 4, p= 0.9621). Thus, these data confirm that the inhibition of serotonin release is mediated by transient adenosine but not with changes in basal adenosine levels.

Adenosine is a ubiquitous neuromodulator, predominantly known for its inhibitory function via G_{i/o} proteins on neurotransmitters such as dopamine, GABA, and glutamate.^{7,23,24,37} Here, examined the extent to which adenosine regulates phasic serotonin release by mimicking mechanosensitive adenosine release, which elevates adenosine for about 20-30 s in the extracellular space.⁹ The main finding is that adenosine inhibits serotonin release only when it is transiently elevated. After adenosine is cleared, in approximately 20 s, stimulated serotonin release is not significantly inhibited. The maximum inhibition is about 40%, which is similar to the transient inhibition of dopamine by adenosine in the caudate putamen.¹¹ Similarly, dopamine was only inhibited when adenosine was transiently elevated, and not after adenosine had been cleared. Thus, there is a significant, but partial depression of serotonin release in the presence of transient adenosine.

Early studies examined the effects of adenosine to regulate serotonin release and found that A₁ receptors mediate adenosine inhibition of evoked serotonin in the hippocampus, but not the caudate putamen.^{23,24} However, those studies did not examine transient adenosine or the modulation of adenosine on DRN serotonergic neurons. Here, we found that mimicking increases in basal levels of adenosine by perfusing adenosine did not have any inhibitory effect on phasic serotonin release. Thus, adenosine acts transiently to rapidly activate receptors and downregulate serotonin release, and not through constant action of basal receptor occupancy. The main finding here is that adenosine inhibits serotonin release in the DRN only while it is transiently elevated. This rapid effect could be very important in temporarily suppressing neurotransmission during tissue damage or other trauma conditions.



Figure 12. Neuromodulatory effect of adenosine on stimulated serotonin. (A) Effect of transient adenosine. 50 pmol of adenosine was exogenously puffed after an electrical stimulation at different time intervals (10s, 20s, 40s, and 80s) in the DRN of a WT brain slice. Each bar is serotonin current normalized to the first stimulation without adenosine. (Black: Initial electric stim, Red: Adenosine applied 10 s before, Green: 20 s, Orange: 40 s, Blue: 80 s, Grey: Recovery (no adenosine at the end)). There is a significant effect of the time interval for adenosine on serotonin release (One-way ANOVA, n=7; p= 0.0291). (B) Transient aCSF control. 0.1M HClO₄ was diluted in aCSF as adenosine stock was, and then applied instead of adenosine and no significant effect was observed on serotonin (One-way ANOVA, n= 4; p=0.8221). (C) Inosine (10 μ M) injection in the DRN at different time interval to test the effect of an adenosine metabolite. There was no different in serotonin release with or without inosine injection (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.8888). (D) Bath application of adenosine (10 μ M) for 30 minutes. Serotonin was stimulated every 10 minutes and normalized to the initial stimulated serotonin. Serotonin release did not differ with adenosine perfusion (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.9621). Error bars are SEM. ES: Electric stim

2.3.2 Transient adenosine suppression of serotonin release is not regulated by

A₁ receptors

Adenosine typically exhibits an inhibitory role predominantly via A_1 receptors, which are

located presynaptically.^{7,27,38} A₁ receptors regulated the transient modulation by adenosine of

dopamine¹¹ and here we hypothesized A₁ receptors would have the same role for serotonin. To

examine inhibitory effect of adenosine via A1 receptors, adenosine modulation of serotonin

release was monitored in genetically modified A_1KO mice and in WT mice slices perfused with DPCPX, an A_1 inhibitor.

Figure 4A shows serotonin release after adenosine application in A_1 KO mice, with the same protocol used for WT mice (10 s, 20 s, 40 s and 80 s intervals followed by recovery without adenosine). There was a significant main effect of adenosine on serotonin release in A_1 KO mice (One-way ANOVA, n=7, p<0.0001) and stimulated serotonin release was significantly inhibited by transient adenosine in the first 10 seconds of application (Dunnett's post-test, n=7, p<0.0001). The decrease of serotonin to 45 % of the initially stimulated serotonin was similar to WT. However, serotonin suppression was not significantly different than initial stimulation for the 20 second time interval in A_1 KO mice, unlike WT (Dunnett's post-test; 20s: Green: p=0.1373, n=7). This slight increase in serotonin release after 20 s of adenosine application in A_1 knocked-out mice could be due to compensatory overexpression of another inhibitory receptor, such as A_3 adenosine receptors or GABA receptors, that have a different timeframe of interaction.³⁹ Similar to WT, stimulated serotonin release gradually recovers to baseline with no significant differences from initial stimulation for transient adenosine with 40 s, 80 s or recovery. The large inhibition that occurs at 10 s indicates that A_1 receptors are not primarily responsible for the inhibition of serotonin in the DRN.

To further ensure A₁ receptors have no role in this inhibition by transient adenosine, we perfused the A₁ antagonist drug DPCPX (10 μ M) in WT mice for 30 minutes and stimulated serotonin release every 10 minutes with adenosine applied 10 s before (Figure 4B). All serotonin currents were normalized to the initial, stimulation with no adenosine. There was a significant effect of adenosine on stimulated serotonin release (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0016) and serotonin release was inhibited by adenosine even during perfusion of DPCPX. Thus, A₁ receptors are not responsible for mediating the inhibitory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin.

The vast majority of studies demonstrating inhibitory effects of adenosine have shown A_1 receptors that mediate these effects; thus our results are surprising.^{4,7,24} For example, the inhibition of serotonin release in the hippocampus by adenosine was blocked by an A_1 antagonist, 8-Phenyltheophylline, indicating A₁ receptors mediate the inhibitory effect.²³ Adenosine modulation of dopamine release was also mediated by A_1 receptors in caudate putamen and hippocampus.^{5,11,15} In the DRN, A₁ receptors are expressed and adenosine deaminase is present, an enzyme responsible for adenosine metabolism, suggesting adenosine plays a neuromodulatory role there.^{25–27} In A₁KO mice, there is still a strong inhibitory effect of adenosine applied 10 s before serotonin stimulation, indicating A_1 receptors are not primarily mediating the inhibition. There were some slight variations in the 20 s data, which are not significant in A₁KO mice but were in the WT mice, but the overall inhibition with 10 s is just as strong as the WT mice. Pharmacological experiments with DPCPX, an A₁ antagonist, in WT mice also verify that A1 receptors do not mediate inhibition of serotonin release. These data are surprising because of the evidence of A₁ inhibition in other studies, but here A₁ receptor blockade is not sufficient to remove the inhibition of serotonin by adenosine. Thus, A_1 receptors are not the primary receptor mediating the inhibitory action of adenosine on DRN serotonergic release.11,24

2.3.3 The inhibitory effect of adenosine on serotonin release is not mediated by A₃ or A_{2A} receptors.

Since A₁ receptors are not primarily responsible for the suppression of DRN serotonin release, we tested the effects of A₃ receptors, which are also inhibitory and might be upregulated in A₁KO mice.³⁹ A₃ receptors are also inhibitory with lower affinity, although they are more sparsely located than A₁ receptors.^{1,4,7,37} An A₃ antagonist (MRS 1220, 5 μ M), was perfused in A₁ knock-out slice. The A₁KO was used to eliminate both of the possible inhibitory receptors at once when the antagonist was perfused. We perfused MRS 1220 for 30 minutes,

while stimulating serotonin 10 seconds after adenosine application every 10 minutes (Figure 4C), before washing out drug for a recovery stimulation with adenosine application. There is a still a significant effect of adenosine on serotonin release (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0014) and no differences with the A₃ receptor antagonist. Thus, adenosine still clearly inhibited serotonin release, even in an A₁KO slice in the presence of an A₃ antagonist. These results show that neither of the two major inhibitory receptors, A₁ or A₃ receptors, are directly mediating the inhibition of serotonin by transient adenosine.

A_{2A} receptors are the main excitatory receptors for adenosine, and they are the second most abundantly distributed receptors in the CNS.^{2,4,5,7} The activation of these excitatory receptors, coupled with G_{s/off}, activates presynaptic receptors to stimulate neurotransmitter release. However, these excitatory receptors can form heteromers with inhibitory A1 adenosine receptors at the same terminal and they modulate glutamate neurotransmitter release.⁴⁰ Thus, although A_{2A} receptors are excitatory, we tested their effects. We used A_{2A} knock-out mice along with DPCPX to block both A_1 and A_{2A} receptors, to test if heteromers were responsible for the inhibition. A similar experimental set-up was used as with the A₃ antagonist data. There was a main effect of adenosine in regulating serotonin release (Fig. 4D, One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0127). Serotonin release was significantly suppressed by adenosine in the A_{2A} knock-out slice when adenosine was injected 10 seconds before electric stimulation (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0257). When 10 μ M of DPCPX was perfused, stimulated serotonin after adenosine was still significantly inhibited compared to initial stimulation (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0311). Thus, in an A_{2A}KO mice, serotonin release is still inhibited by transient adenosine applied 10 s before and when perfusing 10 µM of DPCPX in the A_{2A} knockout mice, adenosine still inhibits serotonin release. This data shows that A2A receptors are not responsible for the inhibitory effects of adenosine and that heteromers are also likely not the source of adenosine

modulation. Thus, surprisingly, no adenosine receptors were identified that mediate the inhibitory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin release.



Figure 13. Effect of adenosine receptors to regulate the effects of transient adenosine on serotonin release. (A.) AD injection in A₁KO mice. The time interval was varied for adenosine application before serotonin stimulation and serotonin is still suppressed by adenosine with the 10 s interval (One-way ANOVA, n=7; ES; 10s: Red, p<0.0001) (B.) A₁ antagonist (10 μ M DPCPX) perfused for 30 minutes in WT mice. Serotonin was stimulated 10 s after adenosine application and DPCPX did not stop the inhibition of adenosine (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0016). (C.) Effect of A₃ antagonist (5 μ M of MRS 1220) on inhibition of adenosine on serotonin release in A₁KO mice. The drug had no effect as adenosine still inhibited serotonin (One-way ANOVA, n=5; p= 0.0014) (D.) A₁ antagonist (10 μ M DPCPX) perfused in A_{2A}KO slice with adenosine applied 10 s before serotonin stimulation. The A₁ antagonist did not change the inhibitory effect of transient (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.0127). The error bar represents SEM. For B, C, D asterisks mark significant differences from pre-drug ES. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 (AD: Adenosine; ES: Electric Stim pre-AD)

2.3.4 A selective 5HT_{1A} antagonist blocks the effects of adenosine on serotonin

release

Our data showed that transient adenosine still inhibits electrically evoked serotonin release while blocking A_1 , A_{2A} , or A3 receptors. Since no adenosine receptors were responsible for the inhibition by transient adenosine, we tested if 5HT_{1A} autoreceptors, most abundantly found in the DRN, regulate the inhibition of serotonin by adenosine.²¹ These presynaptic 5HT_{1A}

autoreceptors are densely packed at DRN and regulate serotonergic release through a negative feedback loop.^{18,21}

The selective 5HT_{1A} antagonist (S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride (5 µM, 5HT_{1A} IC₅₀=34 nM) was perfused over a WT slice for 30 minutes.⁴¹ Figure 5 shows the data. An electrical stimulation was performed without drug, then WAY 100135, a 5HT_{1A} antagonist, perfused and an electrical stimulation performed with no adenosine. The 5HT_{1A} antagonist did not alter electrically stimulated serotonin levels, similar to previous microdialysis studies that 5-HT_{1A} antagonists alone do not increase serotonin.⁴² Similar effects have been observed in previous studies using electrophysiology, where the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT (7-(dipropylamino)-5,6,7,8-tetrahydronapthalen-1-ol) also didn't change serotonin levels.^{41,43} Then, in the presence of $5HT_{1A}$ antagonist an electrical stimulation was performed with adenosine applied 10 s before, and finally a recovery stimulation with no adenosine and no drug was performed. There was no effect of adenosine on stimulated serotonin release in the presence of a 5HT_{1A} antagonist (Oneway ANOVA, n=3; p=0.3623). Pre-drug stimulated serotonin was similar to stimulated serotonin release in the presence of the 5-HT_{IA} antagonist and with adenosine puffed 10 s before serotonin stimulation. With perfusion of 5HT_{1A} antagonist drug, the inhibitory effect of transient adenosine was eliminated, indicating 5HT_{1A} autoreceptors tightly regulate DRN serotonergic release and are at least indirectly mediating the inhibitory effect of adenosine. Future studies could also use different 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor drugs to confirm the specificity of the drug, but this data suggests that serotonin autoreceptors are regulating the effects of adenosine to modulate serotonin.

Serotonin receptors tightly regulate its own local vesicular release through inhibitory 5- HT_{1A} autoreceptors.⁴⁴ These inhibitory somatodendritic autoreceptors are associated with K⁺ channels via G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (GiRK), which closely regulate basal serotonin levels via negative feedback loop.^{16,18} Activation of G $\alpha_{i/o}$ -coupled serotonin

autoreceptors upregulates K⁺ conductance, hyperpolarizes neuronal membranes, and generates fewer action potentials that suppresses neurotransmitter release in the extracellular space.⁴⁵ A₁ adenosine receptors, GABA receptors, 5-HT_{1A} receptors and D₁/D₂ dopamine receptors are some of the common receptors coupled with GiRK channel activation via GPCRs in the brain.⁴⁶ A potent 5HT_{1A} antagonist ((S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride, 5 µM), which blocks both pre and postsynaptic 5HT_{1A} autoreceptors, was perfused to examine if autoreceptors regulated the inhibition of serotonin release by adenosine.⁴¹ Stimulated serotonin levels do not change in the presence of the 5HT_{1A} antagonist, similar to previous studies.⁴² Interestingly, when transient adenosine was applied 10 s before serotonin stimulation in the presence of a 5HT_{1A} antagonist, there was no suppression of serotonin release. Thus, 5HT_{1A} inhibition blocked the inhibition of serotonin by transient adenosine.

The exact mechanism of how adenosine interacts with the serotonin autoreceptors is unknown. It is doubtful that adenosine acts directly at the serotonin autoreceptors, as no affinity for adenosine is known at serotonin receptors. Activation of 5-HT_{1A} leads to decreased cAMP concentrations; thus, adenosine may activate this pathway as well, by inhibition of adenylate cyclase producing cAMP.⁴⁷ There is a possibility of indirect inhibition pathway or cross coupled with other channels such as GiRK mediated by G- βγ subunits and Ca²⁺ channels that adenosine activates that feedback on serotonin levels or serotonin autoreceptors.⁴⁸ Adenosine increases GiRK channel conductance via A₁ receptors, which further depolarizes neuronal action potential and suppresses stimulated release in hippocampus.^{46,49} Similarly, changes in GiRK channel permeability are also associated with inhibitory GABA_B and auto-inhibitory 5HT_{1A} receptors, another possible inhibitory route to suppress DRN serotonin release.^{46,50} Further studies are needed to establish the direct inhibitory role of adenosine as our technique, FSCV, is limited to detecting rapid change in electroactive neurotransmitter release and cannot measure changes in basal levels of serotonin. These studies establish that adenosine is a transient inhibitory signal in the brain and that for serotonin, its own autoreceptors are more important for mediating the effects of adenosine than adenosine receptors. More work is needed to figure out the exact mechanisms of adenosine regulation of DRN serotonin release, and how adenosine may interact with other possible inhibitory pathways. However, this study establishes that adenosine is a transient important modulator of serotonin. Mechanical stimulation or shear stress, caused by injuries such as traumatic brain injury, cause transient adenosine release and may suppress serotonin release during transient injury events.^{4,14} Thus, adenosine is an important modulator of serotonin.



Figure 14. Adenosine modulation of serotonin release in the presence of selective $5HT_{1A}$ antagonist perfusion ((S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride, 5 μ M). Bars are normalized to the first serotonin stimulation (black). In the presence of WAY 100135, serotonin was stimulated without and then with adenosine applied 10 s before. The recovery is stimulated serotonin with normal aCSF. There is no significant difference in the stimulated serotonin (One-way ANOVA, n=3; p=0.3623).

2.4 Conclusions

In this study, we investigated modulation of adenosine on DRN serotonin release and tested the effects of adenosine receptors (A_1 , A_{2A} and A_3) and 5HT_{1A} autoregulatory receptors to mediate these effects in real-time using FSCV. Transient adenosine significantly inhibited serotonergic release in the first 20 seconds of adenosine injection, when adenosine was

elevated, and recovered to baseline as the adenosine was cleared from the extracellular space. There were no changes in stimulated serotonin release during continuous adenosine perfusion. Surprisingly, inhibitory effects were still observed in A₁ knock out mice in the first 10 seconds of adenosine injection. Moreover, perfusion of an A₁ antagonist or an A₃ antagonist drug did not abolish adenosine inhibition of serotonin release. Similarly, there were no changes in adenosine modulation of serotonin release in A_{2A} knock out mice with or without an A₁ antagonist. Thus, adenosine inhibited serotonin release in all cases blocking adenosine receptors, indicating adenosine receptors do not directly regulate the inhibition of serotonin release by adenosine. However, perfusing the 5HT_{1A} antagonist (S)-WAY 100135 dihydrochloride abolished the inhibitory effect of transient adenosine on serotonin release. Thus, transient adenosine transiently inhibits serotonin release, but does not directly act through adenosine receptors, but acts indirectly through 5HT_{1A} autoreceptors, which tightly control serotonin release at DRN. Understanding the neuromodulatory role of adenosine on release of serotonin helps to investigate and develop new therapeutic approach associated with injuries in the brain and other diseases of neuromodulation.

2.5 References

- Brundege, J. M.; Dunwiddie, T. V. Role of Adenosine as a Modulator of Synaptic Activity in the Central Nervous System. In *Advances in Pharmacology*; August, J. T., Anders, M. W., Murad, F., Coyle, J., Eds.; Academic Press, 1997; Vol. 39, pp 353–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3589(08)60076-9.
- (2) Cunha, R. A. Neuroprotection by Adenosine in the Brain: From A1 Receptor Activation to A2A Receptor Blockade. *Purinergic Signal.* **2005**, *1* (2), 111–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-005-0649-1.
- (3) Linden, J. Structure and Function of A1 Adenosine Receptors1. *FASEB J.* **1991**, *5* (12), 2668–2676. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.5.12.1916091.
- (4) Chang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Venton, B. J. A1 and A2A Receptors Modulate Spontaneous Adenosine but Not Mechanically Stimulated Adenosine in the Caudate. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2020**, *11* (20), 3377–3385. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00510.
- (5) Okada, M.; Mizuno, K.; Kaneko, S. Adenosine A1 and A2 Receptors Modulate Extracellular Dopamine Levels in Rat Striatum. *Neurosci. Lett.* **1996**, *212* (1), 53–56.
- (6) Sperlágh, B.; Vizi, E. S. The Role of Extracellular Adenosine in Chemical Neurotransmission in the Hippocampus and Basal Ganglia: Pharmacological and Clinical Aspects. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* **2011**, *11* (8), 1034–1046. https://doi.org/10.2174/156802611795347564.
- (7) Cunha, R. A. Adenosine as a Neuromodulator and as a Homeostatic Regulator in the Nervous System: Different Roles, Different Sources and Different Receptors. *Neurochem. Int.* 2001, 38 (2), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-0186(00)00034-6.
- (8) Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine and Neuroprotection. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 1997, 40, 259–280.
- (9) Ross, A. E.; Nguyen, M. D.; Privman, E.; Venton, B. J. Mechanical Stimulation Evokes Rapid Increases in Extracellular Adenosine Concentration in the Prefrontal Cortex. J. Neurochem. 2014, 130 (1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12711.
- (10) Chang, S.-Y.; Shon, Y. M.; Agnesi, F.; Lee, K. H. Microthalamotomy Effect during Deep Brain Stimulation: Potential Involvement of Adenosine and Glutamate Efflux. In 2009 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; 2009; pp 3294–3297. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5333735.
- (11) Ross, A. E.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Transiently Modulates Stimulated Dopamine Release in the Caudate–Putamen via A1 Receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **2015**, *132* (1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12946.
- (12) Dunwiddie, T. V.; Diao, L.; Proctor, W. R. Adenine Nucleotides Undergo Rapid, Quantitative Conversion to Adenosine in the Extracellular Space in Rat Hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* **1997**, *17* (20), 7673–7682. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-20-07673.1997.
- (13) Nguyen, M. D.; Lee, S. T.; Ross, A. E.; Ryals, M.; Choudhry, V. I.; Venton, B. J. Characterization of Spontaneous, Transient Adenosine Release in the Caudate-Putamen and Prefrontal Cortex. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9* (1), e87165. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087165.
- (14) Wang, Y.; Venton, B. J. Comparison of Spontaneous and Mechanically-Stimulated Adenosine Release in Mice. *Neurochem. Int.* **2019**, *124*, 46–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2018.12.007.
- (15) Ferré, S.; Fuxe, K.; von Euler, G.; Johansson, B.; Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine-Dopamine Interactions in the Brain. *Neuroscience* **1992**, *51* (3), 501–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(92)90291-9.
- (16) Adell, A.; Celada, P.; Abellán, M. T.; Artigas, F. Origin and Functional Role of the Extracellular Serotonin in the Midbrain Raphe Nuclei. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 2002, 39 (2–3), 154–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0173(02)00182-0.

- (17) Liu, C.; Meng, Z.; Wiggin, T. D.; Yu, J.; Reed, M. L.; Guo, F.; Zhang, Y.; Rosbash, M.; Griffith, L. C. A Serotonin-Modulated Circuit Controls Sleep Architecture to Regulate Cognitive Function Independent of Total Sleep in Drosophila. *Curr. Biol.* **2019**, *29* (21), 3635-3646.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.079.
- (18) Courtney, N. A.; Ford, C. P. Mechanisms of 5-HT1A Receptor-Mediated Transmission in Dorsal Raphe Serotonin Neurons. *J. Physiol.* **2016**, *594* (4), 953–965. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP271716.
- (19) Arborelius, L.; Nomikos, G. G.; Grillner, P.; Hertel, P.; Höök, B. B.; Hacksell, U.; Svensson, T. H. 5-HT1A Receptor Antagonists Increase the Activity of Serotonergic Cells in the Dorsal Raphe Nucleus in Rats Treated Acutely or Chronically with Citalopram. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **1995**, *352* (2), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00176769.
- (20) Fu, W.; Le Maître, E.; Fabre, V.; Bernard, J.-F.; David Xu, Z.-Q.; Hökfelt, T. Chemical Neuroanatomy of the Dorsal Raphe Nucleus and Adjacent Structures of the Mouse Brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **2010**, *518* (17), 3464–3494. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22407.
- (21) Huang, K. W.; Ochandarena, N. E.; Philson, A. C.; Hyun, M.; Birnbaum, J. E.; Cicconet, M.; Sabatini, B. L. Molecular and Anatomical Organization of the Dorsal Raphe Nucleus. *eLife* **2019**, *8*, e46464. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.46464.
- (22) Beyeler, A.; Ju, A.; Chagraoui, A.; Cuvelle, L.; Teixeira, M.; Di Giovanni, G.; De Deurwaerdère, P. Chapter 1 - Multiple Facets of Serotonergic Modulation. In *Progress in Brain Research*; Di Giovanni, G., De Deurwaerdere, P., Eds.; 5-HT Interaction with Other Neurotransmitters: Experimental Evidence and Therapeutic Relevance - Part B; Elsevier, 2021; Vol. 261, pp 3–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2021.02.002.
- (23) Feuerstein, T. J.; Hertting, G.; Jackisch, R. Modulation of Hippocampal Serotonin (5-HT) Release by Endogenous Adenosine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1985**, *107* (2), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(85)90063-9.
- (24) Feuerstein, T. J.; Bär, K. I.; Lücking, C. H. Activation of A1 Adenosine Receptors Decreases the Release of Serotonin in the Rabbit Hippocampus, but Not in the Caudate Nucleus. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **1988**, *338* (6), 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00165632.
- (25) Bjorness, T. E.; Greene, R. W. Adenosine and Sleep. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* **2009**, *7* (3), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015909789152182.
- (26) Bisserbe, J.; Patel, J.; Marangos, P. Autoradiographic Localization of Adenosine Uptake Sites in Rat Brain Using [3H]Nitrobenzylthioinosine. *J. Neurosci.* **1985**, *5* (2), 544–550. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.05-02-00544.1985.
- (27) Mössner, R.; Albert, D.; Persico, A. M.; Hennig, T.; Bengel, D.; Holtmann, B.; Schmitt, A.; Keller, F.; Simantov, R.; Murphy, D.; Seif, I.; Deckert, J.; Lesch, K. P. Differential Regulation of Adenosine A(1) and A(2A) Receptors in Serotonin Transporter and Monoamine Oxidase A-Deficient Mice. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. J. Eur. Coll. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2000, 10 (6), 489–493. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-977x(00)00119-x.
- (28) Feuerstein, T. J.; Bär, K. I.; Lücking, C. H. Activation of A1 Adenosine Receptors Decreases the Release of Serotonin in the Rabbit Hippocampus, but Not in the Caudate Nucleus. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **1988**, *338* (6), 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00165632.
- (29) Cathala, A.; Devroye, C.; Drutel, G.; Revest, J.-M.; Artigas, F.; Spampinato, U. Serotonin2B Receptors in the Rat Dorsal Raphe Nucleus Exert a GABA-Mediated Tonic Inhibitory Control on Serotonin Neurons. *Exp. Neurol.* **2019**, *311*, 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.09.015.
- (30) Liu, R.; Jolas, T.; Aghajanian, G. Serotonin 5-HT(2) Receptors Activate Local GABA Inhibitory Inputs to Serotonergic Neurons of the Dorsal Raphe Nucleus. *Brain Res.* 2000, 873 (1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(00)02468-9.

- (31) Venton, B. J.; Zhang, H.; Garris, P. A.; Phillips, P. E. M.; Sulzer, D.; Wightman, R. M. Real-Time Decoding of Dopamine Concentration Changes in the Caudate-Putamen during Tonic and Phasic Firing. *J. Neurochem.* **2003**, *87* (5), 1284–1295. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.02109.x.
- (32) Robinson, D. L.; Venton, B. J.; Heien, M. L. A. V.; Wightman, R. M. Detecting Subsecond Dopamine Release with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry in Vivo. *Clin. Chem.* 2003, 49 (10), 1763–1773. https://doi.org/10.1373/49.10.1763.
- (33) Jackson, B. P.; Dietz, S. M.; Wightman, R. M. Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry of 5-Hydroxytryptamine. *Anal. Chem.* **1995**, *67* (6), 1115–1120. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac00102a015.
- (34) Dunham, K. E.; Venton, B. J. Improving Serotonin Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry Detection: New Waveforms to Reduce Electrode Fouling. *Analyst* 2020, 145 (22), 7437– 7446. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0AN01406K.
- (35) Stucky, C.; Johnson, M. A. Improved Serotonin Measurement with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry: Mitigating Fouling by SSRIs. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* 2022, 169 (4), 045501. https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ac5ec3.
- (36) Beyene, A. G.; Delevich, K.; Del Bonis-O'Donnell, J. T.; Piekarski, D. J.; Lin, W. C.; Thomas, A. W.; Yang, S. J.; Kosillo, P.; Yang, D.; Prounis, G. S.; Wilbrecht, L.; Landry, M. P. Imaging Striatal Dopamine Release Using a Nongenetically Encoded near Infrared Fluorescent Catecholamine Nanosensor. *Sci. Adv.* **2019**, *5* (7), eaaw3108. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw3108.
- (37) Obrietan, K.; Belousov, A. B.; Heller, H. C.; van den Pol, A. N. Adenosine Pre- and Postsynaptic Modulation of Glutamate-Dependent Calcium Activity in Hypothalamic Neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* **1995**, *74* (5), 2150–2162. https://doi.org/10.1152/in.1995.74.5.2150.
- (38) Mitchell, J. B.; Lupica, C. R.; Dunwiddie, T. V. Activity-Dependent Release of Endogenous Adenosine Modulates Synaptic Responses in the Rat Hippocampus. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* **1993**, *13* (8), 3439–3447.
- (39) Pugliese, A. M.; Coppi, E.; Spalluto, G.; Corradetti, R.; Pedata, F. A3 Adenosine Receptor Antagonists Delay Irreversible Synaptic Failure Caused by Oxygen and Glucose Deprivation in the Rat CA1 Hippocampus in Vitro. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2006**, *147* (5), 524– 532. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0706646.
- (40) Ciruela, F.; Casadó, V.; Rodrigues, R. J.; Luján, R.; Burgueño, J.; Canals, M.; Borycz, J.; Rebola, N.; Goldberg, S. R.; Mallol, J.; Cortés, A.; Canela, E. I.; López-Giménez, J. F.; Milligan, G.; Lluis, C.; Cunha, R. A.; Ferré, S.; Franco, R. Presynaptic Control of Striatal Glutamatergic Neurotransmission by Adenosine A1–A2A Receptor Heteromers. *J. Neurosci.* **2006**, *26* (7), 2080–2087. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3574-05.2006.
- (41) Fletcher, A.; Bill, D. J.; Bill, S. J.; Cliffe, I. A.; Dover, G. M.; Forster, E. A.; Haskins, J. T.; Jones, D.; Mansell, H. L.; Reilly, Y. WAY100135: A Novel, Selective Antagonist at Presynaptic and Postsynaptic 5-HT1A Receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1993**, 237 (2–3), 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(93)90280-u.
- (42) Darmani, N. A.; Reeves, S. L. The Mechanism by Which the Selective 5-HT1A Receptor Antagonist S-(-) UH 301 Produces Head-Twitches in Mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **1996**, *55* (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(96)00072-x.
- (43) Cliffe, I. A.; Brightwell, C. I.; Fletcher, A.; Forster, E. A.; Mansell, H. L.; Reilly, Y.; Routledge, C.; White, A. C. (S)-N-Tert-Butyl-3-(4-(2-Methoxyphenyl)Piperazin-1-Yl)-2-Phenylpropanamide [(S)-WAY-100135]: A Selective Antagonist at Presynaptic and Postsynaptic 5-HT1A Receptors. *J. Med. Chem.* **1993**, *36* (10), 1509–1510. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00062a028.

- (44) Barnes, N. M.; Sharp, T. A Review of Central 5-HT Receptors and Their Function. *Neuropharmacology* **1999**, *38* (8), 1083–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3908(99)00010-6.
- (45) Chen, Y.; Penington, N. J. Differential Effects of Protein Kinase C Activation on 5-HT1A Receptor Coupling to Ca2+ and K+ Currents in Rat Serotonergic Neurones. *J. Physiol.* **1996**, *496* (1), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021670.
- (46) Jeremic, D.; Sanchez-Rodriguez, I.; Jimenez-Diaz, L.; Navarro-Lopez, J. D. Therapeutic Potential of Targeting G Protein-Gated Inwardly Rectifying Potassium (GIRK) Channels in the Central Nervous System. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2021**, *223*, 107808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2021.107808.
- (47) Rojas, P. S.; Fiedler, J. L. What Do We Really Know About 5-HT1A Receptor Signaling in Neuronal Cells? *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* **2016**, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2016.00272.
- (48) Polter, A. M.; Li, X. 5-HT1A Receptor-Regulated Signal Transduction Pathways in Brain. *Cell. Signal.* **2010**, 22 (10), 1406–1412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2010.03.019.
- (49) Kim, C. S.; Johnston, D. A1 Adenosine Receptor-Mediated GIRK Channels Contribute to the Resting Conductance of CA1 Neurons in the Dorsal Hippocampus. J. Neurophysiol. 2015, 113 (7), 2511–2523. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00951.2014.
- (50) Li, Y. F. A Hypothesis of Monoamine (5-HT) Glutamate/GABA Long Neural Circuit: Aiming for Fast-Onset Antidepressant Discovery. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2020**, *208*, 107494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107494.
- (51) *MRS 1220 Supplier* | *CAS 183721-15-5* | *MRS1220*. Tocris Bioscience. https://www.tocris.com/products/mrs-1220_1217 (accessed 2023-09-17).
- (52) DPCPX Supplier | CAS 102146-07-6. Tocris Bioscience. https://www.tocris.com/products/dpcpx_0439 (accessed 2023-09-17).
- (53) Teng, B.; Ledent, C.; Mustafa, S. J. Up-Regulation of A2B Adenosine Receptor in A2A Adenosine Receptor Knockout Mouse Coronary Artery. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **2008**, *44* (5), 905–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.03.003.
- (54) El-Awady, M. S.; Rajamani, U.; Teng, B.; Tilley, S. L.; Mustafa, S. J. Evidence for the Involvement of NADPH Oxidase in Adenosine Receptors-Mediated Control of Coronary Flow Using A(1) and A(3) Knockout Mice. *Physiol. Rep.* **2013**, *1* (3), e00070. https://doi.org/10.1002/phy2.70.

Chapter 3: Multiplexing FSCV and iGluSnFR3 sensors reveals adenosine transiently inhibits stimulated dopamine and glutamate release

Kailash Shrestha^{1*}, Yuanyu Chang^{1*}, Yajun Zhang², B. Jill Venton¹

Abstract

Simultaneous measurements of different neurotransmitters are challenging, but necessary, to understand neurotransmitter interactions in the brain. Genetically-encoded sensors have a high spatial resolution, but there are still limited colors, while electrochemistry provides high time resolution but only for a limited number of electroactive analytes. Here, we multiplexed fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) and genetically-encoded fluorescence sensors to simultaneously measure adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate to investigate the spatial and temporal profiles of adenosine neuromodulation. A genetically-encoded glutamate sensor (iGluSnFR3.v857) was expressed in the caudate-putamen region and then in a brain slice, a carbon-fiber microelectrode (CFME) was implanted to monitor electrically-stimulated dopamine release near cells expressing the glutamate sensor. Glutamate and dopamine release were inversely correlated, with areas with high stimulated glutamate release displaying low stimulated dopamine release and vice versa. Exogenous adenosine was applied locally to the brain slice, lasting 30 s, resulting in a transient inhibitory effect on both electrically-stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. Inhibition by adenosine was observed only within a 250 µm distance, showing regional inhibition effects. Dopamine and glutamate release recovered 10 minutes after adenosine injection. The A_1 receptor antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (DPCPX) blocked the adenosine inhibition of both glutamate and dopamine release, indicating adenosine has a global transient inhibition effect on dopamine and glutamate release via A1 receptor modulation. This study shows that multiplexing FSCV and fluorescence sensors (iGluSnFR3.v857) allows simultaneous monitoring of multiple neurotransmitters and reveals an overall transient inhibition by adenosine in the caudate.

Keywords: Multiplexing, Adenosine, Fast-scan cyclic voltammetry, Neuromodulator, Glutamate, Caudate-Putamen, Dopamine, A₁ receptors

3.1 Introduction

The brain uses chemical signals to transmit information after neuronal firing and neuromodulators can modulate that signaling through receptors to regulate neurotransmission.^{1,2} Adenosine is a ubiquitous neuromodulator in the brain and regulates functions such as blood flow and the sleep-wake cycle through rapid adenosine signaling via G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs).^{3–7} Adenosine regulates neurotransmitters such as dopamine and glutamate,^{8,9} specifically through abundant A₁ receptors by limiting adenyl cyclase formation and hyperpolarization of neurons.^{7,10} For example, transient adenosine inhibits phasic dopamine release in brain slices via A1 receptors.^{11–13} Similarly, extracellular adenosine inhibits excitatory glutamate release via presynaptic A₁ receptors.^{14–16} Most studies have examined adenosine modulation of one neuromodulator at a time, but it is crucial to monitor multiple neurotransmitters simultaneously to understand the dynamics and interactions between neurotransmitters in the complex system. Techniques such as microdialysis can monitor many neurotransmitters but have limitations of large probe size and low temporal resolution.¹⁷ Although neural circuits are well defined, the spatial and temporal dynamics of adenosine neuromodulation are not well defined because we have not had the tools to examine multiple neuromodulators simultaneously with high temporal and spatial resolution.

One of the most common electrochemical techniques for detecting electroactive neurotransmitters is carbon-fiber microelectrodes (CFMEs) coupled with fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV). FSCV is capable of monitoring multiple electroactive analytes with sub-second temporal resolution.¹⁸ FSCV has been used for multiplexed measurements of dopamine and adenosine co-transmission,¹⁹ and is best for understanding the rapid neuromodulatory effects of adenosine.^{20–22} Currents measured are proportional to extracellular neurotransmitter concentrations.^{23,24} FSCV has a high temporal resolution (100 ms) but FSCV is limited in spatial resolution and only detects electroactive neurochemicals released into the extracellular

space.^{25,26} Improvements are being made such as arrays for multiple-channel FSCV^{27,28} and enzyme and aptamer-based biosensors to expand electrochemical detection to nonelectroactive analytes.^{29–31} FSCV has been used to study adenosine modulation of dopamine,^{19,21} but multiplexing FSCV with other techniques would allow a greater array of neuromodulators to be studied simultaneously.

The toolkit for monitoring neuromodulators recently expanded with the introduction of genetically-encoded fluorescent sensors for directly monitoring neuromodulators *in vivo*.³² Some genetically-encoded sensors are constructed using bacterial periplasmic binding proteins (PBP), such as iGluSnFR3 and iSeroSnFR.^{33,34} Others are based on GPCRs tagged with a fluorophore that turns on after the neuromodulator binds to the modified GPCR,^{35–37} and sensors have been developed for a variety of neuromodulators including dopamine, acetylcholine, norepinephrine, serotonin, and adenosine.^{35–38} These sensors are compatible with live tissues with high molecular specificity and affinity similar to endogenous receptors with excellent spatial resolution.³³ Combined with advanced fluorescence microscopy, genetically-encoded sensors monitor neuromodulators with single-cell spatial resolution and millisecond temporal resolution.^{33,39} However, genetically encoded sensors do not provide concentration profiles and are limited to short-term measurements due to photobleaching. While there are genetically-encoded sensors for adenosine, glutamate, and dopamine and colors are expanding,^{36,40,41} multiplexing fluorescence and electrochemistry will enable the simultaneous detection of multiple analytes in real-time without interferences.

The goal of this study is to multiplex FSCV and genetically-encoded fluorescent sensors to monitor dopamine, adenosine, and glutamate to understand the range and temporal dynamics of adenosine neuromodulation on other neurotransmitters in the brain slice. We expressed iGluSnFR3.v857 in the caudate^{42,43} to record glutamate release and implant a carbon-fiber microelectrode (CFME) to monitor dopamine and adenosine in real-time after

adenosine application mimicking mechanically-induced release.^{21,44} iGluSnFR3.v857 has increased sensitivity, high specificity towards synaptic glutamate along with fast binding and decay time constat with respect to other iGluSnFR variants.³³ These sensors were expressed via sindbis viral vector in caudate putamen. Sindbis viral vector enables quick expression of sensor within 18-24 hours due to its inherent characteristics of rapid expression of the transferred gene in mammalian cells.⁴⁵ Combining two techniques, we observed inhibitory action of adenosine on stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in the caudate within a 250 µm range. Continuous perfusion of an A₁ receptor antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (DPCPX) blocked adenosine modulation of both glutamate and dopamine release, indicating the inhibition is modulated by A₁ receptors. This is the first experiment to demonstrate and simultaneously characterize adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate in real-time detection through multiplexing FSCV and genetically-encoded sensors (iGluSnFR3.v857). The study shows the utility of high spatial and temporal techniques for understanding the range and time course of adenosine neuromodulation of multiple electroactive and non-electroactive neuromodulators.

3.2 Methods:

3.2.1 Experimental design:

The experimental workflow for this project is shown in Figure 1A. No blinding or randomization was done to the allocated mice.

3.2.2 Sindbis injection and Brain slice preparation:

Wild-type mice (C57BL/6J male, RRID: IMSR_JAX:000664, 4-6 weeks, 22-24 g, Jackson lab) were used for multiplexing experiments. All experiments were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Virginia (Protocols number: 3517). A total of 40 mice were used for this project. All mice were group-housed, with 4 mice in each cage and maintaining a 12-12-hour day-night cycle with ad libitum access to food and water. The mouse
was deeply anesthetized by injecting Xylene (2 mg/kg, CAS # 23076-35-9; Bayer Healthcare) - ketamine (10 mg/kg, CAS # 1867-66-9, Zoetis Inc.) via intraperitoneal (i.p.) and positioned in a stereotaxic frame for Sindbis virus injection. Bupivacaine (0.05 ml, SKU 70069-0752-01; Somerset Therapeutics) was administered subcutaneously on the scalp to alleviate surgery pain. Using a hand driller, a small hole was drilled into the skull at the mentioned coordinates (bregma: anterior-posterior (AP): +1.0 mm; medial-lateral (ML): +1.8 mm). Each 1µL vial of Sindbis virus (titer volume: 2 x 10⁸ viral particles/ml) was diluted into three vials. A borosilicate glass capillary containing filament (1.2 mm OD and 0.94 mm ID) was loaded with 1.5 µL of Sindbis virus expressing iGluSnFR3.v857. The capillary was lowered (Dorsoventral) 3.5 mm deep from the dura and 1.0 µL (100 nL/min.) was injected into the caudate putamen region with the help of a nanoliter injector. Ketoprofen (2-5 mg/kg S.C, CAS # 22071-15-4) was injected intraperitonially to relieve pain due to surgery. 18 hours were given for viral vector expression and recovery, maintaining a 12-12-hour day-night cycle with ad libitum access to food and water.⁴⁶

Eighteen hours after injection, the mouse was anesthetized using isoflurane (0.5 ml, each ml contains 99.9% of isoflurane, Cat #: 26675-46-7; Covetrus) in the desiccator and decapitated. Skull was quickly removed and brain immediately transferred into a chilled oxygenated slicing buffer (0–5 °C, 95% O₂, 5% CO₂) containing (in mM) 2.5 KCl, 0.5 CaCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 7 MgCl₂.6H₂O, 110 Choline Chloride, and 25 Dextrose to maintain brain integrity. The brain was mounted on a stage with the support of agarose gel and sliced into 400 \Box M thickness using a vibratome (Leica VT, IL, USA). Slices of the caudate region were transferred to oxygen-saturated Ringer's buffer containing (in mM) 125 NaCl, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 1.3 MgCl₂.6H₂O, 2 CaCl₂, 25 Dextrose, 2.5 KCl, 25 NaHCO₃ maintained at 35°C and kept 40-45 minutes to recover.

3.2.3 Electrochemistry and *iGluSnFR3.v857* sensor imaging:

A single strand of T-650 carbon fiber (7 \Box m diameter, Cytec Engineering Materials, New Jersey) was aspirated into the glass capillary (1.2 mm O.D and 0.68 mm I.D) with the help of a vacuum pump and pulled into two carbon fiber microelectrodes (CFME) using a horizontal electrode puller (PE-21, Narishige, Japan). The exposed carbon fiber lengths were maintained within the range of 70-100 \Box m. CFMEs surfaces were cleaned by dipping into isopropanol for 15 minutes and backfilled with 1 mM of KCI solution. Electrodes were equilibrated in aCSF buffer by applying an adenosine waveform (-0.4 V, 1.45 V, 400 V/s scan rate at 10 Hz) at the CFMEs using a WaveNeuro FSCV potentiostat and HDCV software (Pine Research Instrument, NC). Electrodes were inserted 50-75 \Box m into the slice tissue to measure electrically-stimulated dopamine release, an electroactive neurotransmitter.

Brain slices expressing iGluSnFR3.v857 (Cat. # 175186, Addgene) were analyzed using wide-field epifluorescence imaging (Olympus) equipped with Hamamatsu ORCA-Flash 4.0 camera. After 45 minutes of recovery, the brain slice was transferred into the recording chamber with continuous perfusion of oxygen-saturated Ringer's buffer maintained at 35°C temperature. A homemade bipolar stimulation electrode (Biphasic Stimulus Isolator, Microprobes) was placed on the slice. iGluSnFR3.v857 expressed cells at the caudate were excited with a wavelength of 488 nm (Lumencor Light Engine, Sola) and recorded using 530 nm emission filter. Images were collected for 100 seconds at a 10 Hz frame rate, during which FSCV data were collected for the final 60 seconds. In each run, the slice was electrically stimulated at the 50-second mark to observe both dopamine and glutamate release through FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 respectively. Adenosine was puffed close to CFMEs, 5 seconds prior to electric stimulation. Stimulations were repeated at 10-minute time intervals.

3.2.4 Pharmacology:

A₁ receptor antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (DPCPX, CAS # 102146-07-6, Tocris) was dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO, CAS # 67-68-5, Sigma-Aldrich) and diluted in Ringer's buffer. After initial scans using a normal buffer, DPCPX (500 nM) was perfused for 30 minutes to analyze if adenosine mediates an inhibitory role on dopamine and glutamate release via A₁ receptors at the caudate putamen. During DPCPX perfusion, at the 20th minute, electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate responses were collected. Next, (1 mM) adenosine was puffed locally 5 seconds before electric stimulation. Finally, a recovery scan was collected 10 minutes later without adenosine in the absence of DPCPX. Animals were assigned to groups and not randomized.

3.2.5 Statistics

Sample sizes were not predetermined using statistical methods, however, the sample size used in this study is similar to previously reported publications (For example, in Figure 3D, Dopamine (nA) = 16 nA, given alpha = 0.05, power =0.9, constant (C) = 10.51, 20% differences = 3.2 nA).^{27,47} The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was carried out for normality testing. Statistical analyses were performed using PRISM 9 (GraphPad Software Inc., USA) and presented as "mean ± standard error" (SEM) for the provided "n" number of slices for each group. Outlier test was not performed. An un-paired t-test was performed to analyze correlation of electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. Similarly, an un-paired t-test was performed to compare the rise time and decay time of both stimulate dopamine and glutamate release. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was applied at 95 percentage confidence intervals to analyze the main significant effect of exogenous adenosine on dopamine and glutamate release in the absence or presence of DPCPX.

3.3 Results

Here, we multiplexed electrochemistry (FSCV) and fluorescence imaging (iGluSnFR3.v857) to simultaneously monitor adenosine modulation of electrically-stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in brain slices. The genetically-encoded glutamate sensor (iGluSnFR3.v857) was expressed in the caudate putamen using Sindbis virus, and brain slices were prepared 18 hours after injection. Figure 1A shows the experimental set-up, with a CFME and a stimulating electrode implanted near a cell expressing the fluorescent sensor. Electricallyevoked dopamine and glutamate release were simultaneously measured with FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 sensors respectively.

Adenosine (20 pmol) was applied 5 seconds before electric stimulation with a nanoinjector from a capillary tip (Figure 1B) and data was collected for 100 s. Figure 1C shows example traces of simultaneous detection of adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate. When the light for exciting fluorescence is first turned on, there is a brief change in the background current at the CFME due to the photoelectric effect. Thus, the stimulation was applied after 50 seconds of light exposure to allow the background to stabilize and enable stable background subtraction with FSCV.⁴⁸ When adenosine was puffed 5 s before the stimulation, the CFME immediately detected the adenosine signal, and it lasted around 30 s (Figure 1C), similar to mechanically-stimulated adenosine release.⁴⁹ The color plot and the background-subtracted cyclic voltammogram in Figure S1 proved the signal is adenosine. Dopamine and glutamate release were electrically stimulated 5 s after the adenosine traces in Figure 1C. Dopamine and glutamate were released simultaneously after electrical stimulation and cleared to the baseline after 2 seconds and 0.5 seconds, respectively. While it is difficult to know the relative time responses of the sensors, both are real-time sensors, so the glutamate signaling appears faster than the

dopamine signaling. Glutamate signals from expressed cells were confirmed with TTX treatment, and TTX blocked the response, showing it is not a stimulation artifact (Figure S2).

One advantage of multiplexing FSCV and fluorescence is that data is collected simultaneously. Figure 2 shows matched data for the simultaneous detection of glutamate release in brain slices near the stimulating electrode (without any adenosine). The relative release is inversely correlated, as higher dopamine release is correlated with lower glutamate signals and vice versa. Thus, higher glutamate measurements were correlated with lower dopamine, even though they were elicited in the same area with the same electrical stimulation. Future studies could further understand the possible modulation of dopamine by glutamate and reciprocal interactions.

A. iGluSnFR3 expression in mouse brain slice



B. iGluSnFR3 expressed cells with CFMEs







Figure 1. Multiplexing FSCV and the genetically-encoded fluorescent sensor (iGluSnFR3.v857) setup. A. Schematic of the design of imaging/FSCV experiments and slice preparation. CFME implanted near the glutamate-expressed sites. B. Fluorescent imaging of iGluSnFR3.v857, with arrows pointing to the CFME and capillary for adenosine injection. C. Example release traces of simultaneously detected adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate. Adenosine (20 *pmol*) was applied at 5 s by nanoinjector, and the electrical stimulation was applied at 10 s.



Figure 2: Paired results of electrically stimulated dopamine (DA) and glutamate (Glu) release before AD injection in the caudate-putamen region. A. Correlation of maximal signal for dopamine and glutamate (left panel). There is an inverse correlation. B. Rise time (s) for dopamine and glutamate measurements. (unpaired t-test; two-tailed test, t=3.509, df=30, p=0.0014; n=16) C. Decay time (t₅₀), which is the time to decay from the peak to 50% of the peak value (unpaired t-test; two-tailed, t=8.305, df=30, p<0.0001; n=16) Dopamine rise time and decay time are both larger than glutamate.

We characterized the regional effect of adenosine modulation on glutamate and dopamine release. Figure S3 shows the example image of the measurement, with multiple glutamate cells identified at different distances from the adenosine injection site. The top row of Figure 3 (A, C, E) shows the example traces of glutamate release from 3 different cells at different distances (<100 μ m, 100-250 μ m and >250 μ m) from the adenosine injection site for 3 different conditions: pre-adenosine, 5 seconds after adenosine injection, and recovery (no adenosine). Stimulations were performed 10 min apart, an interval where release is typically constant. Adenosine inhibits glutamate release at close range (within 100 µm) and the inhibition effect decreases as the distance increases from the injection site. After 250 µm, there was no effect of adenosine, showing that 250 µm is its effective range in modulating glutamate. After the stimulation with adenosine was applied, we repeated another stimulation 10 minutes later without adenosine (termed recovery (R) stimulation) and there was no inhibition of glutamate release, indicating that the rapid adenosine transiently inhibited glutamate. The bottom of Figure 3 (B, D, F) shows the average data and there was a main effect of adenosine on glutamate release (One-way ANOVA, **p<0.0012, ****p<0.0001, n=8). Within a 100 µm distance, adenosine application significantly decreases glutamate release by around 50%. As the

distance increases from 100 to 250 μ m, adenosine causes a 30% inhibition of glutamate release. At cells over 250 μ m away from the adenosine application site, there is no significant inhibition of glutamate (Figure 3F).

The inhibitory action of transient adenosine on electrically stimulated dopamine was also monitored at a CFME implanted near the adenosine injection site. Figures 3G and 3H show the adenosine modulation effect on dopamine, which was collected simultaneously with the glutamate data. The electrode was placed less than 100 μ m from the capillary filled with adenosine. Adenosine significantly transiently suppressed dopamine release by 50% after adenosine (One-way ANOVA, **p<0.0012, ****p<0.0001, n=8), matching previous findings.^{12,50} Therefore, adenosine simultaneously inhibits glutamate and dopamine release by about 50%, within 100 μ m of the adenosine release site. Moreover, the exogenous adenosine we applied modulates cells within a 250 μ m distance, indicating adenosine diffusion in the tissue is similar to the mechanically-stimulated adenosine effects of previous reports.¹²



Figure 3. Exogenous adenosine inhibits glutamate and dopamine release transiently. (A, C, E) Examples of iGluSnFR3.v857 response vs Time traces at different distances. Adenosine was injected 5 s before the electric stimulation and glutamate was measured at distances from the injection site: A. <100 μ m, C. 100-250 μ m, E. >250 μ m. (B, D, F). Average inhibition effect of adenosine on glutamate release at different distances from adenosine application B. <100 μ m, D. 100-250 μ m, F. >250 μ m. G. Concentration vs time traces of dopamine release <100 μ m. H. Averaged dopamine release with adenosine. Adenosine significantly inhibits dopamine release within <100 μ m range (One-way ANOVA, **p<0.0012, F_{2,21}=9.221, ****p<0.0001, F_{2,21}=20.32, n=8)

To ensure the inhibitory effect was caused by adenosine, we applied PBS injection as a control experiment. The same volume of PBS buffer was injected into the tissue, approximately 100 μ m from the iGluSnFR3.v857 expressed cells, 5 s before the stimulation. Figure 4A and B present example traces of stimulated glutamate and dopamine release after PBS injection, and there is no difference in the fluorescence or the electrochemical responses. The overall results in Figure 4C and D show that there is no significant effect of PBS injection on glutamate (One-way ANOVA, n=6, p=0.2760) and dopamine (One-way ANOVA, n=3, p=0.3042). Therefore, control data indicates that the decreased dopamine and glutamate signals are not due to the injection disturbance but because of the adenosine neuromodulation.



Figure 4. Control experiment by injecting PBS buffer. A) Example iGluSnFR3.v857 response vs time traces after injecting PBS at <100 μ m B) Example concentration vs time traces of stimulated dopamine release at <100 μ m from the site of injection. Overall effect of PBS injection on C) glutamate (One-way ANOVA, n=6, F_{2,15}=1.404, p=0.2760) and D) dopamine release (One-way ANOVA, n=3, F2,6=1.461, p=0.3042) at <100 μ m.

Adenosine receptors are abundant in the brain and are important for both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission modulation at the synapse.^{5,12,50} Previous studies show that perfusing A₁ receptor antagonist DPCPX eliminates adenosine inhibition of dopamine release.^{12,50–52} Here, we tested the effect of DPCPX to block the inhibitory effect of adenosine on both dopamine and glutamate release. We perfused a high dose of DPCPX (500 nM) for 20

minutes, then applied electrical stimulation to see baseline glutamate and dopamine responses with DPCPX. Traces with DPCPX were not different from pre-drug (Figure 5A, B). Next, with DPCPX perfusion, adenosine was injected into the tissue 5 s before the electrical stimulation to test the effects of adenosine. The example traces of glutamate in Figure 5A and dopamine in Figure 5B indicate that DPCPX blocks the modulation of glutamate by adenosine and so there is no effect of adenosine application. Finally, normal aCSF buffer was perfused for 10 minutes to wash out the DPCPX, and electrical stimulation was performed to test recovery, and the same magnitude of response was observed for each analyte. The overall results in Figure 5C show that there is no significant difference in stimulated glutamate with DPCPX or adenosine with DPCPX (One-way ANOVA, n=4, p=0.4360). Similarly, the dopamine results in Figure 5D showed no significant effect of DPCPX or adenosine with DPCPX on dopamine release (One-way ANOVA, n=4, p=0.6585). Therefore, adenosine modulation of glutamate and dopamine are both regulated by A₁ receptors.^{12,13,50}



Figure 5. Adenosine modulation of glutamate and dopamine is blocked by A₁ inhibitor DPCPX. A. Example of iGluSnFR3.v857 response vs time traces. B. Example of concentration vs time traces of stimulated dopamine release. C-D. Overall effect of DPCPX in the absence and presence of adenosine injection on glutamate (One-way ANOVA, n=6, $F_{3,20}$ =0.9485, p=0.4360) and dopamine release (One-way ANOVA, n=6, $F_{3,20}$ =0.5429, p=0.6585).

3.4 Discussion

Neuromodulators regulate physiological processes, especially neurotransmitter release in the brain. Understanding the rapid signaling chemistry involved in neurotransmission and modulation at the cellular level requires techniques with precise spatiotemporal resolution. In this study, we multiplexed two different techniques: FSCV for dopamine and adenosine detection and genetically-encoded fluorescence sensor iGluSnFR3.v857 for glutamate. Combining techniques facilitated the monitoring of three neurochemicals simultaneously, including electroactive (adenosine and dopamine) and non-electroactive analytes (glutamate). The main result is that transient adenosine reversibly inhibited both dopamine and glutamate release near the release site. The range of adenosine inhibition was about 250 µm. This inhibition was blocked in the presence of A₁ antagonist drug (DPCPX) indicating both glutamate and dopamine inhibition were regulated via presynaptic A₁ receptors. Measuring dopamine and glutamate simultaneously allowed the correlation of the neurotransmitters and dopamine release was higher when glutamate release was lower and thus the stimulated release was inversely correlated. Overall, multiplexing FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 allows real-time measurements of adenosine neuromodulation of dopamine and glutamate, showing both are transiently inhibited.

3.4.1 Multiplexing FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 measurements.

FSCV is a background subtraction technique that utilizes fast potential sweeping at a CFME to monitor rapidly changing electroactive compounds such as adenosine and dopamine.²⁵ The small carbon fiber is implantable into tissue with minimal tissue damage and small electrodes allow rapid scanning to detect and quantitate analytes on the sub-second timescale.⁵³ Generally, FSCV detects electroactive molecules spilled over in the extracellular spaces from the synaptic cleft and it is difficult to detect other non-electroactive neurotransmitters such as glutamate and GABA. Our lab pioneered the detection of both

dopamine and adenosine with FSCV and dopamine and adenosine have different oxidation potentials so they can be co-detected.^{12,54,55}

Genetically-encoded fluorescent proteins are expressed in the synapse on the membrane, and they are inherently highly sensitive and selective to specific molecules due to their protein engineering design.⁵⁶ Upon binding of the analyte, a fluorophore undergoes conformational changes resulting in fluorescence changes that are reversible when the analyte unbinds. In slices, a large area of fluorescence can be measured, so there is high spatiotemporal resolution. A variety of fluorophore probes are developed with different colors to monitor multiple analytes at the synaptic cleft. However, these fluorophore proteins are relatively large and can interfere with protein functionality, and undergo photobleaching when exposed to excitation light for a longer time.⁵⁶ In addition, nearly all genetically-encoded fluorescent sensors are used to measure changes in fluorescence over background, and thus they do not measure basal levels or absolute concentrations.^{32,57} iGluSnFR3.v857 was developed from a bacterial periplasmic binding protein engineered to bind glutamate and has been extensively used in glutamate measurements in the synapse.^{40,58}

In this study, we multiplexed FSCV and iGluSnFR3.v857 to monitor rapid changes of both dopamine and glutamate in the mouse brain slice. This is the first study to multiplex these techniques, although FSCV has been multiplexed with G-protein coupled fluorescent sensors for dopamine and serotonin.^{59,60} Applying a light to an electrode can change the background current due to the photoelectric effect, so to perform simultaneous measurements, we turned on the light for fluorescence 50 s before we collected data with FSCV to allow the background to stabilize. The carbon-fiber electrode, at 7 µm in diameter, detects dopamine in the extracellular space, not the synaptic cleft, whereas iGluSnFR3.v857 is expressed at the synapse and detects glutamate localized at the synapse. One advantage of measuring dopamine and glutamate simultaneously is to understand their levels in the same experiment. In this study, electrically-

stimulated dopamine level was relatively higher when glutamate was lower and vice-versa, an inverse correlation. Previous studies have shown that dopamine and glutamate can modulate each other even in the absence of direct synaptic connections.⁶¹ Usually, it's suggested that extracellular dopamine and glutamate in the extracellular space neuromodulate reciprocally.^{1,62} Dopamine and glutamate have a complex relationship in the caudate and are associated with different functional, cognitive, and limbic roles.^{62,63} For example, glutamate inhibits or excites dopamine depending on the receptors activated and the circuit.⁶³ While here we cannot say that dopamine and glutamate are modulating each other directly, we show that near the electrical stimulation electrode, there is an inverse correlation between dopamine and glutamate release that could be further investigated with multiplexed experiments.

We also studied the sensor time response for both dopamine and glutamate. Dopamine takes 0.5 s to reach the peak of its concentration whereas it takes around 0.3 s for glutamate to reach the peak concentration (Figure 2B). It is hard to directly compare the time responses of two such different techniques, but the slower rise in dopamine is likely due to the time needed to diffuse to the extracellular space for detection, while glutamate is measured in the synapse. Furthermore, we compared clearance times, or the time from reaching half of the maximum neurotransmitter concentration from the peak, for both neurotransmitters. On average, dopamine took more than 1 s to be cleared to half maximum concentration compared to 0.2 s for glutamate is likely rapidly cleared from the synapse to avoid excitotoxicity, while the dopamine in the extracellular space is volume transmission and likely diffuses longer before being cleared.^{64,65} Glutamate released at the synapse diffuses away from the synaptic cleft towards the extracellular space and is cleared by the glutamate transporters while for dopamine, clearance is mainly by the dopamine transporter.⁶⁶ Overall, multiplexing two different techniques helps to monitor the completely different nature of neurotransmitters simultaneously.

3.4.2 Rapid adenosine inhibits both adenosine and glutamate.

Adenosine is predominantly known as an inhibitory modulator and acts as a neuroprotective agent in conditions such as stroke.^{49,52} Previously our lab discovered two modes of transient adenosine release in multiple brain regions. Spontaneous release was about 2-3 s in duration and transiently modulates blood flow through A_{2A} receptors.^{19,21} Mechanically-stimulated adenosine is longer, lasting 20-30 s, and occurs with damage such as microelectrode implantation and brain injuries.²⁷ Here, we injected adenosine 5 seconds before electric stimulation with a nanoliter injector to mimic mechanically-stimulated adenosine, and transient adenosine lasted approximately 30 seconds at the working electrode before it was cleared (Figure 1C). In previous studies, we have shown that adenosine only modulated dopamine or serotonin release when it is elevated, and 40 s after adenosine is cleared it does not affect dopamine release.^{44, 47}

Exogenously applied adenosine temporarily inhibited electrically-stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in the caudate putamen.^{12,49,52} Adenosine inhibited glutamate and dopamine near the release site, when it was delivered 5 s before the stimulation, and during a recovery stimulation, 10 minutes later, there was no inhibition, indicating that the inhibition was transient. In previous studies, our lab demonstrated a regional effect of rapid adenosine using dual channel FSCV, where dopamine was inhibited to about 250 µm away from where it was applied, the same distance measured here with iGluSnFR3.v857 for glutamate.²⁷ Further from the adenosine application site, there is less inhibition because the amount of adenosine is lower due to clearance. Thus, adenosine only inhibits neurotransmission when it is elevated, and adenosine is cleared in about 250 µm.²⁷ Both dopamine and glutamate were inhibited by about 50% near the adenosine application site. Thus, adenosine provides a local, transient inhibition of both glutamate and dopamine, indicating that adenosine may act to cause transient neuromodulation to reduce neurotransmission during tissue damage. This inhibitory role of transient adenosine can be an important neuroprotective mechanism in situations such as hypoxia and brain injury. Spontaneous adenosine transients increase in the caudate during stroke,⁶⁷ and may dampen excitotoxic damage, known to happen in ischemia due to glutamate signaling. Thus, transient adenosine is causing local neuromodulation and inhibition, but on a rapid time scale. Multiplexing FSCV and fluorescence techniques allow simultaneous monitoring the transient neuromodulatory effects of adenosine on multiple neurotransmitters.

The caudate-putamen has a high expression of A₁ inhibitory receptors, and these receptors also form heteroreceptors.^{13,44,62} Adenosine A₁ receptors are abundantly present in the striatal neurons like dopaminergic and glutamatergic terminals. We hypothesized that adenosine acted at A₁ receptors to inhibit both stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. The inhibition of glutamate and dopamine release by adenosine was eliminated with the perfusion of DPCPX, an A₁ antagonist. Thus, adenosine acts through inhibitory A₁ receptors to dampen transient neuromodulation of adenosine on multiple neurotransmitters. Regulation of adenosine neuromodulation is the same for both dopamine and glutamate release, with receptors likely located on both neurons.

3.5 Conclusions

Overall, multiplexing of electrochemistry and fluorescence microscopy provides a better spatiotemporal resolution and overcomes the limitations of each technique. We demonstrated monitoring two different analytes by combining FSCV and fluorescence techniques simultaneously at the caudate region along with pharmacological studies. Adenosine transiently modulated both dopamine and glutamate release in the caudate putamen, with local effects limited to when and where adenosine is present. Thus, adenosine provides local, rapid neuromodulation of multiple neurotransmitters, which may lead to neuroprotective effects during brain injury.

3.6 References:

- Cai, Y.; Ford, C. P. Dopamine Cells Differentially Regulate Striatal Cholinergic Transmission across Regions through Corelease of Dopamine and Glutamate. *Cell Rep.* 2018, 25 (11), 3148-3157.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.11.053.
- (2) Saunders, A.; Granger, A. J.; Sabatini, B. L. Corelease of Acetylcholine and GABA from Cholinergic Forebrain Neurons. *eLife* **2015**, *4*, e06412. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06412.
- (3) Basheer, R.; Strecker, R. E.; Thakkar, M. M.; McCarley, R. W. Adenosine and Sleep-Wake Regulation. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 2004, 73 (6), 379–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.06.004.
- (4) Bekar, L.; Libionka, W.; Tian, G.-F.; Xu, Q.; Torres, A.; Wang, X.; Lovatt, D.; Williams, E.; Takano, T.; Schnermann, J.; Bakos, R.; Nedergaard, M. Adenosine Is Crucial for Deep Brain Stimulation-Mediated Attenuation of Tremor. *Nat. Med.* **2008**, *14* (1), 75–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1693.
- (5) Cechova, S.; Venton, B. J. Transient Adenosine Efflux in the Rat Caudate-Putamen. *J. Neurochem.* **2008**, *105* (4), 1253–1263. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05223.x.
- (6) Cunha, R. A. Adenosine as a Neuromodulator and as a Homeostatic Regulator in the Nervous System: Different Roles, Different Sources and Different Receptors. *Neurochem. Int.* 2001, 38 (2), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-0186(00)00034-6.
- (7) Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine and Neuroprotection. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 1997, 40, 259-280.
- (8) Boison, D. Adenosine Kinase, Epilepsy and Stroke: Mechanisms and Therapies. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **2006**, 27 (12), 652–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2006.10.008.
- (9) Martín, A.; Domercq, M.; Matute, C. Inflammation in Stroke: The Role of Cholinergic, Purinergic and Glutamatergic Signaling. *Ther. Adv. Neurol. Disord.* **2018**, *11*, 1756286418774267–1756286418774267. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756286418774267.
- (10) Cunha, R. A. Different Cellular Sources and Different Roles of Adenosine: A1 Receptor-Mediated Inhibition through Astrocytic-Driven Volume Transmission and Synapse-Restricted A2A Receptor-Mediated Facilitation of Plasticity. *Neurochem. Int.* 2008, 52 (1), 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2007.06.026.
- (11) Ganesana, M.; Venton, B. J. Early Changes in Transient Adenosine during Cerebral Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury. *PLOS ONE* **2018**, *13* (5), e0196932. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196932.
- (12) Ross, A. E.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Transiently Modulates Stimulated Dopamine Release in the Caudate-Putamen via A1 Receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **2015**, *132* (1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12946.
- (13) Nguyen, M. D.; Lee, S. T.; Ross, A. E.; Ryals, M.; Choudhry, V. I.; Venton, B. J. Characterization of Spontaneous, Transient Adenosine Release in the Caudate-Putamen and Prefrontal Cortex. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9* (1), e87165. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087165.
- (14) Buck, S. A.; Torregrossa, M. M.; Logan, R. W.; Freyberg, Z. Roles of Dopamine and Glutamate Co-Release in the Nucleus Accumbens in Mediating the Actions of Drugs of Abuse. *FEBS J.* **2021**, *288* (5), 1462–1474. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15496.
- (15) Brambilla, D.; Chapman, D.; Greene, R. Adenosine Mediation of Presynaptic Feedback Inhibition of Glutamate Release. *Neuron* **2005**, *46* (2), 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.03.016.
- (16) Nam, H. W.; McIver, S. R.; Hinton, D. J.; Thakkar, M. M.; Sari, Y.; Parkinson, F. E.; Haydon, P. G.; Choi, D.-S. Adenosine and Glutamate Signaling in Neuron–Glial Interactions: Implications in Alcoholism and Sleep Disorders. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 2012, *36* (7), 1117–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01722.x.

- (17) Jaquins-Gerstl, A.; Michael, A. C. A Review of the Effects of FSCV and Microdialysis Measurements on Dopamine Release in the Surrounding Tissue. *Analyst* 2015, 140 (11), 3696–3708. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4an02065k.
- (18) Zachek, M. K.; Park, J.; Takmakov, P.; Wightman, R. M.; McCarty, G. S. Microfabricated FSCV-Compatible Microelectrode Array for Real-Time Monitoring of Heterogeneous Dopamine Release. *The Analyst* **2010**, *135* (7), 1556–1563. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0an00114g.
- (19) Borgus, J. R.; Wang, Y.; DiScenza, D. J.; Venton, B. J. Spontaneous Adenosine and Dopamine Cotransmission in the Caudate-Putamen Is Regulated by Adenosine Receptors. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2021**, *12* (23), 4371–4379. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.1c00175.
- (20) Nguyen, M. D.; Wang, Y.; Ganesana, M.; Venton, B. J. Transient Adenosine Release Is Modulated by NMDA and GABAB Receptors. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2017, 8 (2), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.6b00318.
- (21) Ross, A. E.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Transiently Modulates Stimulated Dopamine Release in the Caudate-Putamen via A1 Receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **2015**, *132* (1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12946.
- (22) Wang, Y.; Venton, B. J. Comparison of Spontaneous and Mechanically-Stimulated Adenosine Release in Mice. *Neurochem. Int.* **2019**, *124*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2018.12.007.
- (23) Shin, M.; Wang, Y.; Borgus, J. R.; Venton, B. J. Electrochemistry at the Synapse. *Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *12* (1), 297–321. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anchem-061318-115434.
- (24) Nguyen, M. D.; Venton, B. J. Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for the Characterization of Rapid Adenosine Release. *Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J.* 2015, *13*, 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2014.12.006.
- (25) Venton, B. J.; Cao, Q. Fundamentals of Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for Dopamine Detection. *Analyst* **2020**, *145*, 1158–1168. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN01586H.
- (26) Puthongkham, P.; Venton, B. J. Recent Advances in Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry. *Analyst* **2020**, *145*, 1087–1102. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN01925A.
- (27) Chang, Y.; Venton, B. J. Dual-Channel Electrochemical Measurements Reveal Rapid Adenosine Is Localized in Brain Slices. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2022**, *13* (4), 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.1c00679.
- (28) Guitchounts, G.; Cox, D. 64-Channel Carbon Fiber Electrode Arrays for Chronic Electrophysiology. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10* (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60873-y.
- (29) Clay, M.; Monbouquette, H. G. A Detailed Model of Electroenzymatic Glutamate Biosensors to Aid in Sensor Optimization and in Applications in Vivo. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2018**, 9 (2), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00262.
- (30) Batra, B.; Yadav, M.; Pundir, C. S. L-Glutamate Biosensor Based on I-Glutamate Oxidase Immobilized onto ZnO Nanorods/Polypyrrole Modified Pencil Graphite Electrode. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *105*, 428–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.10.012.
- (31) Ganesana, M.; Trikantzopoulos, E.; Maniar, Y.; Lee, S. T.; Venton, B. J. Development of a Novel Micro Biosensor for in Vivo Monitoring of Glutamate Release in the Brain. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2019, 130, 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019.01.049.
- (32) Dong, C.; Zheng, Y.; Long-Iyer, K.; Wright, E. C.; Li, Y.; Tian, L. Fluorescence Imaging of Neural Activity, Neurochemical Dynamics, and Drug-Specific Receptor Conformation with Genetically Encoded Sensors. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* **2022**, *45* (1), 273–294. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-110520-031137.
- (33) Aggarwal, A.; Liu, R.; Chen, Y.; Ralowicz, A. J.; Bergerson, S. J.; Tomaska, F.; Mohar, B.; Hanson, T. L.; Hasseman, J. P.; Reep, D.; Tsegaye, G.; Yao, P.; Ji, X.; Kloos, M.; Walpita,

D.; Patel, R.; Mohr, M. A.; Tillberg, P. W.; Looger, L. L.; Marvin, J. S.; Hoppa, M. B.; Konnerth, A.; Kleinfeld, D.; Schreiter, E. R.; Podgorski, K. Glutamate Indicators with Improved Activation Kinetics and Localization for Imaging Synaptic Transmission. *Nat. Methods* **2023**, *20* (6), 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-023-01863-6.

- (34) Unger, E. K.; Keller, J. P.; Altermatt, M.; Liang, R.; Matsui, A.; Dong, C.; Hon, O. J.; Yao, Z.; Sun, J.; Banala, S.; Flanigan, M. E.; Jaffe, D. A.; Hartanto, S.; Carlen, J.; Mizuno, G. O.; Borden, P. M.; Shivange, A. V.; Cameron, L. P.; Sinning, S.; Underhill, S. M.; Olson, D. E.; Amara, S. G.; Temple Lang, D.; Rudnick, G.; Marvin, J. S.; Lavis, L. D.; Lester, H. A.; Alvarez, V. A.; Fisher, A. J.; Prescher, J. A.; Kash, T. L.; Yarov-Yarovoy, V.; Gradinaru, V.; Looger, L. L.; Tian, L. Directed Evolution of a Selective and Sensitive Serotonin Sensor via Machine Learning. *Cell* **2020**, *183* (7), 1986–2002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.040.
- (35) Feng, J.; Zhang, C.; Lischinsky, J. E.; Jing, M.; Zhou, J.; Wang, H.; Zhang, Y.; Dong, A.; Wu, Z.; Wu, H.; Chen, W.; Zhang, P.; Zou, J.; Hires, S. A.; Zhu, J. J.; Cui, G.; Lin, D.; Du, J.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensor for Rapid and Specific In Vivo Detection of Norepinephrine. *Neuron* **2019**, *102* (4), 745–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.037.
- (36) Sun, F.; Zhou, J.; Dai, B.; Qian, T.; Zeng, J.; Li, X.; Zhuo, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Qian, C.; Tan, K.; Feng, J.; Dong, H.; Lin, D.; Cui, G.; Li, Y. Next-Generation GRAB Sensors for Monitoring Dopaminergic Activity in Vivo. *Nat. Methods* **2020**, *17* (11), 1156–1166. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-020-00981-9.
- (37) Wan, J.; Peng, W.; Li, X.; Qian, T.; Song, K.; Zeng, J.; Deng, F.; Hao, S.; Feng, J.; Zhang, P.; Zhang, Y.; Zou, J.; Pan, S.; Zhu, J. J.; Jing, M.; Xu, M.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded GRAB Sensor for Measuring Serotonin Dynamics in Vivo. *bioRxiv* **2020**, 2020.02.24.962282. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.24.962282.
- (38) Kozma, E.; Suresh Jayasekara, P.; Squarcialupi, L.; Paoletta, S.; Moro, S.; Federico, S.; Spalluto, G.; Jacobson, K. A. Fluorescent Ligands for Adenosine Receptors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2013**, *23* (1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2012.10.112.
- (39) Zheng, W. S.; Zhang, Y.; Zhu, R. E.; Zhang, P.; Gupta, S.; Huang, L.; Sahoo, D.; Guo, K.; Glover, M. E.; Vadodaria, K. C.; Li, M.; Qian, T.; Jing, M.; Feng, J.; Wan, J.; Borden, P. M.; Ali, F.; Kwan, A. C.; Gan, L.; Lin, L.; Gage, F. H.; Venton, B. J.; Marvin, J. S.; Podgorski, K.; Clinton, S. M.; Zhang, M.; Looger, L. L.; Li, Y.; Zhu, J. J. GESIAP: A Versatile Genetically Encoded Sensor-Based Image Analysis Program. *bioRxiv* 2022, 2022.10.05.511006. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.10.05.511006.
- (40) Marvin, J. S.; Scholl, B.; Wilson, D. E.; Podgorski, K.; Kazemipour, A.; Muller, J. A.; Schoch, S.; Quiroz, F. J. U.; Rebola, N.; Bao, H.; Little, J. P.; Tkachuk, A. N.; Cai, E.; Hantman, A. W.; Wang, S. S.-H.; DePiero, V. J.; Borghuis, B. G.; Chapman, E. R.; Dietrich, D.; DiGregorio, D. A.; Fitzpatrick, D.; Looger, L. L. Stability, Affinity, and Chromatic Variants of the Glutamate Sensor iGluSnFR. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15* (11), 936–939. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0171-3.
- (41) Wu, Z.; Cui, Y.; Wang, H.; Song, K.; Yuan, Z.; Dong, A.; Wu, H.; Wan, Y.; Pan, S.; Peng, W.; Jing, M.; Xu, M.; Luo, M.; Li, Y. A GRAB Sensor Reveals Activity-Dependent Non-Vesicular Somatodendritic Adenosine Release. *bioRxiv* 2020, 2020.05.04.075564. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.04.075564.
- (42) Szczypka, M. S.; Kwok, K.; Brot, M. D.; Marck, B. T.; Matsumoto, A. M.; Donahue, B. A.; Palmiter, R. D. Dopamine Production in the Caudate Putamen Restores Feeding in Dopamine-Deficient Mice. *Neuron* **2001**, *30* (3), 819–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00319-1.
- (43) Sabatini, B. L.; Tian, L. Imaging Neurotransmitter and Neuromodulator Dynamics In Vivo with Genetically Encoded Indicators. *Neuron* **2020**, *108* (1), 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.09.036.

- (44) Ross, A. E.; Nguyen, M. D.; Privman, E.; Venton, B. J. Mechanical Stimulation Evokes Rapid Increases in Extracellular Adenosine Concentration in the Prefrontal Cortex. *J. Neurochem.* **2014**, *130* (1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12711.
- (45) Kuramoto, E. Method for Labeling and Reconstruction of Single Neurons Using Sindbis Virus Vectors. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 2019, 100, 101648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2019.05.002.
- (46) Jing, M.; Zhang, P.; Wang, G.; Feng, J.; Mesik, L.; Zeng, J.; Jiang, H.; Wang, S.; Looby, J. C.; Guagliardo, N. A.; Langma, L. W.; Lu, J.; Zuo, Y.; Talmage, D. A.; Role, L. W.; Barrett, P. Q.; Zhang, L. I.; Luo, M.; Song, Y.; Zhu, J. J.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Acetylcholine Indicator for in Vitro and in Vivo Studies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2018, 36, 726–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4184.
- (47) Shrestha, K.; Venton, B. J. Transient Adenosine Modulates Serotonin Release Indirectly in the Dorsal Raphe Nuclei. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2024**, *15* (4), 798–807. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.3c00687.
- (48) Privman, E.; Venton, B. J. Comparison of Dopamine Kinetics in the Larval Drosophila Ventral Nerve Cord and Protocerebrum with Improved Optogenetic Stimulation. J. Neurochem. 2015, 135 (4), 695–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13286.
- (49) Chang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Venton, B. J. A1 and A2A Receptors Modulate Spontaneous Adenosine but Not Mechanically Stimulated Adenosine in the Caudate. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2020**, *11* (20), 3377–3385. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00510.
- (50) Borgus, J. R.; Wang, Y.; DiScenza, D. J.; Venton, B. J. Spontaneous Adenosine and Dopamine Cotransmission in the Caudate-Putamen Is Regulated by Adenosine Receptors. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2021**, *12* (23), 4371–4379. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.1c00175.
- (51) Ferré, S.; Fuxe, K.; von Euler, G.; Johansson, B.; Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine-Dopamine Interactions in the Brain. *Neuroscience* **1992**, *51* (3), 501–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(92)90291-9.
- (52) Cunha, R. A. Neuroprotection by Adenosine in the Brain: From A(1) Receptor Activation to A (2A) Receptor Blockade. *Purinergic Signal.* 2005, 1 (2), 111–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-005-0649-1.
- (53) Venton, B. J.; Cao, Q. Fundamentals of Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for Dopamine Detection. *Analyst* **2020**, *145*, 1158–1168. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN01586H.
- (54) Puthongkham, P.; Rocha, J.; Borgus, J. R.; Ganesana, M.; Wang, Y.; Chang, Y.; Gahlmann, A.; Venton, B. J. Structural Similarity Image Analysis for Detection of Adenosine and Dopamine in Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry Color Plots. *Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *92* (15), 10485–10494. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.0c01214.
- (55) Swamy, B. E. K.; Venton, B. J. Subsecond Detection of Physiological Adenosine Concentrations Using Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry. *Anal. Chem.* **2007**, 79 (2), 744–750. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac061820i.
- (56) Petty, H. R. Fluorescence Microscopy: Established and Emerging Methods, Experimental Strategies, and Applications in Immunology. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 2007, 70 (8), 687–709. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.20455.
- (57) Wu, Z.; Lin, D.; Li, Y. Pushing the Frontiers: Tools for Monitoring Neurotransmitters and Neuromodulators. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2022**, 23 (5), 257–274. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-022-00577-6.
- (58) Marvin, J. S.; Borghuis, B. G.; Tian, L.; Cichon, J.; Harnett, M. T.; Akerboom, J.; Gordus, A.; Renninger, S. L.; Chen, T.-W.; Bargmann, C. I.; Orger, M. B.; Schreiter, E. R.; Demb, J. B.; Gan, W.-B.; Hires, S. A.; Looger, L. L. An Optimized Fluorescent Probe for Visualizing Glutamate Neurotransmission. *Nat. Methods* **2013**, *10* (2), 162–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2333.

- (59) Wan, J.; Peng, W.; Li, X.; Qian, T.; Song, K.; Zeng, J.; Deng, F.; Hao, S.; Feng, J.; Zhang, P.; Zhang, Y.; Zou, J.; Pan, S.; Shin, M.; Venton, B. J.; Zhu, J. J.; Jing, M.; Xu, M.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Sensor for Measuring Serotonin Dynamics. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2021, 24 (5), 746–752. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00823-7.
- (60) Salinas, A. G.; Lee, J. O.; Augustin, S. M.; Zhang, S.; Patriarchi, T.; Tian, L.; Morales, M.; Mateo, Y.; Lovinger, D. M. Distinct Sub-Second Dopamine Signaling in Dorsolateral Striatum Measured by a Genetically-Encoded Fluorescent Sensor. *Nat. Commun.* 2023, 14 (1), 5915. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-41581-3.
- (61) Morari, M.; Marti, M.; Sbrenna, S.; Fuxe, K.; Bianchi, C.; Beani, L. Reciprocal Dopamine-Glutamate Modulation of Release in the Basal Ganglia. *Neurochem. Int.* **1998**, *33* (5), 383– 397. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-0186(98)00052-7.
- (62) Borycz, J.; Pereira, M. F.; Melani, A.; Rodrigues, R. J.; Köfalvi, A.; Panlilio, L.; Pedata, F.; Goldberg, S. R.; Cunha, R. A.; Ferré, S. Differential Glutamate-Dependent and Glutamate-Independent Adenosine A 1 Receptor-Mediated Modulation of Dopamine Release in Different Striatal Compartments. *J. Neurochem.* **2007**, *101* (2), 355–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04386.x.
- (63) David, H. N.; Ansseau, M.; Abraini, J. H. Dopamine–Glutamate Reciprocal Modulation of Release and Motor Responses in the Rat Caudate–Putamen and Nucleus Accumbens of "Intact" Animals. *Brain Res. Rev.* 2005, *50* (2), 336–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2005.09.002.
- (64) Camacho, A.; Massieu, L. Role of Glutamate Transporters in the Clearance and Release of Glutamate during Ischemia and Its Relation to Neuronal Death. *Arch. Med. Res.* 2006, 37 (1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2005.05.014.
- (65) Fuxe, K.; Agnati, L. F.; Marcoli, M.; Borroto-Escuela, D. O. Volume Transmission in Central Dopamine and Noradrenaline Neurons and Its Astroglial Targets. *Neurochem. Res.* 2015, 40 (12), 2600–2614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-015-1574-5.
- (66) Venton, B. J.; Zhang, H.; Garris, P. A.; Phillips, P. E. M.; Sulzer, D.; Wightman, R. M. Real-Time Decoding of Dopamine Concentration Changes in the Caudate-Putamen during Tonic and Phasic Firing. *J. Neurochem.* **2003**, *87* (5), 1284–1295. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.02109.x.
- (67) Ganesana, M.; Venton, B. J. Early Changes in Transient Adenosine during Cerebral Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury. *PLOS ONE* 2018, *13* (5), e0196932. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196932.

Chapter 4: Neuroprotective role of adenosine receptors on dopamine and glutamate release during transient oxygen glucose deprivation (OGD)

Kailash Shrestha, B. Jill Venton

Abstract

The striatum is one of the brain regions most sensitive to ischemia, triggering a massive release of neurotransmitters such as dopamine and glutamate into the extracellular space. This excessive neurotransmitter release causes excitotoxicity and leads to neuronal damage. Our understanding remains limited of how oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) affects the stimulated release and interactions of multiple neurotransmitters, so here we combined fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) and fluorescence imaging of iGluSnFR3 to simultaneously monitor stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in real time during OGD and reperfusion. We investigate the neuroprotective role of adenosine A1 and A2A receptors during ischemia. Transient ischemia significantly reduces stimulated dopamine and glutamate release to about 50%, with this suppression persisting for an additional 30 minutes after reperfusion with oxygenated buffer. Dopamine release dipped lower during reperfusion, but recovered near to baseline 90 minutes after OGD, whereas glutamate was only at 50% of release even after 90 minutes. In A2AKO mice, while OGD still significantly decreased both dopamine and glutamate release, glutamate recovered more than in WT mice. In mice treated with the A1 antagonist DPCPX, there was no significant effect of OGD or reperfusion on glutamate release, showing A1 antagonist was neuroprotective. Dopamine still decreased 30 min after reperfusion but recovered more quickly in WT mice. Thus, both A1 and A2A adenosine receptors play a neuroprotective role against transient ischemic insults, with different time courses of effects for stimulated dopamine and glutamate.

4.1 Introduction

Adenosine is a non-classical neurotransmitter that is ubiquitously distributed in the brain and functions as a local neuromodulator maintaining homeostasis and synaptic functions.^{1,2} Extracellular adenosine binds to and activates four G-protein-coupled receptors—A1, A2A, A2B, and A3—each of which mediates a variety of physiological effects.^{3–6} Adenosine exhibits neuroprotective effects by rapid release in the extracellular spaces to micromolar range and activating corresponding adenosine receptors during events like ischemia and traumatic brain injury.⁷

According to the American Heart Association, ischemic stroke was the second leading cause of death globally in 2019 and remains a significant contributor to long-term disability.8 Ischemic stroke occurs due to a transient or permanent reduction in blood flow to a brain region, typically caused by a thrombotic or embolic event in a cerebral artery.^{9,10} One of the earliest pathological events following ischemia is a rapid increase in extracellular adenosine after ATPmetabolism. Reduced ATP production is followed by glutamate excitotoxicity, which is accompanied by acidosis, ionic imbalance, inflammation, oxidative stress, and peri-infarct depolarization, ultimately leading to cell death.^{11–13} Oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) is a way to mimic ischemia in tissue slices, and it results in the release of adenosine.^{14,15} Adenosine receptors play a neuroprotective role in this pathological response. The neuroprotective effects of adenosine are primarily attributed to the well-established inhibitory influence of A1 receptor activation on synaptic transmission.¹⁶ Activation of A1 receptors plays a neuroprotective role by hyperpolarizing neurons, reducing glutamate release, and consequently minimizing neuronal and brain injuries, particularly during hypoxic and ischemic conditions.^{6,14,17} Selectively blockade of A2A receptors also exhibited neuroprotective role against ischemic injury in the hippocampus and striatum.¹⁸ However, the effect of these adenosine receptors on other neurotransmitter release is not known.

The striatum, along with the CA1 region of the hippocampus, is highly susceptible to ischemia.^{19,20} Medium-spiny neurons in the striatum are particularly vulnerable to ischemic damage. Cerebral ischemia triggers the excessive release of neurotransmitters such as glutamate due to reduced cytosolic ATP level and plasma membrane NA+/K+-ATPase activity, disrupting ion gradients across the membrane, resulting in neuronal depolarization.²¹ Thus, an abrupt imbalance of extracellular K+ level causes vesicular release of glutamate, activating AMPA and NMDA receptors.^{11,12,21} Furthermore, NMDA receptor activation contributes to neuronal depolarization and Ca2+ influx, which further potentiates depolarization ultimately leading to neuronal injury.^{12,22} During ischemic events, excess release of other neurotransmitters such as dopamine and serotonin causes depletion of neurotransmitter pools, excessive receptor activation, and neuronal death.^{23,24}

The goal of this study is to determine how adenosine receptors exert neuroprotective effects over stimulated dopamine and glutamate release during transient OGD in the striatum. We used acute mouse brain slices, which preserve neuro-glial interactions and allow for pharmacological testing under controlled OGD conditions. Using a combination of fast-scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) to detect dopamine and fluorescence iGluSnFR3 to detect glutamate, we simultaneously monitored electrically evoked dopamine and glutamate release. The results showed that OGD significantly reduced stimulated dopamine and glutamate release, with more prolonged effects on glutamate. Glutamate recovered better in A2AKO mice while A1 antagonist DPCPX reduced inhibitory effect of OGD on stimulated dopamine and preserved stimulated glutamate release during OGD. Thus, adenosine receptors play a neuroprotective role during transient OGD and could be a target for treatment of ischemia.

4.2 Methods:

4.2.1 Chemicals:

All chemical reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. The artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) buffer was composed of 126 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 1.2 mM NaH₂PO₄, 2.4 mM CaCl₂·2H₂O, 1.2 mM MgCl₂·6H₂O, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 11 mM glucose, and 15 mM tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane, all dissolved in deionized water (Milli-Q Biocel; Millipore, USA). The aCSF was freshly prepared each day, with the pH adjusted to 7.4. The slicing buffer contained (in mM): 2.5 KCl, 0.5 CaCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 7 MgCl₂·6H₂O, 110 choline chloride, and 25 dextrose with pH of 7.4. Glucose was replaced with equimolar concentration of sucrose for OGD buffer.

DPCPX (an A1 adenosine receptor antagonist) and D-AP5 (an NMDA receptor antagonist) were purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Minneapolis, USA). DPCPX (10 μ M) and D-AP5 (50 μ M) solutions were freshly prepared by dissolving the compounds in 1 mL of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) using sonication, followed by dilution in aCSF buffer.

4.2.2 AAV injection and Brain slice preparation:

Wild-type male C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Lab, 6–8 weeks old, 22–24 g) and A2A receptor knockout (A2AKO) mice (Mustafa Lab, West Virginia University, 6–8 weeks old, 22–24 g) were used for oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) experiments.²⁵ Each cage housed four mice, maintained under a 12-hour light/dark cycle with ad libitum access to food and water. All animal experiments were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Virginia.

All surgical procedures were performed on anesthetized mice (xylazine, 2 mg/kg, and ketamine, 10 mg/kg, administered via intraperitoneal injection) fixed in a stereotaxic frame for

adeno-associated virus (AAV) injection (~750–1000 nL). To minimize surgical pain, bupivacaine (0.05 mL, 2.5 mg/mL) was administered subcutaneously to the scalp. A small hole was drilled into the skull at the specified coordinates (bregma: anterior-posterior (AP): +1.2 mm; medial-lateral (ML): +1.2 mm) using a microdrill. A Hamilton syringe loaded with AAV was lowered 3.0 mm dorsoventrally from the dura and injected into the caudate-putamen region using a nanoliter injector. Post-surgical pain was managed with ketoprofen (2–5 mg/kg, administered intramuscularly or subcutaneously). Mice were allowed to recover for three weeks to ensure viral vector expression, while maintaining a 12-hour light/dark cycle with free access to food and water.

For brain slice preparation, mice were anesthetized using isoflurane (Cat #: 26675-46-7; Covetrus; each mL contains 99.9% isoflurane) in a desiccator and then decapitated. The skull was rapidly removed, and the brain was immediately transferred to chilled, oxygenated slicing buffer (0–5°C, 95% O₂, 5% CO₂) to maintain tissue integrity. The brain was mounted on a vibratome stage with agarose gel support and sliced into 300-µm-thick sections using a vibratome (Leica VT, IL, USA). Slices of the caudate-putamen region were then transferred to oxygen-saturated aCSF buffer containing (in mM): 125 NaCl, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 1.3 MgCl₂·6H₂O, 2 CaCl₂, 25 dextrose, 2.5 KCl, and 25 NaHCO₃. The buffer was maintained at 32°C, and slices were allowed to recover for 30 minutes before experimentation.

4.2.3 Electrochemistry and *iGluSnFR3* sensor imaging:

A single strand of T-650 carbon fiber (7 μ m diameter, Cytec Engineering Materials, New Jersey) was aspirated into a glass capillary (1.2 mm outer diameter, 0.68 mm inner diameter) using a vacuum pump and pulled into two carbon fiber microelectrodes (CFMEs) with a horizontal electrode puller (PE-21, Narishige, Japan). The exposed carbon fiber lengths were maintained within a range of 70–100 μ m. To ensure cleanliness, the CFMEs were soaked in isopropanol for 15 minutes and then backfilled with a 1 mM KCl solution. Electrodes were

equilibrated in aCSF buffer by applying an adenosine waveform (-0.4 V to 1.45 V, 400 V/s scan rate at 10 Hz) using a WaveNeuro FSCV potentiostat and HDCV software (Pine Research Instrument, NC). Electrodes were inserted 70–100 μ m into the brain slice tissue to measure electrically stimulated (12 pulse, 300 μ A) dopamine release, an electroactive neurotransmitter.

Brain slices expressing iGluSnFR3 (Addgene, Cat # 106174-AAV1) in the caudateputamen were analyzed using wide-field epifluorescence imaging (Olympus) equipped with a Hamamatsu ORCA-Flash 4.0 camera. After 30 minutes of recovery at 32°C, the brain slice was transferred to a recording chamber with continuous perfusion of oxygen-saturated aCSF buffer maintained at 32°C. A custom-made bipolar stimulation electrode (Biphasic Stimulus Isolator, Microprobes) was placed on the slice. iGluSnFR3-expressing cells in the caudate were excited with a 488 nm wavelength light source (Lumencor Light Engine, Sola), and emissions were recorded using a 530 nm filter.

Images were acquired for 50 seconds at a 10 Hz frame rate, while FSCV data were collected for 25 seconds. Electrical stimulation was applied to measure both stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. Stimulations were repeated at 10-minute intervals. From each slice, three pre-OGD, one OGD, and 12 recovery stimulations were collected. During pharmacological studies, the first drug perfusion scan replaced the third pre-OGD stimulation.

4.2.4 OGD/Reperfusion model

Transient global ischemia was induced in brain slices by subjecting them to oxygenglucose deprivation (OGD) for 10 minutes. The OGD buffer was prepared by replacing glucose with an equimolar concentration of sucrose and substituting the oxygen supply (95% O_2 and 5% CO_2) with nitrogen bubbling (95% N_2 and 5% CO_2).

Immediately after the completion of the third pre-OGD scan, oxygenated aCSF was replaced with N₂-bubbled OGD buffer for 10 minutes. Following this period, data was collected

under OGD conditions before quickly switching back to normal oxygenated aCSF for a 2-hour reperfusion phase.

4.2.5 Pharmacology:

The A1 receptor antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (DPCPX, CAS #102146-07-6, Tocris) was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, CAS #67-68-5, Sigma-Aldrich) and then diluted in aCSF buffer. After initial scans using normal aCSF, DPCPX (10 μ M) in aCSF was perfused for 10 minutes before the onset of OGD and was maintained throughout the experiment.

During DPCPX perfusion, electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate responses were recorded at the 30-minute mark. OGD was then induced by switching to an OGD buffer containing DPCPX (10 μ M), and data were collected at the 40-minute mark. Following OGD, recovery scans were conducted in normal aCSF containing DPCPX (10 μ M) for the next two hours.

A similar approach was applied for the NMDA receptor antagonist (DAP-5), except that the NMDA antagonist concentration in the perfusion buffer was maintained at 50 µM.

4.2.6 Statistics

All statistical analyses were performed using PRISM 9 (GraphPad Software Inc., USA) and are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) for the given "n" number of slices in each group. A two-way ANOVA was used to assess the effect of 10 minutes of OGD on electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. Additionally, a one-way ANOVA was conducted at a 95% confidence interval to evaluate the main effect of OGD on dopamine and glutamate release in the absence or presence of DPCPX.

4.3 Results:

This study investigated the hypothesis that adenosine receptors play a neuroprotective role under ischemic conditions. The well-established oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) model was employed to mimic transient ischemia in brain slices. To test this, stimulated dopamine and glutamate from striatal cells were simultaneously monitored using multiplexed FSCV and fluorescence across three conditions: pre-OGD, OGD, and post-OGD/reperfusion. Simultaneous measurements allow a better understanding of the time course and interactions of glutamate and dopamine release.

4.3.1 OGD effects stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in WT

To investigate the effect of OGD on stimulated dopamine and glutamate release in wildtype (WT) mice, we employed a carbon fiber microelectrode (CFME), which was inserted 70– 100 µm deep into the tissue adjacent to glutamate-expressing cells (iGluSnFR3.v184). Each experimental run lasted 50 seconds, during which the brain slice was electrically stimulated at the 20-second mark, as shown in Figure 1A. An adenosine potential waveform (-0.4 V to 1.45 V, sweep rate: 400 V/s) was applied to monitor dopamine release, while fluorescence signals from iGluSnFR3 were simultaneously recorded to measure glutamate release. The light for the fluorescence was turned on for 15 s before the FSCV measurements were taken, because the light affects the background current of the electrode, and this time allows the background current to stabilize before the experiment. Electrical stimulation was repeated every 10 minutes to allow for the recovery of both dopamine and glutamate pools.



Figure 15: Illustration of stimulation protocols for the experiment. A. In each trial, changes in fluorescence are recorded continuously over 50 seconds, while FSCV data is collected for 25 seconds. Electrical stimulation is applied at 20 s. B. The full experimental scheme for OGD experiments. Each slice undergoes three distinct phases: pre-OGD, OGD, and reperfusion. Stimulations are performed every 10 minutes, so there are 3 pre-OGD stims, 1 during OGD, and 12 during the reperfusion. The experiment spans 160 minutes total.

Figure 1B outlines the experimental setup, which included three conditions—pre-OGD, OGD, and post-OGD/reperfusion—to examine stimulated dopamine and glutamate release. Prior to OGD, three scans were performed by perfusing oxygenated artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) every 10 minutes. The OGD buffer consisted of the same ingredients as normal aCSF, with the substitution of glucose by an equimolar concentration of sucrose, and it was bubbled with nitrogen instead of oxygen. Following the third pre-OGD scan, the oxygenated aCSF was replaced with a nitrogen-bubbled OGD buffer for 10 minutes. The buffer was then switched back to oxygenated aCSF for reperfusion studies. Stimulated dopamine and glutamate release were simultaneously monitored for 120 minutes post-OGD.



Figure 16: Simultaneous measurement of dopamine and glutamate response to OGD and reperfusion in WT (n=7 slices). Pre-OGD phase (indicated by the blue band) is first conducted to establish a baseline, followed by a 10-minute OGD phase (marked by the red bar) and then a 120-minute reperfusion phase (indicated by the blue band). Data points are at 10-minute intervals. The black dots are stimulated dopamine, while the green dots are changes in glutamate sensor fluorescence. The y-axis is normalized to the average of the pre-OGD values. (B) Dopamine i v t trace (C) iGluSnFR3 response towards electric stimulation during pre-OGD, OGD and reperfusion every 30 minutes as mentioned in legends. Both dopamine and glutamate are inhibited during OGD and the beginning of reperfusion.

Figures 2A shows the normalized stimulated dopamine and glutamate release measured every 10 minutes across all three conditions: pre-OGD, OGD, and post-OGD/reperfusion. During OGD, both dopamine and glutamate release decreased by more than 50% of initial stimulate release. This reduction persisted for 20 minutes after switching back to the normal aCSF buffer (reperfusion), with both having lower stimulated release in the first 20 minutes after OGD than during OGD. Recovery for both neurotransmitters began 30 minutes post-OGD. Glutamate levels never decreased as much as dopamine, but they also never recovered to pre-OGD values, remaining at about 50% of pre-OGD values 120 min after reperfusion. Stimulated dopamine release goes to nearly zero, before recovering to about 80-90% of pre-OGD levels. Thus, dopamine decreases more than glutamate but also recovers more in 120 minutes after OGD.

Figure 2B and 2C shows example dopamine i v t traces and iGluSnFr3 responses during pre-OGD, OGD and different times during reperfusion. Both electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate were significantly depressed when exposed to OGD. For dopamine measurements, the duration is shorter with a smaller signal, but for glutamate, the duration is about the same no matter the size of the stimulation. Again, this difference in durations is likely due to glutamate being synaptic, while the extracellular dopamine is cleared faster when the signals are smaller. Overall, stimulated dopamine release lasts longer than glutamate release, which is expected because dopamine release is measured extracellularly while the glutamate release is synaptic.

To get a better picture of OGD insult on stimulated dopamine and glutamate release, we averaged the data over time into categories of pre-OGD, OGD, and reperfusion in 30 minutes bins (Figure 3A and 3B). Overall, in Fig. 3A, there is a main effect of time on dopamine signal (one-way ANOVA, n=7, overall p 0.0004). Dopamine was significantly reduced by more than 50% during OGD condition (one-way ANOVA, n=7, p=0.0004), as seen in Figure 3A. Dopamine release was even lower during the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, 90 % of pre-OGD (compared to pre-OGD, p=0.0003). After 30 mins of reperfusion, dopamine begins to recover and the dopamine release is not significantly different than pre-OGD values, although there is significant variance in the recovery between samples. By 120 min after reperfusion, dopamine is about 90 % of the pre-OGD value.

One reason that dopamine may be depleted during OGD is that it may be spontaneously released during OGD. During OGD, small rapid dopamine events of exocytosis were observed without electric stimulation. In the color plot, which is all the FSCV data, a background increase in dopamine can be seen when there is no stimulation. We did not collect continuous FSCV data, and it is difficult to measure background changes with FSCV, but future experiments could



try to examine basal levels of dopamine, to see if that release leads to the decrease in stimulated release.

Figure 17: Dopamine and glutamate response to OGD and reperfusion in WT. A. Each bar represents the normalized dopamine current relative to the average of three pre-OGD scans (pre-OGD, OGD, 30 mins, 60 mins, 90 mins, and 120 mins). OGD had a significant effect on dopamine levels (one-way ANOVA, n = 7, overall p = 0.0004; *p = 0.0488, ***p = 0.0003). Dopamine levels progressively recovered to baseline as reperfusion time increased (*p = 0.0488, ***p = 0.0003). B. The effect of OGD and reperfusion on stimulated glutamate fluorescence. Transient OGD significantly suppressed glutamate levels (One-way ANOVA, n = 7, overall p < 0.0001, ***p < 0.0001), and glutamate did not return to the initial baseline during the reperfusion period (***p ≤ 0.0005, ****p ≤ 0.0001).

Figure 3B shows that stimulated glutamate release followed similar trends to dopamine but does not recover as much during reperfusion. There is a main effect of time and OGD condition on glutamate release (During OGD, glutamate goes down by 50% of pre-OGD level, a significant effect release (One-way ANOVA, n=7, p<0.0005). However, the level stays about 50% of pre-OGD for all of the reperfusion time periods and it never recovers, as all the reperfusion time periods are significantly different than pre-OGD (One-way ANOVA, n=7, p<0.0001). There is no way to look at basal release of glutamate with the glutamate sensor because all traces are background subtracted.

4.3.2 NMDA receptor antagonist on dopamine and glutamate during OGD and reperfusion

Prolonged high levels of extracellular glutamate can lead to neuronal death. NMDA receptors, a subtype of ionotropic glutamate receptors, play a dual role of promoting recovery and preventing delayed neuronal loss, while also mediating glutamate-induced excitotoxicity when overstimulated.¹² Overactivation of NMDA receptors increases Ca²⁺ permeability and results in incomplete desensitization, contributing to excitotoxic cell death. NMDA receptor antagonists, on the other hand, exhibit anti-excitotoxic effects and may prevent NMDA receptor-mediated cell death during ischemia. Thus, we evaluated the effect of NDMA antagonist D-AP5 on dopamine and glutamate during OGD.



Figure 18: Role of NMDA Receptors Antagonist D-AP5 during OGD. The first two stimulations were performed under normal oxygenated aCSF conditions, while subsequent stims were conducted in the presence of the NMDA receptor antagonist D-AP5 (50 μ M), as indicated by the shaded region. Following exposure to OGD, both dopamine and glutamate levels decreased by more than 60% relative to pre-OGD levels. Over time, dopamine recovered to baseline, while glutamate levels remained at OGD-induced levels. (B) Dopamine i v t trace (C) iGluSnFR3 response of stimulated glutamate during pre-OGD, OGD and reperfusion with DAP-5.

To evaluate the neuroprotective action of NMDA receptors during transient OGD, brain

slices were treated with the NMDA receptor antagonist D-AP5 (50 µM) for 10 minutes prior to

OGD exposure and then through OGD and reperfusion. As shown in Figure 4, the NMDA receptor antagonist had no significant effect on stimulated neurotransmitter release under normal conditions. However, in the presence of D-AP5, there is a main effect of OGD condition on dopamine and glutamate levels (one-way ANOVA, n = 4, p < 0.0001), with neurotransmitter levels decreasing by more than 60% compared to pre-OGD levels (One-way ANOVA, n=4, ***p <0.0005). This reduced release persisted during the reperfusion phase with oxygenated aCSF. Dopamine levels showed a partial recovery close to pre-OGD levels during prolonged reperfusion, similar to data without the NMDA receptor antagonist. In contrast, glutamate levels during reperfusion closely mimicked the response observed during OGD, with no significant recovery. Example traces of stimulated dopamine and glutamate response with NMDA receptor antagonist can be seen in Figure 4B and 4C.



Figure 19: Effect of NMDA antagonist AP5 on stimulated dopamine and glutamate release during OGD. (A) Dopamine levels significantly decreased following OGD exposure and partially recovered to baseline levels during reperfusion (one-way ANOVA, n = 4, overall p < 0.0001). (B) Stimulated glutamate levels were reduced by more than 60% compared to pre-OGD levels during OGD and did not return to baseline during reperfusion (One-way ANOVA, n = 4, overall p < 0.0001, *p = 0.0105, **p < 0.002, ***p < 0.0005, ****p < 0.0001).

Figures 5A and 5B illustrate the effects of OGD and reperfusion on stimulated dopamine

and glutamate levels in the presence of the NMDA receptor antagonist DAP5. Both

neurotransmitters were depressed during OGD, even in the presence of a NMDA receptor

antagonist, and then remained significantly decreased during the initial 30 minutes of reperfusion. Dopamine exhibited more recovery with continued reperfusion, while glutamate levels remained unchanged compared to OGD conditions. Thus, there was no real effect of D-AP5 on glutamate and dopamine release during OGD and reperfusion.

4.3.3 Deletion of A_{2A} receptor allows more recovery of glutamate during reperfusion

To evaluate the A2A receptors during OGD insult and reperfusion we used global A2AKO mice.²⁵ Figure 6A illustrates dopamine (black) and glutamate (green) concentrations during the experiment in the A2AKO slice. Both neurotransmitters remained stable during the initial three pre-OGD runs. Upon switching to N₂-saturated OGD buffer, stimulated dopamine and glutamate release declined to approximately 50% of pre-OGD levels, similar to WT conditions. Both neurotransmitters continued to decrease after the onset of reperfusion with oxygenated aCSF buffer. After 30 minutes of reperfusion, electrically stimulated neurotransmitters showed a slow, gradual recovery. Eventually, both dopamine and glutamate rebounded to their pre-OGD baseline levels. Notably, glutamate recovery in A2AKO slices contrasts with previous WT experiments, where reperfusion glutamate levels remained at OGD levels and exhibited impaired function. Also, for dopamine release, background increases in dopamine were observed in color plots for the OGD condition and the first reperfusion stimulation, indicating that basal increases might inhibit stimulated dopamine, similar to WT conditions.



Figure 20: Neuroprotective role of A2A receptors. Data were collected in slices from A2A knockout (A2AKO) mice. Following exposure to OGD, both dopamine and glutamate levels decreased by more than 50% compared to pre-OGD levels. However, with extended perfusion using oxygenated aCSF, both neurotransmitters gradually returned close to baseline levels. (B) Dopamine i v t trace (C) iGluSnFR3 traces after.

Figure 6B shows i v t traces of dopamine release at different time points. Dopamine levels

peaked during pre-OGD, halved during the OGD insult, and further declined during the first 30

minutes of reperfusion before gradually recovering over time. Similarly, Figure 6C shows

stimulated glutamate following the same trend: a reduction during OGD, further decline during

the initial reperfusion period, and eventual recovery nearing pre-OGD levels.


Figure 21: Stimulated dopamine and glutamate level A2AKO mice. (A) Dopamine levels were significantly suppressed following OGD insult (One-way ANOVA, n = 6, overall p = 0.0019; *p = 0.0275; *** = 0.0003). During reperfusion, dopamine was more depressed during the first 30 minutes but returned closer to the baseline. (B) Glutamate mimicked the trend observed in dopamine, experiencing significant suppression due to OGD insult and the first 30 min of reperfusion (One-way ANOVA, n = 6, overall p = 0.0008; 8p = 0.0109; ***p = 0.0003). Glutamate also recovered from 60-120 min after reperfusion and was not significantly different than baseline.

Figures 7A and 7B summarize electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate levels, in A2AKO mice during OGD and reperfusion. As shown in Figure 7A, there is a significant overall effect of OGD condition/time on dopamine release (one-way ANOVA, n = 6, p = 0.0019). After 10 minutes of OGD, dopamine release was significantly reduced at approximately 50% of pre-OGD levels (one-way ANOVA, n = 6, p = 0.0275). During reperfusion with oxygenated aCSF, there was a further decrease in stimulated dopamine during the first 30 minutes (one-way ANOVA, n = 6, p = 0.0003). However, at longer reperfusion times, dopamine levels began to gradually increase and were not significantly different than pre-OGD levels.

A similar trend was observed for glutamate, as shown in Figure 7B. There is an overall effect of OGD condition on glutamate release in A2AKO mice (One-way ANOVA, n = 6, overall p = 0.0008). After 10 minutes of OGD insult, stimulated glutamate levels were significantly reduced (One-way ANOVA, n = 6, $p \le 0.0109$) and they continued to decline in the first 30

minutes of reperfusion (One-way ANOVA, n=6, p = 0.0003). However, in contrast to WT slices, A2AKO glutamate levels showed better recovery over time, eventually returning to pre-OGD levels, and the 60-120 min time points were not significantly different than pre-OGD. This improved recovery is attributed to the global deletion of A2A receptors, which may reduce the excitotoxic effects of neurotransmitter release during reperfusion.

Additionally, the study demonstrates distinct outcomes in A2A receptor knockout (A2AKO) slices. Unlike WT slices, glutamate levels in A2AKO slices showed recovery after extended reperfusion periods. This phenomenon could be attributed to the neuroprotective role of A2A receptors.^{16,18} The genetic elimination of A2A receptors likely reduces excessive adenosine binding and diminishes the potential for additive excitatory glutamate release, contributing to improved recovery.

4.3.4 A₁ antagonist is neuroprotective for both dopamine and glutamate after OGD insult

Adenosine is rapidly elevated during ischemia, which is an inherent neuroprotective mechanism. One of the primary responses involves the activation of widely expressed A1 receptors, which inhibit excitatory synaptic transmission. The neuroprotective role of adenosine during ischemia is largely attributed to A1 receptor activation, which decreases Ca²⁺ influx and reduces presynaptic neurotransmitter release.

In this study, we investigated the function of A1 receptors in regulating synaptic release of dopamine and glutamate during OGD insult and reperfusion conditions by administering the A1 antagonist DPCPX. Figure 8A shows the levels of stimulated neurotransmitters throughout the experiment, with shaded regions indicating A1 antagonist drug perfusion across all conditions. Dopamine levels showed no change during DPCPX perfusion. When slices were subjected to transient OGD conditions in the presence of the A1 antagonist, stimulated dopamine decreased by 30%. Glutamate levels remained unaffected however, which is very different than WT.



Figure 22: Neuroprotective effect of A1 antagonist (DPCPX, 10 uM) on stimulated dopamine and glutamate in WT mice. (A) The shaded region represents the DPCPX perfusion period. Exposure to OGD significantly reduced dopamine release, with suppression persisting for the subsequent 30 minutes of reperfusion. In contrast, glutamate levels remained stable during and after the OGD insult. (B) Dopamine i v t trace (C) iGluSnFR3 trace after electrical stimulation.

During reperfusion with the A1 receptor antagonist, dopamine levels continued to decline over the first 20 minutes but rapidly recovered to pre-OGD levels within 60 minutes of reperfusion—more efficiently than in experiments without A1 antagonist drugs. Stimulated dopamine eventually exceeded pre-OGD levels. Glutamate levels never significantly decreased during OGD or reperfusion in the presence of the A1 antagonist. Thus, DPCPX had a major effect on glutamate release during OGD and reperfusion.

Figure 8B illustrates example time traces of dopamine release across different time points. With the A1 antagonist, dopamine release was slightly increased pre-OGD, but there is

still a modest decrease in dopamine during OGD. Dopamine levels declined during the initial 30 minutes of reperfusion but rebounded rapidly to pre-OGD levels. Figure 8C shows simultaneous measurements of stimulated glutamate responses, which are similar during pre-OGD, OGD,



and reperfusion. Although there was a slight increase in glutamate during the first 30 minutes of reperfusion with the drug, glutamate levels remained stable for the remainder of the experiment.

Figure 9. A1 antagonist DPCPX is neuroprotective during OGD insult. (A) Dopamine levels remained unchanged during the perfusion of the A1 antagonist. Dopamine decreased during OGD and was significantly lower than pre-OGD during reperfusion at the 30-minute mark (One-way ANOVA, n = 3, p = 0.0016; **p = 0.0094). Dopamine returned to baseline by 60 min and even went slightly above baseline with reperfusion time. (B) Stimulated glutamate release in the presence of A1 antagonist DPCPX. There were no significant differences in glutamate during OGD or reperfusion.

Figure 9A illustrates the effects of OGD insult and reperfusion on stimulated dopamine release, in the presence of an A1 antagonist. Pre-OGD dopamine levels were consistent and unaffected by 10 minutes of A1 antagonist perfusion. Dopamine release had significant overall change due to OGD condition/time (One-way ANOVA, n = 3, overall p = 0.0016). Upon exposure to OGD with A1 antagonist, a reduction in dopamine levels was observed, although this change was not significantly different from pre-OGD levels, likely due to a low n number. Dopamine continued to decline during the first 30 minutes of reperfusion with the A1 antagonist, resulting in a significant reduction in stimulated dopamine release at 30 minutes (One-way ANOVA, n = 3, p = 0.0016; **p = 0.0094). However, dopamine levels recovered rapidly within 60 minutes of reperfusion, returning to pre-OGD levels faster than in experiments conducted

without A1 antagonists. Dopamine subsequently maintained pre-OGD levels or slightly higher for the remainder of the experiment.

Figure 9B shows the effects of A1 antagonist on glutamate response during OGD insult and reperfusion. Notably, stimulated glutamate release was not significantly decreased by OGD or reperfusion with an A1 receptor antagonist. There was no main effect of OGD condition/time on glutamate release (One-way ANOVA, n=3, overall p 0.7339). The maintenance of stimulated glutamate release is a significant contrast to WT slices without drug, which show a marked, prolonged decrease during OGD and reperfusion.



Figure 10: Overall effect of OGD and reperfusion on dopamine and glutamate in WT, WT-DAP5, A2AKO and WT-DPCPX. (A) OGD. Stimulated dopamine levels decreased significantly during OGD across all conditions. A1 antagonist compared to WT (One-way ANOVA, F(3,17), overall p 0.0026, *p 0.0421). (B) During the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, dopamine levels were further suppressed with no significant differences observed across treatments. (C) By 120 minutes of reperfusion, dopamine levels recovered to and there are no differences among groups. (D) Stimulated glutamate levels were significantly decreased during OGD in all conditions except those treated with the A1 antagonist. (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p 0.0006, **p=0.0014) (E) Glutamate levels continued to decline in all conditions, except for the A1 antagonist treatment, during the first 30 minutes of reperfusion. (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p 0.0019, **p 0.0042) (F) Overall there was significant differences in glutamate recovery during 120 minutes of perfusion (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p 0.0019, **p 0.0042) (F) Overall there was significant differences in glutamate recovery during 120 minutes of perfusion (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p 0.0475). Glutamate recovery was absent in WT and WT-NMDA antagonist treatments; however, both A2AKO and A1 antagonist treatments showed an 80% recovery, but it was no significantly different than WT.

Shrestha|105

Figure 10 summarizes the impact of oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) and reperfusion on stimulated dopamine and glutamate levels in the striatum with the different conditions. In Figure 10A, for dopamine, there is a main effect of treatment (one-way ANOVA, F(3,17), overall p= 0.0026) and the A1 antagonist is significantly higher than the WT condition (one-way ANOVA, F(3,17), p=0.0421). For 30 min of reperfusion (Fig. 10B), dopamine decreased more and there are no significant differences among groups (One-way ANOVA, F(3,17), overall p 0.3231). For 120 min of reperfusion, there is not a significant main effect of treatment on dopamine release (One-way ANOVA, F(3,17), p=0.2620).

Figure 10D shows glutamate results during OGD. There is significant main effect of treatment (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p=0.0006) and the A1 antagonist is significantly higher than the WT condition (One-way ANOVA, F(3.16), **p 0.0014). In Figure 10E, during 30 mins of reperfusion, there is a significant main effect of reperfusion among the groups (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p=0.0019) and A1 antagonist showed significantly higher effect with respect to the WT treatment (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), p=0.0042). Figure 10F shows significant main effect during 120 minutes of reperfusion (One-way ANOVA, F(3,16), overall p 0.0475), however no significant effects were observed for A2AKO and A1 antagonist treatment.

Thus, there are differences in neurotransmitters after OGD and reperfusion. While perfusion with an A1 receptor antagonist did not eliminate the effect of OGD on stimulated dopamine, it successfully abolished glutamate inhibition throughout the experimental duration. This observation suggests that the excessive release of adenosine during OGD activates A1 receptors, thereby inhibiting stimulated glutamate release from presynaptic neurons.^{1,2} These findings highlight the neuroprotective role of A1 receptors during ischemia and reperfusion.

Shrestha | 106

4.4 Discussion:

The brain consumes significant amounts of glucose and oxygen to sustain proper synaptic signaling and physiological functions.²⁷ Pathological conditions, such as cerebral ischemia, disrupt transient blood flow to the brain, impairing the continuous supply of oxygen and glucose.^{23,24,28} This study examined the effects of transient ischemia and subsequent reperfusion on neurotransmitters, particularly dopamine and glutamate, in the striatum using brain slice models. The striatum is highly susceptible to ischemia, second only to the hippocampal CA1 region.¹⁶ Ischemia profoundly affects synaptic signaling by disrupting neurotransmitter dynamics and transmission due to energy and oxygen depletion, which compromises normal cellular processes.^{10,16,24}

Upon the early onset of ischemia, extracellular adenosine levels surge due to ATP breakdown, as cytosolic ATP production declines.^{9,10,16} This triggers several downstream events, including ion gradient disruption across the cell membrane, excessive excitatory neurotransmitter release into the extracellular space, increased intracellular calcium (Ca²⁺) concentrations, and neuronal excitotoxicity.^{14,18,29,30} Using a well-established oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) model, we simulated transient ischemic conditions and measured neurotransmitter release every 10 minutes over a 10-min OGD and 120-minute reperfusion period.⁶ In this model, glucose was substituted with sucrose, and the medium was saturated with nitrogen gas to replace oxygen.³¹ The deprivation of oxygen and glucose during OGD disrupts cellular homeostasis, causing energy production failure, oxidative stress, and activation of excitatory neurotransmitters, potentially leading to neuronal damage or death. In our studies, stimulated dopamine and glutamate decreased about 50% after 10 min of OGD. Thus, a transient OGD resulted in less pools of dopamine and glutamate to be available for stimulated release. It is possible that basal levels increase during OGD due to spontaneous release, but both FSCV and iGluSnFR are background subtracted techniques, and so slow basal changes

are difficult to measure. We did see some evidence of spontaneous dopamine release, but the experiment was not optimized to detect us. Thus, the main conclusion is that 10 min of OGD reduces the amount of dopamine and glutamate available for stimulated release during phasic type firing.

Reperfusion is crucial for preserving and restoring tissue, preventing irreversible damage following a transient blockage of glucose and oxygen supply. However, studies have shown that reperfusion can exacerbate ischemia-induced tissue damage.^{24,32} This is often driven by the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and a cascade of inflammatory responses, leading to localized damage and systemic insults. During reperfusion, the excess release of glutamate into the extracellular space contributes to excitotoxicity, which can further harm neuronal tissue. In contrast, the excessive release of dopamine during reperfusion may serve a protective role, mitigating glutamate-induced toxicity.^{19,31,33} In this study, dopamine release decreased further than OGD during the initial 30 minutes of reperfusion and was at barely detectable levels in some slices. Thus, the effects of OGD on dopamine last longer than just during OGD. Dopamine gradually recovered to about 80-90% pre-OGD levels after 120 minutes of reperfusion, which was not significantly different than pre-OGD. Glutamate followed a similar trend initially, decreasing to about 50% during OGD, but the release stayed at a similar level during the whole 120 min of reperfusion, and it did not return to baseline levels. One advantage of the simultaneous measurements of dopamine and glutamate is that the time courses were measured in the same slice, which showed that recovery from reperfusion was different for the two neurotransmitters. While both had similar decreases during OGD, dopamine went down more than glutamate but then recovered much more than glutamate. Thus, the simultaneous measurements with FSCV and iGluSnFR facilitated an understanding of the different time courses during reperfusion.

Shrestha**|108**

To further understand receptor involvement, pharmacological treatment with and NMDA receptor antagonist D-AP5 was applied in WT slices. Glutamate levels rise drastically during OGD due to increased intracellular Ca²⁺ and compromised membrane integrity, leading to excessive ionotropic receptor activation (e.g., NMDA) and potential excitotoxicity.^{12,22,34} Thus, we hypothesized that NMDA antagonist might be neuroprotective for at least glutamate, However, preconditioning slices with an NMDA antagonist (50 µM D-AP5) prior to OGD failed to prevent the suppression of neurotransmitter release during OGD and the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, suggesting limited effectiveness during transient ischemia.

The striatum has the highest concentration of A2A receptors in the brain and is particularly vulnerable to ischemia.^{25,35,36} During oxygen and glucose deprivation, extracellular adenosine levels rise and activate A2A receptors, which leads to glutamate release.^{37–39} In A2AKO slices, both dopamine and glutamate levels were significantly reduced during OGD and the first 30 minutes of reperfusion but eventually recovered to pre-OGD levels. Importantly, suppression of glutamate release due to OGD was less pronounced in A2AKO slices compared to WT and the slices recovered faster during reperfusion. This faster recovery may stem from the absence of A2A receptors, which reduces glutamate overactivation in response to increased adenosine during OGD. These findings suggest that while A2A receptors do not directly regulate dopamine release, they play a crucial role in restoring synaptic glutamate release in the striatum during reperfusion.

Adenosine typically exerts inhibitory effects via A1 receptors, and the inhibition of glutamate release by A1 receptors is thought to be neuroprotective.^{1,40–42} To examine the role of A1 receptors, slices were perfused with A1 antagonist (DPCPX, 10 µM). Previous studies from our lab demonstrated that A1 receptor activation suppresses dopamine and glutamate release by reducing Ca²⁺ influx essential for synaptic vesicle docking. During OGD, dopamine levels decreased, but in the presence of DPCPX, they recovered rapidly during reperfusion, indicating

Shrestha | 109

improved resilience compared to experiments without the antagonist. Furthermore, the A1 receptor antagonist prevented glutamate suppression throughout OGD and reperfusion, emphasizing its protective effects on glutamate signaling. By inhibiting A1 receptor functions with DPCPX, synaptic transmission inhibition was eliminated during OGD, preserving glutamate dynamics. The application of an A1 antagonist blocked this inhibitory effect by preventing Ca²⁺ influx into presynaptic neurons, resulting in disrupted regulation of glutamate release.^{12,26} Thus, A1 receptors mediated the rapid decrease in stimulated release during OGD and immediate reperfusion. These findings suggest that A1 antagonist minimizes the reduction in stimulated dopamine levels caused by OGD and promotes quicker recovery during reperfusion. Meanwhile, glutamate release remains largely unaffected, further supporting the role of A1 receptors in maintaining synaptic neurotransmitter release by counteracting the inhibitory effects of adenosine via A1 receptor activation.

Overall, these findings demonstrate that both A1 and A2A receptors are integral to playing neuroprotective roles decreasing dopamine and glutamate signaling during transient ischemia and reperfusion. A2A receptors are more important for regulating longer time periods after reperfusion, while A1 receptors regulated glutamate release more during OGD and immediate reperfusion. Adenosine receptors had more effects on synaptic glutamate release than extrasynaptic dopamine release, which indicate that while adenosine does regulate both neurotransmitters, that there are more profound effects on glutamate. The ability to monitor more than one neurotransmitter at time gives a more complete picture of the complex changes in neurochemistry during ischemia and reperfusion. Overall, these results highlight that adenosine receptors could be potential therapeutic targets for mitigating excitotoxic damage and preserving neuronal function under ischemic stress.

4.5 References

- Cunha, R. A. Neuroprotection by Adenosine in the Brain: From A(1) Receptor Activation to A (2A) Receptor Blockade. *Purinergic Signal.* **2005**, *1* (2), 111–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-005-0649-1.
- (2) Chen, J.-F.; Šonsalla, P. K.; Pedata, F.; Melani, A.; Domenici, M. R.; Popoli, P.; Geiger, J.; Lopes, L. V.; de Mendonça, A. Adenosine A2A Receptors and Brain Injury: Broad Spectrum of Neuroprotection, Multifaceted Actions and "Fine Tuning" Modulation. *Prog. Neurobiol.* **2007**, *83* (5), 310–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.09.002.
- (3) Adamah-Biassi, E. B.; Almonte, A. G.; Blagovechtchenski, E.; Grinevich, V. P.; Weiner, J. L.; Bonin, K. D.; Budygin, E. A. Real Time Adenosine Fluctuations Detected with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry in the Rat Striatum and Motor Cortex. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2015**, *256*, 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.08.017.
- (4) Andrea, P.; Katia, B.; Gessi, S.; Merighi, S. *The Adenosine Receptors*; 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90808-3.
- (5) Basheer, R.; Strecker, R. E.; Thakkar, M. M.; McCarley, R. W. Adenosine and Sleep-Wake Regulation. *Prog. Neurobiol.* **2004**, *73* (6), 379–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.06.004.
- (6) Burnstock, G.; Fredholm, B. B.; Verkhratsky, A. Adenosine and ATP Receptors in the Brain.; 2011; Vol. 11. https://doi.org/10.2174/156802611795347627.
- (7) Coppi, E.; Cherchi, F.; Gibb, A. J. Adenosine A2A Receptor Blockade Attenuates Excitotoxicity in Rat Striatal Medium Spiny Neurons during an Ischemic-like Insult. *Neural Regen. Res.* 2024, 19 (2), 255. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.375309.
- J., B. E.; Paul, M.; Alvaro, A.; S., B. M.; W., C. C.; P., C. A.; M., C. A.; R., C. A.; Susan, C.;
 R., D. S.; N., D. F.; Luc, D.; S.V., E. M.; F., F. J.; Myriam, F.; Chaffin, J. L.; S., K. S.; M., K.
 B.; L., K. K.; W., K. T.; T., L. D.; T., L. T.; H., L. J.; T., L. C.; Shane, L. M.; L., L. P.; S., M. S.;
 Kunihiro, M.; E., M. A.; E., M. M.; Martin, O.; Ambarish, P.; M., P. A.; D., R. W.; A., R. G.;
 K.A., S. U.; M., S. G.; B., S. E.; H., S. S.; L., S. N.; Andrew, S.; L., T. D.; W., T. C.; P., T. M.;
 B., V. L.; T., W. J.; S., W. S.; S., V. S.; null, null. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2019
 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2019, *139* (10), e56–e528. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000000659.
- (9) Ådén, U.; Lindström, K.; Bona, E.; Hagberg, H.; Fredholm, B. B. Changes in Adenosine Receptors in the Neonatal Rat Brain Following Hypoxic Ischemia. *Mol. Brain Res.* 1994, 23 (4), 354–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-328X(94)90247-X.
- (10) Chu, S.; Xiong, W.; Zhang, D. L.; Soylu, H.; Sun, C.; Albensi, B. C.; Parkinson, F. E. Regulation of Adenosine Levels during Cerebral Ischemia. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 2013, 34 (1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2012.127.
- (11) Iovino, L.; Tremblay, M. E.; Civiero, L. Glutamate-Induced Excitotoxicity in Parkinson's Disease: The Role of Glial Cells. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* **2020**, *144* (3), 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphs.2020.07.011.
- (12) Szydlowska, K.; Tymiański, M. Calcium, Ischemia and Excitotoxicity. *Cell Calcium* **2010**, *47* (2), 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2010.01.003.
- (13) Mehta, A.; Prabhakar, M.; Kumar, P.; Deshmukh, R.; Sharma, P. L. Excitotoxicity: Bridge to Various Triggers in Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **2013**, *698* (1), 6–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2012.10.032.
- (14) Latini, S.; Bordoni, F.; Pedata, F.; Corradetti, R. Extracellular Adenosine Concentrations during in Vitro Ischaemia in Rat Hippocampal Slices. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **1999**, *127* (3), 729– 739. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0702591.
- (15) Latini, S.; Pedata, F. Adenosine in the Central Nervous System: Release Mechanisms and Extracellular Concentrations. *J. Neurochem.* 2001, 79 (3), 463–484. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00607.x.

- (16) Pedata, F.; Corsi, C.; Melani, A.; Bordoni, F.; Latini, S. Adenosine Extracellular Brain Concentrations and Role of A2A Receptors in Ischemia. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 2001, 939, 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb03614.x.
- (17) Deuchars, S. A.; Brooke, R. E.; Deuchars, J. Adenosine A1 Receptors Reduce Release from Excitatory But Not Inhibitory Synaptic Inputs onto Lateral Horn Neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 2001, *21* (16), 6308–6320. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-16-06308.2001.
- (18) Coppi, E.; Gibb, A. J. Selective Block of Adenosine A2A Receptors Prevents Ischaemic-like Effects Induced by Oxygen and Glucose Deprivation in Rat Medium Spiny Neurons. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2022, 179 (20), 4844–4856. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15922.
- (19) Wood, E. R.; Coury, A.; Blaha, C. D.; Phillips, A. G. Extracellular Dopamine in the Rat Striatum during Ischemia and Reperfusion as Measured by in Vivo Electrochemistry and in Vivo Microdialysis. *Brain Res.* **1992**, *591* (1), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)90990-Q.
- (20) Calhoun, S. E.; Meunier, C. J.; Lee, C. A.; McCarty, G. S.; Sombers, L. A. Characterization of a Multiple-Scan-Rate Voltammetric Waveform for Real-Time Detection of Met-Enkephalin. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2019, 10 (4), 2022–2032. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.8b00351.
- (21) Pazzagli, M.; Pedata, F.; Pepeu, G. Effect of K+ Depolarization, Tetrodotoxin, and NMDA Receptor Inhibition on Extracellular Adenosine Levels in Rat Striatum. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1993**, *234* (1), 61–65.
- (22) Popoli, P.; Frank, C.; Tebano, M. T.; Potenza, R. L.; Pintor, A.; Domenici, M. R.; Nazzicone, V.; Pèzzola, A.; Reggio, R. Modulation of Glutamate Release and Excitotoxicity by Adenosine A2A Receptors. *Neurology* **2003**, *61* (11 suppl 6), S69 LP-S71. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000095216.89483.A2.
- (23) Oliva, I.; Fernández, M.; Martín, E. D. Dopamine Release Regulation by Astrocytes during Cerebral Ischemia. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2013**, *58*, 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2013.06.007.
- (24) Phebus, L. A.; Clemens, J. A. Effects of Transient, Global, Cerebral Ischemia on Striatal Extracellular Dopamine, Serotonin and Their Metabolites. *Life Sci.* **1989**, *44* (19), 1335– 1342. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(89)90390-1.
- (25) Teng, B.; Ledent, C.; Mustafa, S. J. Up-Regulation of A2B Adenosine Receptor in A2A Adenosine Receptor Knockout Mouse Coronary Artery. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 2008, 44 (5), 905–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.03.003.
- (26) Florence, W.; P., O. T.; M., H. A.; Michel, P.; Roger, B.; Lindsay, S. Extracellular Glutamate During Focal Cerebral Ischaemia in Rats: Time Course and Calcium Dependency. *J. Neurochem.* **2002**, *63* (3), 1003–1011. https://doi.org/doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1994.63031003.x.
- (27) Bélanger, M.; Allaman, I.; Magistretti, P. J. Brain Energy Metabolism: Focus on Astrocyte-Neuron Metabolic Cooperation. *Cell Metab.* **2011**, *14* (6), 724–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.016.
- (28) Bramlett, H. M.; Dietrich, W. D. Pathophysiology of Cerebral Ischemia and Brain Trauma: Similarities and Differences. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* **2004**, *24* (2), 133–150. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.WCB.0000111614.19196.04.
- (29) Fujimoto, S.; Katsuki, H.; Kume, T.; Kaneko, S.; Akaike, A. Mechanisms of Oxygen Glucose Deprivation-Induced Glutamate Release from Cerebrocortical Slice Cultures. *Neurosci. Res.* **2004**, *50* (2), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2004.06.013.
- (30) Martin, R. L.; Lloyd, H. G. É.; Cowan, A. I. The Early Events of Oxygen and Glucose Deprivation: Setting the Scene for Neuronal Death? *Trends Neurosci.* **1994**, *17* (6), 251– 257. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(94)90008-6.

- (31) Banni, S.; Montisci, R.; Sanfilippo, R.; Finco, G.; Sanna, D.; Giordano, E. Physiological Response to Lipid Peroxidation in Ischemia and Reperfusion during Carotid Endarterectomy. *Lipids Health Dis* **2010**, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-9-41.
- (32) Murry, C. E.; Jennings, R. B.; Reimer, K. A. Preconditioning with Ischemia: A Delay of Lethal Cell Injury in Ischemic Myocardium. *Circulation* **1986**, *74* (5), 1124–1136. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.74.5.1124.
- (33) Lee, J.-M.; Grabb, M. C.; Zipfel, G. J.; Choi, D. W. Brain Tissue Responses to Ischemia. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2000**, *106* (6), 723–731. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI11003.
- (34) Choi, D. W. Excitotoxic Cell Death. *J. Neurobiol.* **1992**, 23 (9), 1261–1276. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480230915.
- (35) Hettinger, B. D.; Lee, A.; Linden, J.; Rosin, D. L. Ultrastructural Localization of Adenosine A2A Receptors Suggests Multiple Cellular Sites for Modulation of GABAergic Neurons in Rat Striatum. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **2001**, *431* (3), 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9861(20010312)431:3<331::AID-CNE1074>3.0.CO;2-W.
- (36) Jin, S.; Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine A2A Receptor Stimulation Increases Release of Acetylcholine from Rat Hippocampus but Not Striatum, and Does Not Affect Catecholamine Release. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **1996**, *355* (1), 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00004917.
- (37) Dale, N.; Frenguelli, B. G. Release of Adenosine and ATP during Ischemia and Epilepsy. *Curr.Neuropharmacol.* **2009**, 7 (3), 160–179. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015909789152146 [doi].
- (38) Melani, A.; Pugliese, A. M.; Pedata, F. Chapter Thirteen Adenosine Receptors in Cerebral Ischemia. In Adenosine Receptors in Neurology and Psychiatry; Academic Press, 2014; Vol. 119, pp 309–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801022-8.00013-1.
- (39) Rudolphi, K. A.; Schubert, P.; Parkinson, F. E.; Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine and Brain Ischemia. *Cerebrovasc. Brain Metab. Rev.* **1992**, *4*, 346–369.
- (40) Tominaga, K.; Shibata, S.; Watanabe, S. A Neuroprotective Effect of Adenosine A1-Receptor Agonists on Ischemia-Induced Decrease in 2-Deoxyglucose Uptake in Rat Hippocampal Slices. *Neurosci. Lett.* **1992**, *145* (1), 67–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(92)90205-L.
- (41) Cho, K.-O.; Kim, S.-K.; Cho, Y.-J.; Sung, K.-W.; Kim, S. Y. Regional Differences in the Neuroprotective Effect of Minocycline in a Mouse Model of Global Forebrain Ischemia. *Life Sci.* 2007, *80* (22), 2030–2035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2007.03.005.
- (42) de Mendonça, A.; Sebastião, A. M.; Ribeiro, J. A. Adenosine: Does It Have a Neuroprotective Role after All? *Brain Res. Rev.* **2000**, *33* (2–3), 258–274. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(00)00033-3.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Direction

5.1 Contribution to the field

In this dissertation, I investigated the neuromodulatory function of transient adenosine on other neurotransmitters such as serotonin, dopamine and glutamate. Particularly, I multiplexed fast scan cyclic voltammetry with fluorescence to study neurotransmitter release interactions simultaneously in real time using brain slice model. Furthermore, this multiplexed technique was used to study the role of transient oxygen glucose deprivation insult on dopamine and glutamate. This chapter will briefly cover my projects and future directions.

5.2 Neuromodulatory action of adenosine in real-time using brain slice model

Chapter 2 discusses the modulatory actions of adenosine on serotonergic neurons, which are densely populated in the midbrain. Exogenous adenosine was observed to transiently inhibit serotonergic activity for the initial 20 seconds, with activity recovering as adenosine cleared from the slice. Pharmacological studies revealed that adenosine receptors A1, A2A, and A3 did not directly mediate this inhibitory effect. Instead, adenosine indirectly modulated serotonergic neurons through 5-HT1A autoreceptors. This surprising indirect neuromodulation by adenosine on DRN serotonergic neurons offers a new perspective on its inhibitory action via A1 receptors. Further investigations are needed to examine the expression levels of A1 receptors alongside 5-HT1A receptors in DRN to determine spatial relationship during adenosine application. Utilizing transgenic mice (5HT-A1KO) could help elucidate whether these receptors play primary or secondary roles in the observed serotonin inhibition. Additionally, coupling GCaMP sensors, which respond to intracellular calcium binding, with FSCV could offer valuable insights into the adenosine A1 receptors dynamics over serotonergic activity and receptors interactions. This unique finding also suggests that A1 may not always directly inhibit neurotransmitter release but may instead be coupled with other inhibitory loops or communication pathways via co-expression or receptor dimerization with other inhibitory receptors such as GABAergic to exert their modulatory effects.

Shrestha|116

Chapter 3 highlights the integration of FSCV and fluorescence (iGluSnFR3) to simultaneously measure adenosine, dopamine, and glutamate. A key finding was the inverse correlation between dopamine release and glutamate response during electric stimulation. Adenosine was observed to inhibit both dopamine and glutamate within a 250 µm range, with A1 receptors playing a pivotal role in mediating this inhibitory effect. This combination provides valuable insights into the spatial and temporal interactions of neurotransmitters. The recent development of multi-color genetically encoded sensors, such as green, yellow and red variants, expands the potential for monitoring multiple neurotransmitters with enhanced spatial-temporal resolution.^{1–4} For example, dopamine can be monitored using GRABDA sensors, while glutamate can be monitored with iGluSNFR3 sensors. Integrating these florescence tools with FSCV, limited to detect extra-synaptic electroactive neurotransmitters due to electrode size, provides a deeper understanding of neurotransmitter spatial and extra-synaptic dynamics, especially during adenosine modulation.^{5,6} This approach could significantly advance studies of synaptic interactions and neural circuit functionality.

Chapter 4 investigates the effects of transient ischemic conditions on dopamine and glutamate in the striatum using a 10-minute OGD model followed by reperfusion to mimic ischemic/reperfusion injury. This is achieved by substituting glucose with an equimolar concentration of sucrose and replacing oxygen with nitrogen to simulate the deprivation of critical cellular energy substrates. OGD significantly reduced dopamine and glutamate release, with both continuing to decline during the first 30 minutes of reperfusion. Dopamine eventually recovered within 120 minutes, whereas glutamate remained at levels consistent with the OGD condition. Studies with transgenic mice (A2AKO) and pharmacological treatments (NMDA receptor antagonist and DPCPX) revealed that A1 and A2A receptors play critical neuroprotective roles during OGD. Specifically, A1 receptor activation prevents glutamate accumulation in extracellular spaces, reducing excitotoxicity. Further studies are needed to

elucidate the mechanisms by which adenosine receptors influence dopamine and glutamate release during OGD/reperfusion.

It would be particularly insightful to examine the effects of perfusing A1 antagonists or agonists exclusively during the OGD phase only and monitoring their impact during reperfusion. Additionally, investigating GABAergic activity and calcium ion influx by expressing iGABASnFR2 and GCaMP in the striatum could provide valuable insights into synaptic release and modulation under conditions of high extracellular adenosine and glutamate during transient ischemia. A time-dependent OGD/reperfusion study could also be conducted to assess the dynamics changes in neurotransmitter release over extended periods.

The integration of FSCV and fluorescence imaging opens a new scope for studying neurotransmitter interactions under both physiological and pathological conditions. This dissertation demonstrates that adenosine exerts its inhibitory and protective functions directly via A1 receptors, while also indirectly inhibiting serotonergic neurons in the DRN. The combination of FSCV and fluorescence sensors broadens the scope for analyzing complex neurotransmitter interactions in real-time. FSCV currently enables simultaneous detection of 2-3 electroactive neurotransmitters, while fluorescence techniques compliment this by allowing the monitoring of non-electroactive neurotransmitter release, such as GABA (iGABASnFRs), glutamate (iGluSnFRs), acetylcholine (iAChSnFR) and norepinephrine.^{2,3,7,8} Advances in fluorescence imaging now offer multi-color probes for neurotransmitters, enhancing multiplexing capabilities. For example, dopamine sensors (dLight) are available in red, yellow and green variants, while glutamate (iGluSnFR) sensors are available in yellow and green.^{1,2,7}

Additionally, our lab has been employing machine learning algorithms to analyze and resolve signals from neurotransmitters with closely overlapping oxidation potentials.^{9,10} When combined with imaging technique, this approach will further enhance the ability to simultaneously monitor multiple neurotransmitters in FSCV, facilitating a deeper understanding

Shrestha|118

of intricate synaptic interactions. Multiplexing techniques can also be applied in vivo to explore adenosine's modulation in glutamate dynamics. Similarly, these multiplexing methods can be employed to investigate adenosine's involvement in neuromodulating serotonergic neurons, using serotonin sensors (iSeroSnFR), to unravel how A1 receptors indirectly contribute to inhibitory action. This integrated approach holds significant promise for unraveling the intricate neurotransmitter dynamics implicated in neurological disorders such as epilepsy and Parkinson's disease, circuits and drug development.

5.3 Future Directions:

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a chronic and progressive neurodegenerative condition, which predominantly causes motor symptoms such as impaired balance, movement and muscle co-ordination.^{11,12} It is second most common age-related neurodegenerative conditions affecting individuals over 65 years old.¹³ The aggregation of alpha-synuclein, also known as Lewybodies, within neurons is characteristic pathological features of PD and associated with dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the substantia nigra projected to the striatum, resulting dopamine depletion.^{14,15}

PD leads to deteriorated motor functions as well as non-motor symptoms, including sleep disorders, cognitive impairment, and psychiatric issues.¹⁶ Traditional PD models primarily emphasize dopaminergic neuron dysfunction and motor impairment that usually appears on later stages of the disease after 50-60% of dopaminergic neurons have degenerated.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ This results to 70-80% dopamine depletion in the striatum.²⁰ Since the 1960s, L-DOPA and numerous dopamine agonist drugs, such as apomorphine and ropinrole, have been used to treat PD.¹² However, along with dopaminergic neuron degeneration, the complex pathology of PD affects a broader range of neuronal systems, such as serotonergic, glutamatergic, cholinergic and GABAergic pathways in the basal ganglia signaling.^{12,21–23} For example, the

Shrestha | 119

gradual degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in PD results in reduced dopamine levels, increased excitatory glutamatergic activity and decreased GABAergic activity in the striatum, further amplifying uncontrolled motor activity.^{24,25} This observations suggest that non-dopaminergic approach are also needed to alleviate these motor symptoms.

Adenosine is ubiquitously found neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS) and plays a significant role in the neuromodulation, maintaining normal physiological homeostasis and influencing pathological condition.^{26,27} Adenosine can exhibit both excitatory and inhibitory neuromodulatory function via its four GPCR receptors i.e., A1, A2A, A2B and A3 adenosine receptors. For example, our lab demonstrated significant inhibitory action of adenosine on dopamine release via A1 receptors in caudate region.²⁸ Studies also show that A1 and A2A adenosine receptors dimerizes with other GPCR receptors, such as dopamine, glutamate and GABAergic receptors at the synapse. This dimerization is essential characteristics for crosstalk between different pathways in motor control brain regions.^{29,30} A2A receptor are highly expressed in the caudate putamen, nucleus accumben and globus pallidus in rodent as well as human brains.^{31,32} In the striatum, a crucial region for behavior control, A2A-D2 direct receptor-receptor interactions coupled with A2A-D1 indirect receptor interactions balances possible outcomes of adenosine receptor activation on PD and mediate motor behavior.²⁹ Similarly, A1-A2A adenosine receptors were also located in the striatal glutamatergic neuron terminals and are regulated through local adenosine concentration.³³ The use of A2A antagonist drug, istradefylline, in the PD treatment further indicates that PD is not only related with dopamine depletion but also involves other neurotransmitters, such as adenosine.

While most research has focused on adenosine and dopamine interaction, there are relatively few studies investigating adenosine, dopamine and glutamate interaction in real-time at different stages of PD. The striatum contains the highest densities of glutamate receptors that tightly control excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate level along with A2A receptors.^{34,35} The

Shrestha | 120

multiplexing techniques I developed can be implemented to investigate the role of A2A receptors, and their influence on dopamine and glutamate dynamics in PD models. Our lab combined FSCV and fluorescence techniques and demonstrated simultaneous measurement of both electroactive and non-electroactive neurotransmitters in real-time. The 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) is commonly used neurotoxin to induce PD in mice by lesioning the nigrostriatal system.^{17–19} However, these models typically assess extensive dopaminergic lesions, which reflect late-stage PD. Consequently, there are relatively few studies addressing the initial stages of PD, where early interventions would be most effective.

The purpose of this study would be to use different doses of 6-OHDA into the substantia nigra (SN) of C57BL/6J mice to mimic the early stages of PD and investigate the neuroprotective role of adenosine receptors on dopamine and glutamate neurotransmission.^{17,36} Partial lesions of SN will likely mimic the early stages of PD.³⁶ First, iGluSnFR3 would be injected into the striatum using 1000 nL of AAV virus. Two weeks later, iGluSnFR3-injected mice would receive different doses (0.5 µg, 1 µg and 2 µg dissolved in 0.02% ascorbic acid) of 6-OHDA, alongside a control injection (0.02% ascorbic acid) in the SN using stereotaxic technique.^{19,36} 6-OHDA exerts degenerative activity through reactive oxygen species (ROS) and activates astrocytes and microglia.^{18,35}

Injected neurotoxins rapidly induce dopaminergic neurons degeneration as early as 24 hours post-surgery, leading to an 80% loss of dopaminergic neurons within 3–4 days and a complete degeneration within three weeks. This study would also evaluate nigral tyrosine hydrolase (TH)+ cell loss and striatal TH+ fiber loss corresponding to different 6-OHDA doses.^{17,19,36} Additionally, transgenic mice (A1KO/A2AKO) and adenosine receptor drugs, such as A2A agonist/antagonist will provide valuable insight into adenosine receptor's role on dopamine and glutamate signaling during PD.

One week after the 6-OHDA injection, brain slices would be prepared from these PD model mice and investigate electrically stimulated dopamine and glutamate interaction in the striatum using multiplexing tools. CFMEs inserted into the tissue would record electrically stimulated dopamine while fluorescence microscopy collects fluorescence change from iGluSnFR3 simultaneously. Using A2AKO mice, this study would explore how A2A receptors influence dopamine and glutamate neurotransmission. Pharmacological intervention drugs, such as A2A agonist/antagonist as well as adenosine (10 μ M) perfusion, would give us an insight on adenosine receptors role in neuromodulation during PD condition.

We hypothesize that adenosine A2A receptors directly regulate dopamine and glutamate neurotransmission in the striatum during PD. This knowledge will deepen our understanding of the early phases of PD and could contribute to the development of adenosine-based drug treatment aimed at alleviating PD associated symptomatic conditions.

5.4 Final Conclusions

In conclusion, this dissertation explores the innovative combination of fast scan cyclic voltammetry (FSCV) and fluorescence imaging techniques to simultaneously monitor both electroactive and non-electroactive analytes in real time. Exogenous adenosine was found to transiently inhibit serotonergic neurons via 5HT1A receptors, and not through A1 receptors. The inhibitory effects of adenosine on other neurotransmitters, such as dopamine and glutamate, were also investigated. Notably, adenosine inhibited glutamate release within a 250 µm range, and this inhibition was globally blocked through perfusion with A1 antagonist drugs. Thus, a major finding is that adenosine often has inhibitory actions through A1 receptors, as it does for dopamine and glutamate, but not always, as in the case of serotonin.

Furthermore, multiplexing techniques were employed to study the effects of oxygenglucose deprivation (OGD) and reperfusion on dopamine and glutamate release. Various pharmacological tests provided insights into the neuroprotective roles of adenosine. Activation of A1 receptors demonstrated a neuroprotective effect against OGD and reperfusion by inhibiting glutamate release, thus mitigating excitotoxicity.

Looking ahead, these multiplexing techniques hold promise for studying the roles of neurotransmitters and receptors in pathological conditions such as Parkinson's disease and epilepsy. By facilitating the understanding of complex neurotransmitter interactions in disease states, this approach may pave the way for the development of novel therapeutic strategies.

5.5 References

- (1) Sun, F.; Zeng, J.; Jing, M.; Zhou, J.; Feng, J.; Owen, S. F.; Luo, Y.; Li, F.; Wang, H.; Yamaguchi, T.; Yong, Z.; Gao, Y.; Peng, W.; Wang, L.; Zhang, S.; Du, J.; Lin, D.; Xu, M.; Kreitzer, A. C.; Cui, G.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensor Enables Rapid and Specific Detection of Dopamine in Flies, Fish, and Mice. *Cell* **2018**, *174* (2), 481–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.06.042.
- (2) Kubitschke, M.; Müller, M.; Wallhorn, L.; Pulin, M.; Mittag, M.; Pollok, S.; Ziebarth, T.; Bremshey, S.; Gerdey, J.; Claussen, K. C.; Renken, K.; Groß, J.; Gneiße, P.; Meyer, N.; Wiegert, J. S.; Reiner, A.; Fuhrmann, M.; Masseck, O. A. Next Generation Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensors for Serotonin. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13* (1), 7525. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35200-w.
- (3) Day-Cooney, J.; Dalangin, R.; Zhong, H.; Mao, T. Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensors for Imaging Neuronal Dynamics in Vivo. *J. Neurochem.* **2023**, *164* (3), 284–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.15608.
- (4) Feng, J.; Zhang, C.; Lischinsky, J. E.; Jing, M.; Zhou, J.; Wang, H.; Zhang, Y.; Dong, A.; Wu, Z.; Wu, H.; Chen, W.; Zhang, P.; Zou, J.; Hires, S. A.; Zhu, J. J.; Cui, G.; Lin, D.; Du, J.; Li, Y. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensor for Rapid and Specific In Vivo Detection of Norepinephrine. *Neuron* **2019**, *102* (4), 745–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.037.
- (5) Venton, B. J.; Cao, Q. Fundamentals of Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry for Dopamine Detection. *Analyst* **2020**, *145*, 1158–1168. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN01586H.
- (6) Cao, Q.; Puthongkham, P.; Venton, B. J. Review: New Insights into Optimizing Chemical and 3D Surface Structures of Carbon Electrodes for Neurotransmitter Detection. *Anal. Methods* 2019, *11* (3), 247–261. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8ay02472c.
- (7) Aggarwal, A.; Liu, R.; Chen, Y.; Ralowicz, A. J.; Bergerson, S. J.; Tomaska, F.; Mohar, B.; Hanson, T. L.; Hasseman, J. P.; Reep, D.; Tsegaye, G.; Yao, P.; Ji, X.; Kloos, M.; Walpita, D.; Patel, R.; Mohr, M. A.; Tillberg, P. W.; Looger, L. L.; Marvin, J. S.; Hoppa, M. B.; Konnerth, A.; Kleinfeld, D.; Schreiter, E. R.; Podgorski, K. Glutamate Indicators with Improved Activation Kinetics and Localization for Imaging Synaptic Transmission. *Nat. Methods* **2023**, *20* (6), 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-023-01863-6.
- (8) Marvin, J. S.; Shimoda, Y.; Magloire, V.; Leite, M.; Kawashima, T.; Jensen, T. P.; Kolb, I.; Knott, E. L.; Novak, O.; Podgorski, K.; Leidenheimer, N. J.; Rusakov, D. A.; Ahrens, M. B.; Kullmann, D. M.; Looger, L. L. A Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Sensor for in Vivo Imaging of GABA. *Nat. Methods* **2019**, *16* (8), 763–770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0471-2.
- Borman, R. P.; Wang, Y.; Nguyen, M. D.; Ganesana, M.; Lee, S. T.; Venton, B. J. Automated Algorithm for Detection of Transient Adenosine Release. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2017, 8 (2), 386–393. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.6b00262.
- (10) Borgus, J. R.; Puthongkham, P.; Venton, B. J. Complex Sex and Estrous Cycle Differences in Spontaneous Transient Adenosine. *J. Neurochem.* **2020**, *153* (2), 216–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.14981.
- (11) Meder, D.; Herz, D. M.; Rowe, J. B.; Lehéricy, S.; Siebner, H. R. The Role of Dopamine in the Brain - Lessons Learned from Parkinson's Disease. *NeuroImage* 2019, 190, 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.11.021.
- (12) Jenner, P.; Mori, A.; Aradi, S. D.; Hauser, R. A. Istradefylline a First Generation Adenosine A2A Antagonist for the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* **2021**, *21* (3), 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737175.2021.1880896.
- (13) Dorsey, E. R.; Elbaz, A.; Nichols, E.; Abbasi, N.; Abd-Allah, F.; Abdelalim, A.; Adsuar, J. C.; Ansha, M. G.; Brayne, C.; Choi, J.-Y. J.; Collado-Mateo, D.; Dahodwala, N.; Do, H. P.; Edessa, D.; Endres, M.; Fereshtehnejad, S.-M.; Foreman, K. J.; Gankpe, F. G.; Gupta, R.;

Hamidi, S.; Hankey, G. J.; Hay, S. I.; Hegazy, M. I.; Hibstu, D. T.; Kasaeian, A.; Khader, Y.; Khalil, I.; Khang, Y.-H.; Kim, Y. J.; Kokubo, Y.; Logroscino, G.; Massano, J.; Ibrahim, N. M.; Mohammed, M. A.; Mohammadi, A.; Moradi-Lakeh, M.; Naghavi, M.; Nguyen, B. T.; Nirayo, Y. L.; Ogbo, F. A.; Owolabi, M. O.; Pereira, D. M.; Postma, M. J.; Qorbani, M.; Rahman, M. A.; Roba, K. T.; Safari, H.; Safiri, S.; Satpathy, M.; Sawhney, M.; Shafieesabet, A.; Shiferaw, M. S.; Smith, M.; Szoeke, C. E. I.; Tabarés-Seisdedos, R.; Truong, N. T.; Ukwaja, K. N.; Venketasubramanian, N.; Villafaina, S.; Weldegwergs, K. gidey; Westerman, R.; Wijeratne, T.; Winkler, A. S.; Xuan, B. T.; Yonemoto, N.; Feigin, V. L.; Vos, T.; Murray, C. J. L. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Parkinson's Disease, 1990–2016: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* **2018**, *17* (11), 939–953. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30295-3.

- (14) Bellucci, A.; Bubacco, L.; Longhena, F.; Parrella, E.; Faustini, G.; Porrini, V.; Bono, F.; Missale, C.; Pizzi, M. Nuclear Factor-κB Dysregulation and α-Synuclein Pathology: Critical Interplay in the Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* **2020**, *12*, 68.
- (15) Kachroo, A.; Schwarzschild, M. A. Adenosine A2A Receptor Gene Disruption Protects in an α- Synuclein Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Ann. Neurol.* **2012**, *100* (2), 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2011.02.012.Investigations.
- (16) Dovonou, A.; Bolduc, C.; Soto Linan, V.; Gora, C.; Peralta III, M. R.; Lévesque, M. Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease: Bridging the Gap between Disease Hallmarks and Research Questions. *Transl. Neurodegener.* **2023**, *12* (1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40035-023-00368-8.
- (17) Bagga, V.; Dunnett, S. B.; Fricker, R. A. The 6-OHDA Mouse Model of Parkinson's Disease – Terminal Striatal Lesions Provide a Superior Measure of Neuronal Loss and Replacement than Median Forebrain Bundle Lesions. *Behav. Brain Res.* 2015, 288, 107– 117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.03.058.
- (18) Bové, J.; Serrats, J.; Mengod, G.; Cortés, R.; Tolosa, E.; Marin, C. Neuroprotection Induced by the Adenosine A2A Antagonist CSC in the 6-OHDA Rat Model of Parkinsonism: Effect on the Activity of Striatal Output Pathways. *Exp. Brain Res.* 2005, *165* (3), 362–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2302-1.
- (19) Slézia, A.; Hegedüs, P.; Rusina, E.; Lengyel, K.; Solari, N.; Kaszas, A.; Balázsfi, D.; Botzanowski, B.; Acerbo, E.; Missey, F.; Williamson, A.; Hangya, B. Behavioral, Neural and Ultrastructural Alterations in a Graded-Dose 6-OHDA Mouse Model of Early-Stage Parkinson's Disease. *Sci. Rep.* **2023**, *13* (1), 19478. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-46576-0.
- (20) Cui, J.; Zhao, D.; Xu, M.; Li, Z.; Qian, J.; Song, N.; Wang, J.; Xie, J. Characterization of Graded 6-Hydroxydopamine Unilateral Lesion in Medial Forebrain Bundle of Mice. *Sci. Rep.* 2024, 14 (1), 3721. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-54066-0.
- (21) Carta, M.; Carlsson, T.; Muñoz, A.; Kirik, D.; Björklund, A. Role of Serotonin Neurons in the Induction of Levodopa- and Graft-Induced Dyskinesias in Parkinson's Disease. *Mov. Disord.* 2010, 25, S174–S179. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22792.
- (22) Ferré, S.; Navarro, G.; Bonaventura, J.; Moreno, E.; Volkow, N. D.; Lluís, C.; Casadó, V. Allosteric Mechanisms in the Adenosine A2A-Dopamine D2 Receptor Heteromer. In *The Adenosinergic System: A Non-Dopaminergic Target in Parkinson's Disease*; 2015; pp 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20273-0_2.
- (23) Fuxe, K.; Marcellino, D.; Genedani, S.; Agnati, L. Adenosine A(2A) Receptors, Dopamine D(2) Receptors and Their Interactions in Parkinson's Disease. *Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc.* 2007, 22 (14), 1990–2017. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21440.
- (24) Alharbi, B.; Al-kuraishy, H. M.; Al-Gareeb, A. I.; Elekhnawy, E.; Alharbi, H.; Alexiou, A.; Papadakis, M.; Batiha, G. E.-S. Role of GABA Pathway in Motor and Non-Motor Symptoms in Parkinson's Disease: A Bidirectional Circuit. *Eur. J. Med. Res.* **2024**, *29* (1), 205. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40001-024-01779-7.

- (25) Blandini, F.; Porter, R. H.; Greenamyre, J. T. Glutamate and Parkinson's Disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **1996**, *12* (1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02740748.
- (26) Adamah-Biassi, E. B.; Almonte, A. G.; Blagovechtchenski, E.; Grinevich, V. P.; Weiner, J. L.; Bonin, K. D.; Budygin, E. A. Real Time Adenosine Fluctuations Detected with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry in the Rat Striatum and Motor Cortex. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2015**, *256*, 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.08.017.
- (27) Andrea, P.; Katia, B.; Gessi, S.; Merighi, S. *The Adenosine Receptors*; 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90808-3.
- (28) Ross, A. E.; Venton, B. J. Adenosine Transiently Modulates Stimulated Dopamine Release in the Caudate-Putamen via A1 Receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **2015**, *132* (1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12946.
- (29) Ferre, S.; Quiroz, C.; Woods, A.; Cunha, R.; Popoli, P.; Ciruela, F.; Lluis, C.; Franco, R.; Azdad, K.; Schiffmann, S. An Update on Adenosine A2A-Dopamine D2 Receptor Interactions: Implications for the Function of G Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2008**, *14* (15), 1468–1474. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161208784480108.
- (30) Franco, R.; Ferré, S.; Agnati, L.; Torvinen, M.; Ginés, S.; Hillion, J.; Casadó, V.; Lledó, P.-M.; Zoli, M.; Lluis, C.; Fuxe, K. Evidence for Adenosine / Dopamine Receptor Interactions : Indications for Heteromerization. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **2000**, *23* (54), S50–S59.
- (31) Lopes, L. V.; Cunha, R. A.; Kull, B.; Fredholm, B. B.; Ribeiro, J. A. Adenosine A2A Receptor Facilitation of Hippocampal Synaptic Transmission Is Dependent on Tonic A1 Receptor Inhibition. *Neuroscience* 2002, *112* (2), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00080-5.
- (32) Chen, J.-F.; Eltzschig, H. K.; Fredholm, B. B. Adenosine Receptors as Drug Targets What Are the Challenges? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2013**, *12* (4), 265–286. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3955.
- (33) Ferré, S.; Sarasola, L. I.; Quiroz, C.; Ciruela, F. Presynaptic Adenosine Receptor Heteromers as Key Modulators of Glutamatergic and Dopaminergic Neurotransmission in the Striatum. *Neuropharmacology* **2023**, *223*, 109329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2022.109329.
- (34) Hettinger, B. D.; Lee, A.; Linden, J.; Rosin, D. L. Ultrastructural Localization of Adenosine A2A Receptors Suggests Multiple Cellular Sites for Modulation of GABAergic Neurons in Rat Striatum. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **2001**, *431* (3), 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9861(20010312)431:3<331::AID-CNE1074>3.0.CO;2-W.
- (35) Pinna, A.; Bonaventura, J.; Farré, D.; Sánchez, M.; Simola, N.; Mallol, J.; Lluís, C.; Costa, G.; Baqi, Y.; Müller, C. E.; Cortés, A.; McCormick, P.; Canela, E. I.; Martínez-Pinilla, E.; Lanciego, J. L.; Casadó, V.; Armentero, M. T.; Franco, R. L-DOPA Disrupts Adenosine A2A-Cannabinoid CB1-Dopamine D2 Receptor Heteromer Cross-Talk in the Striatum of Hemiparkinsonian Rats: Biochemical and Behavioral Studies. *Exp. Neurol.* **2014**, *253*, 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.12.021.
- (36) Boix, J.; Padel, T.; Paul, G. A Partial Lesion Model of Parkinson's Disease in Mice Characterization of a 6-OHDA-Induced Medial Forebrain Bundle Lesion. *Behav. Brain Res.* 2015, 284, 196–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.01.053.